Project: South Battery Park City Resiliency Project: Wagner Park Pavilion Construction Services Request for Proposals ("RFP")

Date: May 6, 2022

 RE: Addendum #12

 # of Pages:
 141

The following revisions/additions are hereby made to Sections 3.5 and Exhibits H and I of the RFP:

- A) Revisions to Proposal Due Date: The deadline for prospective Proposers to submit Proposals is hereby changed from May 16, 2022 at 1 p.m. to May 20, 2022 at 5 p.m.
- B) The following documents listed below and attached hereto, respectively, as Attachments #1 and #2, are hereby formally incorporated into Exhibit H and Exhibit I, respectively, of the RFP:
 - Exhibit H Standard Form of Contract, Attachment #1
 - <u>Exhibit I</u> Project Labor Agreement (PLA), Attachment #2: Note that the version of the PLA incorporated into this Addendum #12 is in draft form and has not yet been executed by the parties, as a small number of issues remain to be negotiated as between Battery Park City Authority and the Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New York. However, these remaining issues are not expected to materially impact the delivery of the Work, and Proposers may rely on this document for the purpose of formulating their Technical and Cost Proposals.

By signing the line below, I am acknowledging that all pages of this Addendum #12 have been received, reviewed and understood, and will be incorporated into the Proposal submitted. This document must be attached to the Proposal for consideration.

Print Name (Above)

Signature (Above)

Date (Above)

Number of pages received: <fill in>

Distributed to: All prospective Proposers

<u>ATTACHMENT #1</u> EXHIBIT H – STANDARD FORM OF CONTRACT

(ATTACHED)

CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT

between

HUGH L. CAREY BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY

and

[INSERT FIRM NAME]

Dated as of _____

Contract No. 22-XXXX

SOUTH BATTERY PARK CITY RESILIENCY PROJECT: WAGNER PARK PAVILION CONSTRUCTION SERVICES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICL	E 1 - DEFINITIONS	1
ARTICL	E 2 - SCOPE OF WORK, MATERIALS AND LABOR	4
2.1	DEFINITION OF WORK	4
2.2	Contract Documents	4
2.3	INTENT OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	4
2.4	Completion of Drawings and Specifications	6
2.5	TITLE TO MATERIALS	6
2.6	Contractor's Obligations	6
2.7	"OR EQUAL" CLAUSE	8
2.8	QUALITY AND LABELING	9
ARTICL	E 3 - COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE WORK	9
3.1	COMMENCEMENT, COMPLETION AND PROGRESS SCHEDULE	9
3.2	COORDINATION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS	11
3.3	NOTICE OF DELAY	12
3.4	Extension of Time	12
ARTICL	E 4 - CONTRACT PRICE	14
ARTICL	E 5 - METHOD, SCHEDULE AND TERMS OF PAYMENTS	15
5.1	PARTIAL PAYMENT	15
5.2	REQUISITIONS	15
5.3	TRADE PAYMENT BREAKDOWN	16
5.4	PAYMENT FOR STORED MATERIALS	16
5.5	RECEIPTS AND RELEASES OF LIENS	16
5.6	TIME OF PAYMENT	17
5.7	REDUCTION OF RETAINAGE	17
5.8	FINAL PAYMENT	17
5.9	Release and Consent of Surety	18
5.10	BPCA's Right to Audit and Inspect Records	18
5.11	WITHHOLDING OF PAYMENTS	18
ARTICL	E 6 – CONTRACTOR	19
6.1	Superintendence by Contractor, Discipline and Employee Skills	19
6.2	Representations and Warranties	19

6.3	Verifying Dimensions and Site Conditions	. 20
6.4	COPIES OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS FOR CONTRACTOR	. 20
6.5	MEETINGS	. 20
6.6	Related Work	. 20
6.7	SURVEYS AND LAYOUT	. 20
6.8	Reports and Access	. 20
6.9	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	. 21
ARTICLE 7 - CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION		. 21
7.1	Engineer's Responsibilities and Functions	. 21
7.2	CONSTRUCTION MANAGER'S RESPONSIBILITIES AND FUNCTIONS	. 21
7.3	Scope of Responsibility of Engineer and Construction Manager	. 21
ARTICI	E 8 - INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE	. 22
8.1	Access to the Work	. 22
8.2	Notice of Required Inspections and Tests	. 22
8. <i>3</i>	Additional Inspections and Tests	. 22
8.4	UNCOVERING OF WORK	. 22
8.5	Correction of Work	. 23
8.6	Certificate of Substantial Completion	. 23
8.7	Completion of Work and Acceptance	. 23
ARTICI	E 9 - CHANGES IN THE WORK	. 23
9.1	CHANGE ORDERS	. 23
9.2	CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE AND TIME	. 24
9.3	Field Orders	. 25
9.4	CHANGED CONDITIONS	. 26
ARTICI	LE 10 - SUBCONTRACTS AND PURCHASE ORDERS	. 26
10.1	Selection of Subcontractors and Materialmen and Approval Subcontracts and Purchase Orders	<i>OF</i> . 26
10.2	Access by BPCA and Others	. 27
10.3	Retainage	. 27
10.4	Miscellaneous	. 27
ARTICI	LE 11 - ASSIGNMENT	. 28
11.1	NO ASSIGNMENT OF DUTIES	. 28
11.2	No Assignment of Monies	. 28

11.3	Assignment by BPCA	29
ARTICLE 12 - MECHANICS' LIENS AND CLAIMS		
ARTICI	E 13 – INSURANCE AND CONTRACT SECURITY	29
13.1	INSURANCE	29
13.2	EFFECT OF PROCUREMENT OF INSURANCE	31
13.3	Contract Security	31
13.4	Additional or Substitute Bond	32
ARTICI	E 14 - CLAIMS FOR EXTRA WORK	32
ARTICI	E 15 - TERMINATION	33
15.1	TERMINATION FOR CAUSE	33
15.2	TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE OF BPCA	35
15.3	Suspension of Work	36
ARTICI	E 16 - COMPOSITE DRAWINGS AND COOPERATION	36
ARTICL	E 17 - PROTECTION OF RIGHTS, PERSONS AND PROPERTY	36
17.1	Accident Prevention	37
17.2	SAFETY PROGRAMS	37
17.3	PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY	37
17.4	Adjoining Property	37
17.5	RISKS ASSUMED BY CONTRACTOR	37
ARTICI	E 18 - USE PRIOR TO ACCEPTANCE BY BPCA	39
ARTICI	E 19 - EXEMPTION FROM SALES AND COMPENSATING USE TAXES	39
19.1	ВРСА Ехемрт	39
19.2	Certificates	39
ARTICL	E 20 - WARRANTIES AND GUARANTIES	39
20.1	IN GENERAL	39
20.2	Additional Guaranties	40
20.3	Repair by Another	40
ARTICL	E 21 - INDEMNITY	40
21.1	Delay or Failure	40
21.2	INVENTIONS	41
21.3	Liability	41
ARTICLE 22 - PATENTS AND ROYALTIES		
ARTICLE 23 - AS-BUILT DRAWINGS		

ARTICL	E 24 - SHOP DRAWINGS AND SAMPLES	43
24.1	Contractor Submittal	43
24.2	Contractor's Responsibility	43
ARTICL	E 25 – NOTICES	43
ARTICL	E 26 – EMPLOYMENT AND DIVERSITY	44
26.1	PARTICIPATION BY MINORITY AND WOMEN-OWNED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES	44
26.2	PARTICIPATION BY SERVICE-DISABLED VETERAN-OWNED BUSINESSES	49
ARTICL	E 27 - STANDARD PROVISIONS	52
27.1	PROVISION REQUIRED BY LAW DEEMED INSERTED	52
27.2	Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations	52
27.3	Applicable Law, Forum and Jurisdiction	52
27.4	No Third Party Rights	52
27.5	EXCULPATION; LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	52
27.6	PROTECTION OF LIVES AND HEALTH	53
27.7	WAIVER OF IMMUNITY CLAUSE	53
27.8	Prohibited Interests	54
27.9	LABOR PROVISIONS	54
27.10	DISPUTES RESOLUTION PROCEDURE	56
27.11	Additional Provisions Relating to the Prosecution of Claims for M Damages	
27.12	LIMITATION ON ACTIONS	58
27.13	WAIVER OF REMEDIES	58
27.14	MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT	58
27.15	SIGNS AND PARKING	59
27.16	Entire Agreement	59
27.17	RIGHTS AND REMEDIES	59
27.18	PARTICIPATION IN INTERNATIONAL BOYCOTT PROHIBITED	59
27.19	Compliance with "Buy-American" Statutes	59
27.20	Permitted Successors	59
27.21	MACBRIDE FAIR EMPLOYMENT PRINCIPLES	59
27.22	IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT	60
27.23	TERMINATION FOR FAILURE TO DISCLOSE UNDER STATE FINANCE LAW §139K	60
27.24	LABOR PEACE	60

27.25	COMPTROLLER'S APPROVAL
27.26	Key Person/Personnel
27.27	Form of Agreement Not an Offer
27.28	GENERAL RESPONSIBILITY

EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT A:	SCOPE OF WORK
EXHIBIT B-1:	SCHEDULE OF VALUES
EXHIBIT B-2:	LABOR RATES
EXHIBIT C:	DRAWINGS & SPECIFICATIONS
EXHIBIT D:	EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY POLICY STATEMENT
EXHIBIT E:	INCIDENT REPORT FORM
EXHIBIT F	PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT

CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT

This AGREEMENT is made as of ______ by and between BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY, d/b/a HUGH L. CAREY BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY, ("**BPCA**"), a body corporate and politic, constituting a public benefit corporation and having a place of business at 200 Liberty Street, 24th Floor, New York, New York 10281, and *[INSERT FIRM NAME]* formed under the laws of the State of *[INSERT STATE]*, having an office at *[INSERT ADDRESS]* ("Contractor").

$\underline{W} \underline{I} \underline{T} \underline{N} \underline{E} \underline{S} \underline{S} \underline{E} \underline{T} \underline{H}$:

WHEREAS, BPCA has fee title to certain real property located in the City, County and State of New York, generally consisting of approximately 92 acres of land located on the west side of lower Manhattan, bounded by Pier A to the South, the westerly extension of Reade Street to the North, the United States Bulkhead Line to the East and the United States Pierhead Line to the West (collectively, "**Battery Park City**"); and

WHEREAS, BPCA has caused the staged development of Battery Park City, in individual parcels, creating a richly diversified mixed use community providing residential and commercial space, with related amenities such as parks, plazas, recreational areas and a waterfront esplanade; and

WHEREAS, BPCA intends to hire a contractor to perform construction services, consisting of the Work, as hereinafter defined, as part of BPCA's South Battery Park City Resiliency Project (the "**Project**"), located in and adjacent to the locations identified in the drawings (see <u>Exhibit C</u>), in Battery Park City, the Borough of Manhattan, County, City and State of New York (the "**Site**"); and

WHEREAS, Contractor has been selected to perform the Work, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter provided; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, Contractor and BPCA hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS

The following terms, wherever used in the Contract Documents, as defined herein, shall have the meanings set forth below or in the Section enumerated below next to each term:

- (a) Agreement as defined in Section 2.2(a).
- (b) Agreement Termination Date as defined in Section 3.1(a).
- (b-1) Allowance- as defined in Article 4.
- (c) Architect N/A.
- (d) Artist N/A.

- (e) Beneficial Use Certification- as defined in Section X.X.
- (e-1) BPCA as defined in the introductory clause of this Agreement. BPCA hereby designates [INSERT REPRESENTATIVE], as the representative of BPCA for the purpose of acting on behalf of BPCA whenever action is required to be taken hereunder by BPCA. Such designation may be revoked in writing at any time after notice given by BPCA to Contractor. In addition, such representative of BPCA shall have full power and authority to delegate in writing any or all of her responsibilities hereunder to any one or more persons after notice to Contractor.
- (f) Certificate of Substantial Completion as defined in Section 8.6.
- (g) Change Order as defined in Section 9.1(b).
- (h) Construction Manager LiRo Program and Construction Management, PE P.C.; 3 Aerial Way Syosset, New York 11791.
- (i) Contract Documents as defined in Section 2.2. The term "Contract" is also used to refer to the unified set of documents comprising the Contract Documents.
- (j) Contract Price as defined in Article 4.
- (k) Contract Time the duration of time during which Construction Manager schedules and coordinates the Work of Contractor pursuant to Section 7.2 hereof.
- (l) Contractor as defined in the first Recital of this Agreement.
- (m) Drawings Project drawings comprising part of <u>Exhibit C</u>.
- (n) Engineer AECOM USA, Inc.; 605 Third Avenue New York, New York 10158.
- (o) Extra Work any work in addition to the Work to be performed by Contractor pursuant to the Contract Documents.
- (p) Field Order as defined in Section 9.3.
- (q) Final Acceptance as defined in Section 8.7.
- (r) Final Requisition as defined in Section 5.2.
- (r-1) Force Majeure- as defined in Section 3.4.
- (s) Guarantor as defined in Section 27.3.
- (t) Joint Venture an entity created pursuant to a written agreement among two or more contractors pursuant to which each shares in the direction and performance of the Work and shares in a stated percentage of profits or losses.
- (u) Key Person/Personnel as defined in Section 27.25.

- (v) Materialman supplier of Materials.
- (w) Materials all products, materials, fixtures, tools, equipment, apparatus, and furnishings intended to form a part of the Work.
- (x) Minority Business Enterprise or Minority Owned Business Enterprise or MBE as defined in Article 26.
- (y) Minority or Minority Group Member as defined in Article 26.
- (z) Notice to Proceed a written directive from BPCA to Contractor signed by a duly authorized BPCA representative directing Contractor to begin performance of the Work set forth in this Agreement on a particular date.
- (aa) Payment Bond as defined in Section 13.3.
- (bb) Performance Bond as defined in Section 13.3.
- (cc) Preceding Covered Date as defined in Section 5.5.
- (dd) Product Data illustrations, standard schedules, performance charts, instructions, brochures, diagrams and other information furnished by Contractor to illustrate a Material, product or system for some portion of the Work.
- (ee) Progress Schedule for the Work as defined in Section 3.1(a).
- (ff) Project as defined in the third Recital of this Agreement.
- (gg) Purchase Order as defined in Section 10.1(e).
- (hh) Requisitions as defined in Section 5.2.
- (ii) Samples physical examples which illustrate Materials or workmanship and establish standards by which the Work will be judged.
- (jj) Site as defined in the third Recital of this Agreement.
- (kk) Specifications the specifications comprising part of <u>Exhibit C</u>.
- (ll) Subcontract an agreement between the Contractor and a Subcontractor (as defined in subsection (mm) below) for work on the Site.
- (mm) Subcontractor a person, firm, partnership or corporation under contract with Contractor.
- (nn) Term as defined in Section 3.1(a).
- (oo) Trade Payment Breakdown as defined in Section 5.3.

- (pp) Women's Business Enterprise or Women Owned Business Enterprise or WBE as defined in Article 26.
- (qq) Work as defined in Section 2.1.
- (rr) Work Completion Date as defined in Section 3.1(a).
- (ss) Work Order as defined in Article 4.

ARTICLE 2 - SCOPE OF WORK, MATERIALS AND LABOR

2.1 Definition of Work

Contractor shall perform and complete (and shall cause all Subcontractors to perform and complete) for BPCA the work more particularly described in <u>Exhibit A</u> (the "**Work**") annexed hereto and made a part hereof, required by and in conformity with the Contract Documents in connection with the construction of the Project on the Site. All materials to be furnished and labor and work to be performed and completed by Contractor and/or Subcontractors as required in the Contract Documents and in conformity with all requirements applicable with respect thereto are herein collectively referred to as the "Work."

2.2 Contract Documents

The "Contract Documents" shall consist of the following:

(a) This instrument (the "**Agreement**"), which includes, in addition to the text comprising Articles 1 through 27, the following:

- (1) EXHIBIT A: SCOPE OF WORK
- (2) EXHIBIT B-1: SCHEDULE OF VALUES
- (3) EXHIBIT B-2: LABOR RATES
- (3) EXHIBIT C: DRAWINGS & SPECIFICATIONS
- (4) EXHIBIT E: EEO POLICY STATEMENT
- (5) EXHIBIT F: INCIDENT REPORT FORM
- (6) EXHIBIT G: PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT
- (b) The Payment and Performance Bonds (as defined in Section 13.3).
- (c) Change Orders adopted pursuant to Article 9 and Work Orders adopted pursuant to Article 4.

The Contract Documents form the contract between BPCA and Contractor. References in the Contract Documents to "the Contract", "this Contract" or "the Construction Contract" shall be deemed to include all of the Contract Documents. References to "this Agreement" or "the Agreement" shall refer to this instrument (including the Exhibits attached hereto), which is one of the Contract Documents.

2.3 Intent of Contract Documents

(a) The intent of the Contract Documents is to include in the Work all labor and materials, insurance, tools, equipment, permits, licenses, taxes, approvals, transportation, surveys, testing, field engineering and other professional services (other than the services of BPCA's Architect, Construction Manager, Engineers, and attorneys, and the inspection, survey and testing services of BPCA) and any other items required to execute and complete the Work satisfactorily and in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall perform and complete the Work in accordance with the true intent and meaning of the Contract Documents and shall perform all Work incident thereto or as is usually performed in connection therewith or as is reasonably inferable therefrom, it being the intention that all work usually performed by the trade covered by this Agreement and necessary to produce the intended result be performed by Contractor whether or not specifically covered by the Contract Documents.

(b) The Contract Documents are complementary and what is called for by one shall be as binding as if called for by all.

(c) If any conflicts or ambiguities are found in or between the Drawings and Specifications, or among any of the Contract Documents, they shall be brought to the attention of Construction Manager immediately for resolution. Engineer and Construction Manager will interpret the Contract Documents so as to secure in all cases the most substantial and complete performance of the Work as is most consistent with the needs and requirements of the Work. In the event that Engineer and Construction Manager disagree as to the interpretation of the Contract Documents, such dispute shall be presented to BPCA, which shall have sole authority to resolve the dispute.

(d) Addenda to parts of the Contract Documents are for the purpose of varying, modifying, rescinding or adding to the affected portion of the Contract Documents. All addenda should be read together with the portions of the Contract Documents to which they pertain. Where an addendum modifies a portion of a paragraph or a Section, the remainder of the paragraph or Section shall remain in force unless otherwise stated in the addendum.

(e) Captions, headings, cover pages, tables of contents and footnote instructions contained in the Contract Documents are inserted only to facilitate reference and for convenience and in no way define, limit or describe the scope, intent or meaning of any provision of the Agreement.

(f) Words and abbreviations which have well-known technical or trade meanings are used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meanings.

(g) Drawings and Specifications are complementary. Anything shown in the Drawings and not mentioned in the Specifications, or mentioned in the Specifications and not shown in the Drawings, shall have the same effect as if shown or mentioned in both.

(h) A typical or representative detail indicated on the Drawings shall constitute the standard for workmanship and Materials throughout corresponding parts of the Work. Where necessary, and where reasonably inferable from the Drawings or Specifications, Contractor shall adapt such representative detail for application to such corresponding parts of the Work. The details of such adaptation shall be subject to prior approval by Engineer. Repetitive features shown

in outline on the Drawings shall be in exact accordance with corresponding features completely shown.

(i) The layout of mechanical and electrical systems, equipment, fixtures, piping, ductwork, conduit, specialty items, and accessories indicated on the Drawings is diagrammatic, and all variations in alignment, elevation, and detail required to avoid interferences and satisfy architectural and structural limitations are not necessarily shown. Actual layout of the Work shall be carried out without affecting the architectural and structural integrity and limitations of the Work and shall be performed in such sequence and manner as to avoid conflicts, provide clear access to all control points, including valves, strainers, control devices, and specialty items of every nature related to such systems and equipment, obtain maximum headroom, and provide adequate clearances as required for operation and maintenance.

2.4 Completion of Drawings and Specifications

Contractor acknowledges that there are items of work which are not drawn or specified with complete detail in the Drawings and Specifications but which are required for the completion of the Work. Any such item, when identified as part of the reasonable development of the Work, shall be drawn or specified by Engineer in consultation with Contractor, in a manner consistent with contemplated kind and quality and customary standards. When such drawing or specification is approved by BPCA, the drawing or specification so approved shall thereupon be part of the Contract Documents and the item of work shall be performed by Contractor as part of the Work without further action or order of Construction Manager or BPCA and without any increase in the Contract Price (as hereinafter defined) as if such drawing and/or specification were originally included in the Contract Documents.

2.5 *Title to Materials*

Title to all Materials shall immediately vest in BPCA upon payment in respect of such Materials, whether or not then incorporated or installed into the Project. The Materials shall then become the sole property of BPCA subject to the right of BPCA, Construction Manager or Engineer to reject same for failure to conform to the standards of any or all of the Contract Documents. Title to all Work and Materials shall be in BPCA, free and clear of all liens, claims, security interests or encumbrances. Contractor warrants that no Work or Materials shall be fabricated or delivered to the Site by Contractor or any Subcontractor or Materialman subject to any security interest, lien or similar encumbrance.

2.6 Contractor's Obligations

(a) Contractor shall in a good and workmanlike manner perform all the Work required by this Agreement in accordance with the best practice of Contractor's trade within the time specified herein. Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work using its best skill and attention. Contractor shall be solely responsible for all construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures within the scope of Contractor's Work.

(b) Contractor shall furnish, erect, maintain, and remove such construction plant and such temporary Work as may be required for the performance of the Work. Contractor shall be responsible for the safety, efficiency and adequacy of Contractor's plant, appliances and methods,

and for damage that may result from failure or improper construction, maintenance or operation of such plant, appliances and methods. Contractor shall comply with all terms of the Contract Documents, and shall do, carry on and complete the entire Work under the direction of and to the satisfaction of BPCA.

(c) Contractor shall provide all equipment, tools and materials and whatever else may be required for proper performance of the Work unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents.

(d) Contractor shall deliver all Materials at such times and in such quantities as will insure the speedy and uninterrupted progress of the Work. All Materials shall be delivered to the Site in proper order and quantity and shall be stored at the Site, if storage space is available in Construction Manager's opinion, in such places as Construction Manager shall direct; provided, that no delivery of Materials shall be made to the Site without prior approval by Construction Manager. Contractor has been advised and is aware that the Project is located in a congested urban area, and there may not be sufficient space to store Materials on Site. If storage space is unavailable on Site, Contractor shall make arrangements to store Materials off Site at Contractor's own cost. Contractor shall not be entitled to additional compensation for moving Materials from one storage area to another, whether such storage areas are on or off Site. No Materials shall be removed from the Site without the consent of Construction Manager. Contractor shall handle and take care of all Materials used in performance of the Work whether furnished by Contractor or BPCA, as the same are delivered to the Site or to any applicable offsite storage location and shall be solely responsible for the security and condition of the same. After final completion and acceptance of the Work, or sooner if requested by Construction Manager, Contractor shall remove all surplus Materials and scaffolding furnished by it which have not been incorporated in the Work.

(e) Contractor shall follow and perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents as interpreted by Engineer, Construction Manager, and BPCA.

(f) Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall secure and pay for all permits and governmental fees, licenses and inspections necessary for the proper execution and completion of the Work. Contractor shall give all notices and comply with all laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and lawful orders of any public authority bearing on the performance of the Work. If Contractor observes that any of the Contract Documents are at variance with any applicable laws in any respect, Contractor shall promptly notify Engineer and Construction Manager in writing, and any necessary changes shall be accomplished by appropriate modification. If Contractor performs any Work knowing it to be contrary to such laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, and without such notice to Engineer and Construction Manager, Contractor shall assume full responsibility therefor and shall bear all costs attributable thereto.

(g) Contractor shall be responsible for collecting all paper, cartons and other debris caused by its Work or personnel on a daily basis, placing the same in a location designated by Construction Manager and keeping the portion of the Site upon which Contractor is performing the Work free from all debris.

(h) Contractor shall attend meetings as directed by BPCA or Construction Manager.

(i) In work of this character it is impossible either to show all details in advance or to forecast all exigencies precisely. The Contract Documents are to be taken, therefore, as indicating the amount of work, its nature and the method of construction. In the event of any doubt as to the meaning of any portion of the Specifications or Drawings, or in the event a standard of workmanship or material is not specified, this Agreement shall be interpreted as requiring the Contractor to perform the work in the best and most workmanlike manner and to supply materials of the best class. The Contractor shall also perform the work with the highest regard to the safety of life and property and according to the lines, levels and directions given by the Construction Manager, and to the satisfaction of BPCA, as well as any provision set forth in the Specifications.

2.7 "Or Equal" Clause

(a) The Materials of manufacturers referred to in the Specifications and on the Drawings are intended to establish the standard of quality and design required by Engineer; however, Materials of manufacturers, other than those specified, may be used if equivalent and approved by Engineer, Construction Manager and BPCA.

(b) It is deemed that the term "or approved equal" is included after all Materials referred to in the Specifications or on the Drawings.

(c) Engineer will initially judge the equivalency of proposed substitute Materials. Engineer will make written recommendation of acceptance or rejection to Construction Manager and/or BPCA. Construction Manager and/or BPCA will then authorize Engineer to issue to Contractor written approval or rejection of the substitution.

(d) If Contractor desires to use a substitute item, Contractor shall make application to Engineer in writing in sufficient time (with regard to the progress of the Work, the period of delivery of the goods concerned and adequate time for Engineer's review) stating and fully identifying the proposed substitute, cost changes (if any), and submitting substantiating data, samples, brochures of the item proposed. It is Contractor's responsibility to provide at its sole expense sufficient evidence by tests or other means to support any request for approval of substitutions.

(e) Prior to proposing any substitute item, Contractor shall satisfy itself that the item Contractor proposes is, in fact, equal to that specified and had been used satisfactorily in similar applications to the application proposed for the Work, for at least three years, that it will fit into the space allocated and within the load allocated for the same, that it affords comparable ease of operations, maintenance and service, that its appearance, longevity and suitability for the climate and use are comparable to that specified, and that the substitution requires no change in dimension or design of any other Work of Contractor, of any other contractor or in the time required for the performance thereof.

(f) The burden of proof that a proposed substitution is equal to a specified item shall be upon Contractor, who shall support its request with sufficient test data and other means to permit Engineer to make a fair and equitable decision on the merits of the proposal. Any item by the manufacturer other than those cited in the Contract Documents, or of brand name or model number or of generic species other than those cited in the Contract Documents, will be considered a substitution.

(g) Acceptance of substitutions shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for compliance with all the requirements of the Contract Documents. If, notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (e) above, changes in other parts of the Work or the work of other contractors are required by its substitutions, Contractor shall be responsible for the costs of any such changes including the cost of all design and redesign services related thereto incurred by the Engineer and its Contractors.

(h) The Contract Time shall not be extended by any circumstances resulting from a proposed substitution, nor shall Contractor be entitled to any compensation for any delay caused thereby or related thereto.

2.8 Quality and Labeling

All Materials furnished shall be new and the quality thereof shall be in accordance with the Contract Documents. When Materials are specified to conform to a given standard, the Materials delivered to the Site shall bear manufacturer's labels stating that the Materials meet such standard. The above requirements shall not restrict or affect BPCA's right to test Materials as provided in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 3 - COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE WORK

3.1 Commencement, Completion and Progress Schedule

(a) Contractor shall prepare and submit a progress schedule for the Work ("**Progress Schedule for the Work**") and agrees to be bound by and comply with the Work Completion Date and the Progress Schedule for the Project (as the Progress Schedule for the Project shall be updated pursuant to subsection (b)) and , except as set forth in Section 3.5, waives any right to charge or claim damages or any increased cost, charges or expenses against BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer, for delays or disruptions from any cause whatsoever. Contractor's sole remedy as against BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer for any delays or disruptions shall be as provided in Section 3.4 hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Work shall be substantially completed by no later than **DATE** (the "**Work Completion Date**") with time being of the essence in respect of said Work Completion Date, as more fully set forth in subsection (h) below; this Agreement shall terminate by **[DATE]** (the "**Agreement Termination Date**") (the period between the date of commencement of the Work and the Agreement Termination Date, the "**Term**").

(b) The Progress Schedule for the Work shall be formatted in a detailed precedencestyle critical path method, or such other format satisfactory to BPCA and Construction Manager and shall also (a) provide a graphic representation of all activities and events including float values that will affect the critical path of the Work, (b) incorporate and coordinate all pertinent information involving each phase of Work, and (c) identify dates that are critical to ensuring the timely and orderly completion of the work in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, including the dates for Substantial Completion of each respective phase of the Work. A report on Contractor's execution of the Work to meet the Progress Schedule shall be submitted weekly, or at any other time at the request of Construction Manager or BPCA. Failure to submit any requested update shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement. The Contractor shall promptly give written notice of any actual or potential delays to BPCA and Construction Manager in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.3. After submission of the Progress Schedule for the Work, Construction Manager shall coordinate the Progress Schedule for the Work with the Progress Schedule for the Project. The Progress Schedule for the Work may be revised by Construction Manager from time to time.

(c) Contractor shall commence the Work upon receipt of a written notice to proceed signed by BPCA (the "**Notice to Proceed**"), and shall prosecute the Work diligently and in accordance with the time and place requirements of the Project as determined and directed by Construction Manager, by using such means and methods of construction as will assure that the Work will be performed hereunder in accordance with the Contract Documents and Progress Schedule for the Work, and to the satisfaction of BPCA, Engineer, and Construction Manager.

(d) If, in the opinion of Construction Manager, Contractor falls behind the Progress Schedule for the Project then in effect, Contractor shall take whatever steps may be necessary to improve its progress and shall, if requested by Construction Manager, submit operational plans to demonstrate the manner in which the lost time may be regained ("Recovery Plan"). It is the responsibility of Contractor to maintain its schedule so as not to delay the progress of the Project or the schedules of other contractors. If Contractor's Work is delayed or the work of other contractor to increase the number of workers, the number of shifts, the days of Work and/or, to the extent permitted by law, to institute or increase overtime operations, all without additional cost to BPCA, in order to regain any time lost and maintain the Progress Schedule for the Project then in effect as established by Construction Manager.

(e) If Contractor shall fail to complete the Work by the Work Completion Date, or within the time to which such completion may have been extended, BPCA may, at its option, withhold from any sums otherwise due and owing to Contractor hereunder, so much of the balance thereof as BPCA shall deem necessary to secure it against any costs, expenses, or damages which may be incurred by BPCA as a result of said failure, but any such withholding shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any rights hereunder, and Contractor shall be liable to and shall indemnify and hold BPCA harmless from any and all cost, expense or damage incurred by BPCA by reason of such failure.

(f) Liquidated Damages. If Contractor shall neglect, fail or refuse to complete the Work on or before the Work Completion Date or any changes thereto in accordance with, or upon the expiration of, any proper extension granted by BPCA, Contractor agrees to pay to BPCA the sum of **five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00)**, not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages for loss of beneficial use of the Project, for each and every calendar day that the Contractor is in default. Default shall include abandonment of the Work by Contractor. BPCA shall have the right to deduct such liquidated damage assessments from any monies due or which may thereafter become due BPCA under this Agreement; and in case the amount which may become due hereunder shall be less than the amount of liquidated damages due to the Authority, the Contractor shall pay the difference upon demand by BPCA.

(g) Said amount of liquidated damages is agreed upon by and between Contractor and BPCA because of the impracticability and extreme difficulty of fixing and ascertaining the actual damages which BPCA would sustain for loss of beneficial use of the Project in the event of delay in completion, and said amount is agreed to be the amount of damages sustained by BPCA and said amount may be retained from time to time by BPCA. The foregoing liquidated damages are intended to compensate BPCA only for the loss of beneficial use of the Project.

Contractor shall be liable to BPCA, to the fullest extent permitted by law, for whatever actual damages (other than actual loss of beneficial use) BPCA may incur as a result of any actions or inactions of Contractor or its Subcontractors including, without limitation, interest expense and carrying costs, liabilities to other Contractors working on the Project or other third parties, job extension costs, and other losses incurred by BPCA. The provisions of this paragraph are exclusive to BPCA, and shall not accrue to other contractors or third parties.

(h) It is further agreed that time is of the essence for each and every portion of the Work. In any instance in which additional time is allowed for the completion of any Work, the new time of completion established by said extension shall be of the essence. Contractor shall not be charged with liquidated damages or any excess cost if BPCA determines that Contractor is without fault and that the delay in completion of the Work is due to:

(1) any preference, priority or allocation order duly issued by the Government of the United States or the State of New York;

(2) an uncontemplated cause beyond the control and without the fault of, or negligence of Contractor, and approved by BPCA, including, but not limited to, acts of God or of public enemy, fires, epidemics, quarantine, strikes, freight embargoes and unusually severe weather; and

(3) any delays of Subcontractors or Materialmen occasioned by any of the causes specified in subsections 1 and 2 of this paragraph.

(i) Notwithstanding the foregoing, and whether or not, at any given time, a Progress Schedule, or update thereto (as appropriate) has been submitted, the Work shall be completed by the Work Completion Date, including as such date may be amended in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

(j) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, a schedule submitted by Contractor showing a time of completion earlier than that specified in the Contract shall not entitle Contractor to any additional compensation in the event the earlier time of completion is not realized.

3.2 Coordination with Other Contractors

Contractor shall coordinate the Work to be performed hereunder with the work of other contractors performing work for the Project in such manner as Construction Manager shall direct. Contractor shall indemnify and hold BPCA, Construction Manager, and Engineer harmless from any and all claims or judgments for damages, costs and expenses to which BPCA, Construction Manager or Engineer may be subjected or which they may suffer or incur by reason of Contractor's

failure to promptly comply with Construction Manager's directions. If Contractor notifies Construction Manager in writing that another contractor is failing to coordinate its work with the Work to be performed hereunder, Construction Manager shall promptly investigate the charge. If Construction Manager finds the charge to be true, it shall promptly issue such direction to the other contractor with respect thereto as the situation may require. BPCA, Construction Manager and Engineer shall not, however, be liable for any damages suffered by Contractor by reason of the other contractor's failure to promptly comply with the directions so issued by Construction Manager or by reason of another contractor's default in performance. Should Contractor sustain any damage through any act or omission of any other contractor, Contractor shall have no claim against BPCA, Construction Manager or Engineer for such damage but shall have a right to recover such damage from the other contractor, under a provision similar to a provision contained in the following sentence which is part of this Agreement and which has been or will be inserted in the contracts with the other contractors engaged in the Project.

Should any other contractor having or who shall hereafter have a contract with BPCA for the performance of work upon the Project sustain any damage through any act or omission of Contractor hereunder, Contractor shall reimburse such other contractor for all such damages and to indemnify and hold BPCA, Construction Manager and Engineer harmless from all such claims. Any claim against a performance bond surety made by any contractor shall be subordinated to any claim of BPCA then existing or that may arise in the future against such other contractor or its performance bond surety.

3.3 Notice of Delay

Should Contractor be or anticipate being delayed or disrupted in performing the Work hereunder for any reason, including, without limitation, its financial condition or Contractor's general nonpayment of its debts as such debts become due, it shall promptly and in no event more than three (3) days after the commencement of any condition that is causing or is threatening to cause such delay or disruption notify Construction Manager in writing of the effect of such condition upon the Progress Schedule for the Project, stating why and in what respects the condition is causing or is threatening to cause delay, provided, however, that notwithstanding the above, if such delay or disruption, or anticipated delay or disruption, should be the result of any change or anticipated change in Contractor's financial condition, Contractor shall notify Construction Manager forthwith of such cause or anticipated cause. Failure to strictly comply with this notice requirement shall be sufficient cause to deny Contractor a change in schedule and to require it to conform to the Progress Schedule for the Project then in effect established by Construction Manager.

3.4 Extension of Time

(a) An extension of time under the Progress Schedule for the Project then in effect may be granted by BPCA subject to the provisions hereof upon written application therefor by Contractor. An application for an extension of time under the Progress Schedule for the Project then in effect must set forth in detail the nature of each cause of delay in the performance of the Work, the date or dates upon which each cause of delay began and ended and the number of days delay attributable to each such cause. After the application is submitted, Contractor shall supply any other data that Construction Manager may request. (b) Contractor shall be entitled to an extension of time under the Progress Schedule for the Project then in effect for delays in the performance of the Work, if caused:

(1) solely by uncontemplated acts or omissions of BPCA, Construction Manager or Engineer; or

(2) by the uncontemplated acts or omissions of other contractors or uncontemplated causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of Contractor including, but not limited to, acts of God, acts of public enemy, acts of any Government body, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, unusually severe weather, or delays of Subcontractors or Materialmen arising from unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of both Contractor and such Subcontractors or Materialmen (all such events, a "**Force Majeure**"); provided, that Contractor shall have used its best efforts and diligently sought to have minimized any such period of delay, by taking whatever measures are necessary, including without limitation, if applicable, seeking alternate sources of Materials, other Subcontractors or other facilities in which to perform the required construction operations; and provided, further, that an application is made pursuant to the requirements of the immediately preceding paragraph.

3.5 Contractor's Damages for Delay

(a) Except as otherwise specifically provided for in this Agreement, Contractor agrees to make no claim for damages for delay of any kind in the performance of this Contract whether occasioned by any act or omission of BPCA or any of its representatives and Contractor agrees that any such claim shall be compensated for solely by an extension of time to complete performance of the Work as provided in Section 3.4. In this regard, the Contractor alone hereby specifically assumes the risk of such delays, including without limitation: delays in design reviews, processing or approving, samples or other submittals; or the failure to render determinations, acceptance, approvals, replies, inspections or tests of the Work, in a timely manner.

In the event BPCA fails to provide access to the Site such that Contractor would be (b) eligible for an extension of time to complete the Work as provided in Section 3.4, or orders the suspension of Work pursuant to Section 15.13, or issues a Change Order in accordance with Article 9, and as a result of any of the foregoing, the Contractor is actually and necessarily delayed in performance of the Work, the Contractor shall be entitled to "Impact Costs", to the extent if any, hereinafter set forth. However, the Contractor expressly acknowledges and agrees that any delay, impact, inefficiency or limitation on the Contractor's ability to progress the work or gain access to the Site arising from prevailing traffic or road conditions, patterns, construction or congestion whether or not on BPCA property or facilities, or any act or omission by BPCA with respect thereto, shall not be subject to the assessment, imposition or award of Impact Costs under this Article or any damages for delay, impact, inefficiency or additional compensation of any kind whatsoever. All of the aforementioned events shall be deemed to be a Force Majeure pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.4 and the Contractor's sole remedy shall be an extension of time. Impact Costs shall only be allowed for excused delays which are not concurrent with any other un-excused delays and which are actually, reasonably and necessarily incurred. Any measure of Impact Costs agreed to by BPCA will be incorporated into a Change Order.

Impact Costs shall include only the following:

(1) Increased wages related to work being performed in a higher wage period.

(2) Overtime payments to accelerate the work needed to mitigate the delay and to the extent that acceleration of the work was necessary for Contractor to meet the Work Completion Date.

(3) Increased field office expenses.

(4) Increased cost to purchase and/or store materials.

(5) Cost incurred to keep the Site open, such as temporary power and sanitary facilities.

(6) Extended insurance and bonding.

(7) With respect to rented equipment, the lesser of the actual rental cost or the reasonable rental value for idled equipment on the Site.

(8) Additional costs not otherwise contained in items 1 - 7 above, and which are attributable to the inability to comply with the approved schedule for completing the Work as a sole and unavoidable result of the delay.

(c) In no event will BPCA be required to pay Impact Costs for the aforementioned delays which are in the nature of consequential damages, lost profits or indirect costs (generally, indirect costs are those costs which are not exclusively identified with this Agreement, such as Contractor's home office overhead and general and administrative expenses). Acceptance by the Contractor of any payments made by BPCA in connection herewith shall serve as a release to BPCA from all claims and liability to the Contractor arising out of such delay.

(d) The Contractor shall have no right to rescind or terminate this Contract, and Contractor shall have no cause of action under any theory of quasi-contract or quantum meruit by reason of any delay, obstruction, or interference of any kind or duration whatsoever, and whether or not compensable hereunder.

ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT PRICE

(a) For the performance and completion of the Work, BPCA shall pay Contractor a lump sum amount of **[INSERT CONTACT PRICE**] (such sum is herein sometimes referred to as the "**Contract Price**"), as detailed in the Schedule of Values attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B-1</u>. The Contract Price shall include any monies earned by or paid to Contractor prior to the execution of this Agreement, provided, that if the Contract Price shall be expressly revised by a Change Order in accordance with Article 9 hereof, the Contract Price shall thereafter mean the Contract Price as so revised.

(b) In addition to the Contract Price, the Schedule of Values may also contain certain allowance items ("Allowances"). If applicable, the draw-down of the Allowances shall be subject to the procedures set forth in the Specifications. The Allowances constitute funding set aside for

their enumerated purpose, and any work or item not specifically covered by an allowance or constituting Extra Work as determined in accordance with Article 9 are deemed to be included in the Contract Price and therefore part of the Work. All Allowances are subject to the sole discretion and control of BPCA, and Contractor shall not bill or requisition for any Allowance funds without the prior written authorization of BPCA and its Construction Manager.

(c) The Schedule of Values may contain an Allowance for the performance of Extra Work necessary to complete the Project (the "**Work Order Allowance**"). The Work Order Allowance is funding set aside for these changes. Draw-downs of the Work Order Allowance will be memorialized as "**Work Orders**" and will be negotiated in accordance with terms of Article 9 utilizing the same process as that set forth for Change Orders. If the parties fail to reach agreement with respect to Extra Work to be negotiated in accordance with this paragraph, BPCA may nevertheless direct the Contractor to perform the proposed Work and Contractor shall proceed to expeditiously perform such Work in accordance with the requirements of Article 9. Upon depletion or exhaustion of the Work Order Allowance, all subsequent Changes Orders or claims for Extra Work shall be processed strictly in accordance with Article 9. Payment of any amount under this paragraph shall be subject to subsequent audit and approval, disapproval, modification or revision by representatives of the BPCA. No Work Orders will be issued without sufficient funding in the Work Order Allowance.

ARTICLE 5 - METHOD, SCHEDULE AND TERMS OF PAYMENTS

5.1 Partial Payment

(a) In accordance with Requisitions (as defined in Section 5.2) submitted and approved as provided below for Work performed in accordance with this Agreement, Contractor shall be entitled to partial payment on account of the Contract Price in an amount equal to the value, as determined in accordance with the Trade Payment Breakdown (as defined in Section 5.3), of the portions of the Work completed and acceptable to BPCA and Construction Manager for purposes of such payment, less a retainage equal to ten percent (10%) of the total amount of all prior partial payments. Partial payments shall constitute advances against the Contract Price until final payment is made and accepted. No partial payment made, nor approval of a portion of the Work given for purposes of making a partial payment, shall constitute an acceptance of any Work not performed in accordance with the Contract Documents.

(b) Upon completion of fifty percent of the Work, Contractor may make written application to BPCA requesting reduction of the retainage set forth in Section 5.1(a) hereof. Approval of such reduction of retainage and the percentage to which the retainage shall be reduced is in the sole discretion of BPCA. If BPCA approves a reduction of retainage as herein described, BPCA shall so notify Contractor in writing. Any reduction of retainage pursuant to this paragraph (b) shall not be deemed to be a waiver of retainage requirements for future partial payments.

5.2 *Requisitions*

Applications for partial payments ("**Requisitions**") and application for final payment ("**Final Requisition**") shall be in the form previously supplied by BPCA and shall be submitted by Contractor to Construction Manager or its designee in five original copies in the manner

hereinafter provided for the approval of BPCA and Construction Manager. Each Requisition shall be supported by such data substantiating Contractor's right to payment as BPCA and Construction Manager may require.

5.3 Trade Payment Breakdown

Prior to the submission of the first Requisition, Contractor shall present to Construction Manager for approval a trade payment breakdown (the "**Trade Payment Breakdown**") of the various portions of the Work, aggregating the Contract Price, prepared in such form as specified by BPCA and supported by such data to substantiate its correctness as Construction Manager may require. After approval by BPCA and Construction Manager, the Trade Payment Breakdown shall not be changed or revised in any way without the written consent of Construction Manager.

5.4 Payment for Stored Materials

If approved in advance of delivery by BPCA and Construction Manager, payments will be made on account of 80% of the value of Materials that have not been incorporated in the Work to date, but delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at some other offsite location agreed upon in writing by BPCA and Construction Manager. Such payments shall be conditioned upon submission by Contractor of bills of sale or other supporting documentation satisfactory to BPCA and Construction Manager to establish BPCA's title to such Materials including applicable insurance and transportation to the Site for those Materials stored offsite. In the event that Contractor, with approval of BPCA, stores any Materials offsite, the conditions for payment of Material stored off-site shall include but not be limited to the following: (a) the Material shall be properly stored in a secured location approved by the BPCA and/or Construction Manager; (b) the Material will be covered under the BPCA's builder's risk policy subject to policy limits and restrictions; and (c) the Material may be inspected by the BPCA and /or Construction Manager to assure compliance with Contract Documents.

5.5 Receipts and Releases of Liens

With each Requisition, Contractor shall furnish its affidavit of payment and waiver of lien for Work done and Materials furnished through the date covered by the last preceding partial payment (the **"Preceding Covered Date**") and shall furnish its affidavit certifying that all Subcontractors and Materialmen have been paid for Work performed and Materials furnished through the Preceding Covered Date except for any permitted retainage. BPCA may also require Contractor to attach to each Requisition (i) affidavits of payment and waivers of lien from all Subcontractors and Materialmen dealing directly or indirectly with Contractor for Work performed and Materials furnished through the Preceding Covered Date and/or (ii) the consent of the surety issuing the Payment Bond to such payment. BPCA may require Contractor to execute a waiver of lien at the time payment is made for a Requisition for all Work performed through the date of the Requisition in respect of which payment is being made.

In addition to the documents required to be furnished by the preceding paragraph, with the Final Requisition, Contractor shall furnish (y) its affidavit that there are no liens, claims or demands by, and that there is no indebtedness to, Subcontractors, Materialmen, laborers, other employees or third persons for which BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer might in any way

be responsible and (z) releases from all Subcontractors and Materialmen dealing directly or indirectly with Contractor. Should any such Subcontractor or Materialman fail or refuse to furnish such release, Contractor may be required to furnish a bond satisfactory to BPCA to indemnify it against any such lien, claim or demand. If any such lien, claim or demand remains unsatisfied after all payments are made to Contractor, Contractor shall refund to BPCA all monies that BPCA may be compelled to pay in discharging such lien, claim or demand including all costs, expenses and attorneys' fees which BPCA may incur in connection therewith.

5.6 *Time of Payment*

Requisitions shall be submitted by Contractor to BPCA and Construction Manager by the seventh day of each calendar month for Work completed up to the last calendar day of the previous month or other day approved by BPCA, and payment shall be made (pursuant to BPCA's Prompt Payment which available https://bpca.ny.gov/wp-Policy. a copy of is at content/uploads/2022/01/Prompt-Payment-Policy-1-26-22.pdf) on or about twenty days after BPCA receives the Requisition together with the documents required pursuant to Sections 5.2 and 5.5 hereof. Contractor shall be entitled to payment only in the amount approved by BPCA and Construction Manager with respect to such Requisitions, each of which must be signed by BPCA and Construction Manager before payment is made. The value of any Work included in a Requisition for partial payment which is found unacceptable by BPCA or Construction Manager deducted subsequent may be from that or any Requisition.

5.7 *Reduction of Retainage*

Upon the issuance of a Certificate of Substantial Completion, as defined in Section 8.6, Contractor shall submit a Requisition in an amount equal to the Contract Price less five percent (5%) of the total contract amount (including all approved Change Orders, Work Orders and pending Change Order or Work Order proposals), and less the total amount of all prior payments. Upon approval of the same by BPCA, BPCA shall pay to Contractor the amount approved less any amount which BPCA is entitled to withhold hereunder.

5.8 Final Payment

(a) The final balance due Contractor under this Agreement shall be payable to Contractor by BPCA, as final payment hereunder, within thirty days after all of the following have taken place:

- (1) Contractor's Final Requisition has been submitted by Contractor and approved by BPCA and Construction Manager;
- (2) delivery to, and approval of, the as-built drawings as specified in Article 23;
- (3) the affidavit provided for in Section 5.5 hereof has been submitted by Contractor, and any other documents or actions expressly specified in the Contract Documents as preconditions to final payment have been submitted or completed;

- (4) any inspections or approvals with respect to any of the Work that BPCA deems legally required or appropriate by governmental authorities or by the applicable Board of Fire Underwriters have been performed or obtained.
- (5) Final Acceptance of the Work by BPCA.

(b) The acceptance of final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims by Contractor.

5.9 Release and Consent of Surety

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, before final payment pursuant to Section 5.8 shall become due pursuant hereto or before reduction of retainage, Contractor shall submit to BPCA a consent of surety to final payment or reduction of retainage in form and substance acceptable to BPCA.

5.10 BPCA's Right to Audit and Inspect Records

Contractor shall maintain and shall keep for a period of at least six years after the date of Final Acceptance of the Work, pursuant to Section 8.7, all records and other data relating to the Work. BPCA or its designee shall have the right to inspect and audit all records and other data of Contractor relating to the Work at any time and from time to time until the end of such six year period. Contractor shall promptly respond to any inquiries of BPCA or any representative of BPCA arising out of any such inspection or audit.

5.11 Withholding of Payments

(a) BPCA may withhold payment or, because of subsequently discovered evidence, may nullify the whole or any part of any previously approved Requisition to such extent as may, in the judgment of BPCA, be necessary:

- (1) to assure payment of just claims or liens of any persons supplying labor or Materials for the Work;
- (2) to protect BPCA from loss due to defective Work or to reimburse BPCA, Construction Manager and Engineer for fines on account of non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, including rules promulgated by the Office of Safety & Health Administration;
- (3) to protect BPCA from loss due to death or injury to persons or damage to the Work or property of BPCA, other contractors or others caused by the act or neglect of the Contractor;
- (4) in the event that there is reasonable evidence that the Work will not be completed for the unpaid balance of the Contract Price;
- (5) in the event that there is reasonable evidence that the Work will not be completed within the time provided; or

(6) in the event that Contractor persistently fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

In any of such events, BPCA shall have the right to apply any such amounts so withheld in such manner as BPCA may deem proper to satisfy such claims, to secure such protection, to complete the Work or to compensate BPCA for any loss suffered by reason of Contractor's delay. Such application shall be deemed payment for the account of Contractor. In the event that BPCA gives Contractor notice that it intends to make such application, Contractor shall be estopped from disputing liability or the amount of liability unless, within three days after receipt of such notice, it indicates to BPCA in writing that it is not liable or that the amount of its liability is different from that set forth in the notice.

(b) The provisions of this Section 5.11 are solely for the benefit of BPCA, and any action or non-action by BPCA shall not give rise to any liability on the part of BPCA. Failure to so act shall not be deemed a waiver of any present or future claims of BPCA.

ARTICLE 6 – CONTRACTOR

6.1 Superintendence by Contractor, Discipline and Employee Skills

Contractor shall provide a competent construction superintendent to be in charge of the Work. The construction superintendent shall devote full time to the Work, shall be present at the Site during the time the Work is required to be performed and shall have full authority to accept instructions, make decisions and act for Contractor at all times. If at any time the construction superintendent is not satisfactory to BPCA or Construction Manager, Contractor shall, if requested by BPCA, replace such superintendent with another satisfactory to BPCA. Contractor shall enforce strict discipline and good order at all times among Contractor's employees and all Subcontractors. Contractor shall not engage any employee not skilled in the task assigned.

6.2 *Representations and Warranties*

Contractor represents and warrants that:

(a) Contractor is financially solvent and is experienced in, and competent to perform the Work and has the staff, manpower, equipment, Subcontractor, and suppliers available to complete the Work within the time specified in this Agreement for the Contract Price;

(b) Contractor is familiar with all Federal, State or other laws, ordinances, orders, rules and regulations, which may in any way affect the Work;

(c) any temporary and permanent Work required by this Agreement can be satisfactorily constructed, and such construction will not injure any person or damage any property; and

(d) Contractor has carefully examined the Contract Documents and the Site and, from Contractor's own investigations, is satisfied as to the nature and location of the Work, the character, quality and quantity of surface and subsurface materials likely to be encountered, the character of equipment and other facilities needed for the performance of the Work, the general

and local conditions, and all other conditions or items that may affect the Work. Prior to submitting its bid for performance of the Work, Contractor notified BPCA or Construction Manager in writing of any discrepancies or errors in the Contract Documents.

6.3 Verifying Dimensions and Site Conditions

Before proceeding with the Work, Contractor will check all previous and surrounding work and determine the correctness of the same; failure on its part to detect or report discrepancies will relieve BPCA of liability from any and all claims to recover cost, expense, loss or damage resulting therefrom. Contractor shall take, determine, investigate and verify all field measurements, dimensions, field construction criteria and Site conditions for the performance of the Work and shall check and coordinate the information contained in the Contract Documents and the boring logs which shall be available for inspection with the requirements of the Work. Contractor shall be responsible for determining the exact location of and to verify the spatial relationships of all Work. If any conflicts or discrepancies are found in the Contract Documents or if Contractor has any questions concerning the foregoing, it shall immediately notify Construction Manager and shall thereafter perform the Work in accordance with the directions of Construction Manager.

6.4 Copies of Contract Documents for Contractor

BPCA shall furnish to Contractor, without charge, two sets of the Contract Documents. Any sets in excess of the number mentioned above may be furnished to Contractor at the cost of reproduction and mailing.

6.5 Meetings

Contractor shall attend all meetings as directed by BPCA or Construction Manager, including meetings set forth in Section 26.3, and shall be represented at such meetings by a person having knowledge of the Work and authorized to act for Contractor at all times. If at any time such person is not satisfactory to BPCA or Construction Manager, Contractor shall, if requested by BPCA, be represented by another person satisfactory to BPCA, having knowledge of the Work and authorized to act for Contractor at all times.

6.6 *Related Work*

Contractor shall examine the Contract Documents for related work to ascertain the relationship of such work to the Work under the Contract Documents.

6.7 Surveys and Layout

Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, BPCA shall furnish Contractor survey points necessary for the Work, but Contractor shall lay out the Work.

6.8 *Reports and Access*

Contractor shall furnish BPCA and Construction Manager with daily and monthly manpower reports on forms provided by BPCA or Construction Manager and such other reports as may be required by BPCA or Construction Manager. BPCA, Construction Manager and

Engineer shall have full and free access to the shops, plants and factories of Contractor, any Materialmen and Subcontractors to inform themselves as to the progress of the Work.

6.9 Financial Information

During the Term, Contractor agrees to notify BPCA forthwith in writing of any event which has caused or is reasonably anticipated to cause a material adverse change in Contractor's business or financial condition from that shown in the then most recent financial statements furnished by Contractor to BPCA. Contractor has furnished to BPCA financial statements regarding the period from January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017. Contractor agrees to furnish to BPCA, at BPCA's request from time to time hereafter, quarterly, or annual financial statements (which shall be audited, if such is the practice of Contractor for financial statements covering the applicable period) and such additional information as BPCA shall deem necessary or desirable to satisfy itself of Contractor's continuing ability to complete the Work.

ARTICLE 7 - CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION

7.1 Engineer's Responsibilities and Functions

Contractor acknowledges that the role of Engineer with respect to the Work shall be as specified in this Agreement. Contractor will comply with the instructions of Engineer pursuant hereto.

Engineer's duties and services shall in no way supersede or dilute Contractor's obligation to perform and complete the Work in conformity with the Contract Documents.

7.2 Construction Manager's Responsibilities and Functions

(a) Construction Manager shall coordinate and schedule construction to ensure that the completion of the Project is on schedule and that the Project is well constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor acknowledges that the role of Construction Manager with respect to the Work shall be as specified in this Agreement. Contractor hereby agrees to comply with the directions and instructions of Construction Manager.

(b) Construction Manager shall call for meetings of Contractor, other contractors, Subcontractors and Materialmen as necessary for the proper coordination of the Work. Such meetings shall be held at the Site on regular working days, during regular working hours, unless otherwise directed by BPCA. Attendance shall be mandatory for all parties notified to attend.

7.3 Scope of Responsibility of Engineer and Construction Manager

In no event shall any act or omission on the part of the Construction Manager or Engineer relieve Contractor of its obligation to perform the Work in full compliance with the Contract Documents. Neither Engineer nor Construction Manager will be responsible for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work, and neither will be responsible for Contractor's failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents or the failure to fulfill any of the requirements of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE

8.1 Access to the Work

BPCA, Construction Manager, Engineer or their authorized representatives shall at all times have access to and the right to observe the Work and all facilities where the Work or any part thereof is being fabricated or stored, and Contractor shall provide proper facilities for such access and observation.

8.2 Notice of Required Inspections and Tests

If the Contract Documents, or any laws, rules, ordinances or regulations, require that any Work be inspected or tested, Contractor shall give BPCA, Construction Manager and Engineer at least five days prior written notice of readiness of the Work for inspection or testing and the date fixed for such inspection or testing.

8.3 Additional Inspections and Tests

(a) Whenever, in the opinion of BPCA, Construction Manager or Engineer, it is desirable to require inspection or testing of the Work or its individual components in addition to any such testing that may be originally included in the Work, they shall have authority to do so whether or not such Work be then fabricated, installed, covered or completed. If such inspection or testing reveals a failure of the Work to comply (1) with the requirements of the Contract Documents, or (2) with respect to the performance of the Work, with laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public authority having jurisdiction, Contractor shall bear all costs thereof, including Engineer's and Construction Manager's additional services made necessary by such failure; otherwise BPCA shall bear such costs, and an appropriate Change Order shall be issued.

(b) In the event that any item of the Work fails inspection or testing, BPCA, Engineer or Construction Manager may require inspection or testing of any or all of the other items of the Work at Contractor's cost and expense.

8.4 Uncovering of Work

(a) If any Work shall be covered or concealed contrary to the request of BPCA, Engineer or Construction Manager, such Work shall, if required by BPCA, Engineer or Construction Manager, be uncovered by examination, inspection or testing. Any examination, testing or inspection shall not relieve Contractor of the responsibility to maintain quality control over the Work. If any test results are below specified minimums, BPCA may order additional testing. The cost of such additional examination, inspection or testing, any additional professional services required, and any other expenses incurred by BPCA as a result of such examination, inspection or testing shall be borne by Contractor.

(b) In the event that a typical detail fails inspection or testing, BPCA, Engineer or Construction Manager may require inspection or testing of any or all of other such typical details at Contractor's cost and expense.

8.5 Correction of Work

Any Work not approved by BPCA, Engineer and Construction Manager shall immediately be reconstructed, made good, replaced or corrected by Contractor including all Work of other contractors destroyed or damaged by such removal or replacement. Rejected material shall be removed immediately from the Site. Acceptance of Materials and workmanship by BPCA shall not relieve Contractor from Contractor's obligation to replace all Work which is not in full compliance with the Contract Documents.

8.6 *Certificate of Substantial Completion*

Upon their receipt of written notice from Contractor stating that in Contractor's estimation the Work has been substantially performed in conformity with the Contract Documents, Engineer and/or Construction Manager shall perform an inspection for the purposes of determining whether the Work has been so performed, commencing such inspection within ten (10) days of receipt of such notice and completing it with all due diligence. When Engineer and/or Construction Manager find upon inspection that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the Work is so performed, they shall prepare and deliver to BPCA for delivery to Contractor a certificate specifying the date of substantial completion of the Work for purposes of this Agreement ("**Certificate of Substantial Completion**") and a punch list of items of Work remaining to be completed.

The delivery of a Certificate of Substantial Completion shall not terminate or alter Contractor's obligation under this Agreement to complete the Work as expeditiously as practicable in conformity with the Contract Documents and to fulfill all terms and conditions of this Agreement.

8.7 *Completion of Work and Acceptance*

Upon their receipt of written notice from Contractor stating its belief that the Work has been fully performed in conformity with the Contract Documents, and confirming that Contractor has completed any items of Work previously noted to it by Engineer and Construction Manager as not having been acceptably completed in any punch list or otherwise, Engineer and Construction Manager shall perform an inspection for purposes of determining whether the Work has been so performed. Engineer and Construction Manager shall commence such inspection within ten (10) days of receipt of such notice and shall pursue and complete it with all due diligence. When BPCA and Construction Manager find upon inspection that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the Work has been so performed, they shall prepare a certificate of final completion, and, upon delivery by BPCA to Contractor of said certificate, the Work shall be deemed to be finally accepted by BPCA (such delivery of the certificate of final completion to Contractor is hereinafter referred to as "**Final Acceptance**").

Final Acceptance shall not terminate or alter Contractor's obligation under this Agreement to complete the Work in conformity with the Contract Documents and to fulfill all terms and conditions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 - CHANGES IN THE WORK

9.1 Change Orders

BPCA may, at any time, in any quantity or amount, without notice to the sureties (a) and without invalidating or abandoning this Agreement, order Extra Work. Notwithstanding the terms of subsection 3.1(a) hereof, BPCA may, but shall be under no obligation to, change the manner, sequence or method of performance of the Work or direct acceleration of the Work and Contractor shall, therefore, be entitled to a Change Order (as defined in Section 9.1(b)) provided that such change or acceleration was not ordered to maintain the Progress Schedule for the Project, the Progress Schedule for the Work or to coordinate the Work with the work of other contractors. Contractor shall be obligated to perform changed Work promptly in conformity with any Change Order or Field Order issued in accordance herewith and may not suspend or otherwise refuse to perform the Work contained therein or any other aspect of the Work required under this Agreement because a Change Order has yet to be fully executed. The Change Order may include any estimated allowable Impact Costs with respect to the Extra Work in accordance with Section 3.5, provided in no event shall allowable Impact Costs hereunder include any item of cost and expense otherwise payable under the Contract, including the related Change Order or Extra Work directive, as the case may be.

(b) "**Change Order**" shall mean a written order issued by BPCA to Contractor after execution of this Agreement, authorizing or requiring:

- (1) Extra Work,
- (2) items that were erroneously deleted or omitted from the Work,
- (3) items that were included in the Work but were subsequently deleted,
- (4) an extension or decrease of time to complete Work,
- (5) an increase or reduction in the payment to Contractor, or

(6) any other material change in the Contract Documents or in the sequence of performing or phasing of the Work.

(c) All Change Orders shall be prepared, signed and issued by Construction Manager at the instruction of BPCA, and to be valid, must be countersigned by BPCA and Contractor.

9.2 Change in Contract Price and Time

(a) The Contract Price will not be revised due to any change of the Work except as and to the extent expressly provided in the Change Orders. The amount by which the Contract Price is to be increased or decreased by any Change Order shall be determined by BPCA and Construction Manager by one or more of the following methods:

(1) accepting an amount agreed upon by BPCA and Contractor;

(2) applying the applicable unit prices and alternates where the Work involved is covered by unit prices in this Agreement;

(3) receiving from Contractor a detailed breakdown satisfactory to BPCA and

Construction Manager, including actual time slips and invoices, itemizing the direct cost of labor (at the rates detailed in Exhibit B-2 – Labor Rates) and Materials to perform the changed Work and adding thereto fifteen percent (15%) to cover profit and all indirect and overhead costs, except that where the changed Work is performed by a Subcontractor or Materialman, the direct cost of labor and Materials to perform the changed Work plus fifteen percent (15%) for profit and all indirect and overhead costs to Subcontractor or Materialman and an additional sum for profit and all indirect and overhead costs of Contractor equal to ten percent (10%) of the first \$100,000, five percent (5%) of the second \$100,000 and three percent (3%) of any cost in excess of \$200,000 to Contractor. No allowance shall be paid on the premium portion of overtime pay. Where the changed Work involves both an increase and a reduction in any contract Work, the above percentage override shall be applied only on the amount, if any, by which the cost of the increase exceeds the cost of the reduction.

(4) receiving from Contractor a true copy of its bid work sheets to determine the contract price for the elimination of any contract Work. The amount of reduction shall not include the overhead or profit of Contractor for the eliminated Work. Should Contractor fail to furnish BPCA with such bid work sheets, then Construction Manager shall determine the amount of the reduction. The determination of Construction Manager shall be final and binding unless erroneously or fraudulently arrived at, or arbitrary and capricious;

(5) adding to the Contract Price only the amount of the premium portion of overtime pay resulting from an acceleration of the Work; or

(6) adding to the Contract Price, the actual incremental labor and equipment costs incurred by the Contractor resulting from a change in the manner, sequence or method of performing the Work.

(b) The compensation specified in a Change Order shall constitute a release and full payment for the Extra Work covered thereby and for any delay and disruption cost or expense occasioned by reason of said change in the Work.

(c) No time extension shall be granted Contractor by reason of the issuance of any Change Order unless it is expressly stated therein.

9.3 Field Orders

Construction Manager shall have the authority to order minor changes in the Work by the issuance of written field orders ("**Field Orders**"), which may be issued without prior approval by BPCA. Field Orders must be countersigned by Contractor. Minor changes in the Work for purposes of this Section shall mean only changes that do not necessitate or warrant any revision in the Contract Price in excess of \$5,000 or affect the time of performance of Contractor's Work, any change in the basic character or design of the Project, or deviation from design standards established for the Project. Except as otherwise provided in the preceding sentence relating to an increase in the Contract Price, no claim for an increase in the Contract Price may be based upon any Field Order. If Contractor, on receipt of a Field Order, claims that the change of Work involved necessitates a Change Order, it shall proceed in accordance with the Field Order under protest and notify BPCA immediately of its claim for additional compensation for Extra Work pursuant to

Article 14.

9.4 Changed Conditions

(a) BPCA assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any boring or other subsurface information and makes no representation of any kind regarding subsurface conditions and test borings, reports, rock cores, foundation investigation and topographical maps which may be made available to Contractor.

(b) Contractor shall promptly, and before such conditions are disturbed, notify Construction Manager of: (1) subsurface or latent physical conditions differing materially from those indicated in the Contract Documents, or (2) unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature, differing materially from those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in this Agreement. Construction Manager shall promptly investigate the conditions, and if it finds that such conditions do materially so differ and cause an increase or decrease in Contractor's cost of, or the time required for, performance of any part of the Work under this Agreement, Contractor shall be paid in the manner provided for payment with respect to any Change Order and receive, if warranted, a time extension.

(c) No claim of Contractor under this clause shall be allowed unless Contractor has given the notice required in subsection (b) above.

ARTICLE 10 - SUBCONTRACTS AND PURCHASE ORDERS

10.1 Selection of Subcontractors and Materialmen and Approval of Subcontracts and Purchase Orders

(a) Contractor shall submit to Construction Manager, within 21 calendar days of the issuance of the Notice to Proceed, the names of all persons with whom it has contracted or intends to contract or hereafter contracts with respect to the Work.

(b) Except as specifically provided herein, Contractor shall not enter into any Subcontracts or issue any Purchase Orders (as hereinafter defined) to any Materialmen in connection with the performance of Contractor's obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of BPCA to the use of each such Subcontractor or Materialman, and to the agreement to be entered into between Contractor and any such Subcontractor or Materialman. Contractor shall prioritize the submission of those Subcontractors or Materialmen providing long-lead materials or services. Contractor shall inform BPCA in writing of any interest it may have in a proposed Subcontractor, shall relieve Contractor of any of its obligations hereunder nor may BPCA be held responsible in any way for the performance of a Subcontractor or Materialman to whom BPCA gave its consent.

(c) Contractor shall be responsible for the performance of the Work of any Subcontractors or Materialmen engaged, including the maintenance of schedules, coordination of their Work and resolutions of all differences between or among Contractor and any Subcontractors. It is expressly understood and agreed that any and all Subcontractors or Materialmen engaged by Contractor hereunder shall at all times be deemed engaged by Contractor and not by BPCA.

(d) Upon the request of BPCA, Contractor shall cause any Subcontractor or Materialman employed by the Contractor in connection with this Agreement to execute a copy of the Agreement wherein such Subcontractor or Materialman shall acknowledge that it has read and is fully familiar with the terms and provisions hereof and agrees to be bound thereby as such terms and provisions are or may be applicable to such Subcontractors or Materialmen.

(e) Contractor shall submit to BPCA promptly following execution, three copies of every revision, amendment, modification or cancellation executed or issued by Contractor with respect to any Subcontractor or Materialman. BPCA is not obligated to make payment on account of Work performed or Materials furnished by a Subcontractor or a Materialman under a Subcontract or contract for construction supplies or Materials (hereinafter "**Purchase Order(s**)") unless there shall have been filed with BPCA prior to the submission of a Requisition for each payment, three copies of such Subcontract or Purchase Order containing the provisions required by this Agreement to be contained therein, except as may otherwise be specified by BPCA with respect to Purchase Orders for minor purchases.

10.2 Access by BPCA and Others

Contractor shall include a provision in all Subcontracts and Purchase Orders stating that, to permit verification of Contractor's costs, BPCA shall have the right to have its representatives inspect and audit the books of account and records of the Subcontractor and Materialmen, including the right to make excerpts from such books and records. All payments by Contractor to a Subcontractor or Materialman shall be by check specifically indicating that payment is attributable to this Agreement and identifying the invoice(s) for which payment is being made. Contractor shall include a provision in all Subcontracts and Purchase Orders that will enable representatives of the State of New York, Construction Manager and BPCA, as the case may be, to obtain access during working hours to the appropriate books of account and records of the Subcontractors or Materialmen relating to the Work to determine if there is compliance with the requirements of law or this Agreement.

10.3 Retainage

Contractor may provide for a retainage under any of its Subcontracts or Purchase Orders provided that where a Subcontract or Purchase Order provides for a retainage, the retainage shall be no greater in percentage than that provided for under Sections 5.1 or 5.7 hereof with respect to Contractor itself, unless otherwise approved in writing by BPCA. Contractor shall submit with each Requisition a statement setting forth the amounts of all retainage, if any, under its Subcontracts and Purchase Orders.

10.4 Miscellaneous

(a) Contractor shall be fully responsible for the work, acts and omissions of Subcontractors and Materialmen, and of persons either directly or indirectly employed by Subcontractors and Materialmen.

(b) Contractor's use of Subcontractors and Materialmen shall not diminish Contractor's obligation to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall control and coordinate the work of Subcontractors and Materialmen. (c) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between Subcontractors or Materialmen and BPCA, Construction Manager or Engineer. Nothing in this Section shall obligate BPCA to pay or to see to the payment of any sums to any Subcontractor or Materialmen.

(d) Contractor shall include a provision in all Subcontracts and Purchase Orders exceeding \$50,000, requiring the Subcontractor or Materialman, if requested by BPCA, until the Subcontractor or Materialman finishes its portion of the Work, to deliver to Contractor unaudited and, if available, audited financial statements of the Subcontractor or Materialman similar to the obligation of Contractor under Section 6.8 and promptly upon receipt thereof Contractor shall deliver copies thereof to BPCA.

ARTICLE 11 - ASSIGNMENT

11.1 No Assignment of Duties

Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or the performance of any obligations of Contractor under this Agreement, nor enter into any Subcontract in respect of the Work or any part thereof except in compliance with Article 10 hereof and with the prior written consent of BPCA, and each and every such assignment, Purchase Order and Subcontract without such compliance and consent shall be void and shall revoke and annul this Agreement.

11.2 No Assignment of Monies

Contractor shall not assign any monies payable hereunder nor execute and deliver any order for payment unless Contractor and the assignee shall have complied with the following terms and conditions:

(a) the assignee shall be a commercial bank or finance company regularly engaged in the business of provided financing to construction contractors and shall be providing such financing to Contractor;

(b) the assignee shall, simultaneously with the assignment, execute and deliver to BPCA an undertaking, in favor of BPCA, in form and substance satisfactory to BPCA, providing that:

(1) assignee will cause Contractor to apply for trust purposes, as defined in New York Lien Law Article 3-A (the "**Lien Law**"), all funds advanced by assignee to Contractor;

(2) assignee will file a copy of the assignment, containing the covenant required by the Lien Law, with the County Clerk of New York County and the head of the agency having charge of the underlying project;

(c) the assignee shall agree with BPCA in writing that BPCA and Contractor may modify any of the terms of this Agreement, including any of the terms of payment, without the consent of assignee;

(d) the assignee shall agree with BPCA in writing that after the effective date of the

assignment, BPCA may make payment directly to any Subcontractor or Materialman without any liability to the assignee;

(e) the assignee shall agree with BPCA in writing that the assignee shall require and cause Contractor to keep his books and records in the form and manner described in New York Consolidated Laws Service Lien Law Article 3-A Section 75; and

(f) the assignee shall agree with BPCA in writing that the assignee will indemnify and hold BPCA harmless from and against any loss, claim or expense incurred as a result of any failure of performance in accordance with the terms of such undertaking.

11.3 Assignment by BPCA

This Agreement or any rights of BPCA under this Agreement, including any guaranties or warranties of workmanship or material, may at any time be assigned by BPCA to the State of New York or any political subdivision, public corporation or agency of the State.

ARTICLE 12 - MECHANICS' LIENS AND CLAIMS

If any mechanic's lien or other claim shall be filed for or on account of the Work, Contractor shall discharge such lien or claim within thirty days of receiving written notice of such lien or other claim.

ARTICLE 13 – INSURANCE AND CONTRACT SECURITY

13.1 Insurance

(a) Contractor shall procure and maintain all of the insurance required under this Article 13 until Final Acceptance of the Work, except with respect to Completed Operations Coverage, as described in 13.1(f)(2) below.

(b) Contractor shall not commence physical performance of the Work at the Site until Contractor has obtained, and required each Subcontractor to obtain, all the insurance required under this Article and until it has furnished to BPCA the certificate or certificates of insurance required by Section 13.1(c) hereof.

(c) Contractor shall furnish to BPCA, before or upon execution of this Agreement, a certificate or certificates of the insurance required under this Article and, upon BPCA's request, certified copies of the original policies of insurance, within the time period required by BPCA and before commencing physical performance of the Work at the Site. Such certificate or certificates shall be in form satisfactory to BPCA, shall list the various coverages and shall contain, in addition to any other provisions required hereby, a provision that the policy shall not be changed, canceled or reduced and that it shall be automatically renewed upon expiration and continued in force until two years after Final Acceptance unless BPCA is given 90 days' written notice to the contrary. Such certificates shall also include riders providing that violation of any of the terms of any policy shall not by itself invalidate such policy. Such policies and certificates should name as additional insureds BPCA, Battery Park City Parks Conservancy Corporation ("**BPCPC**"), the State of New York and Engineer.

(d) All insurance required to be procured and maintained must be procured from insurance companies that have a financial rating by A.M. Best Company as published in the most current key rating guide of "A-X" or better and which are authorized to do business in the State of New York.

(e) If at any time any of the required insurance policies should be canceled, terminated or modified so that insurance is not in effect as required, then, if BPCA shall so direct, Contractor shall suspend performance of the Work. If the Work is not suspended then BPCA may, at BPCA's option, obtain insurance affording coverage equal to that required, the cost of such insurance to be payable by Contractor to BPCA.

(f) Contractor and each Subcontractor shall secure in a form satisfactory to BPCA:

(1) Worker's Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance and Disability Benefits shall not be less than statutory limits, including United States Longshore and Harbor Workers Act coverage as applicable to the Services to be performed by Contractor;

(2) Commercial General Liability Insurance, written on ISO Form CG 00 01 or its equivalent and with no modification to the contractual liability coverage provided therein, shall be provided on an occurrence basis and limits shall not be less than:

- \$6,000,000 per occurrence
- \$7,000,000 general aggregate which must apply on a per location/per project basis
- \$7,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate

BPCA, BPCPC, Engineer and the State of New York must be protected as additional insureds on ISO Form CG 2010 (11/85) or its equivalent on policies held by Contractor and any of its Subcontractors. Contractor must maintain Products/Completed Operations coverage for no less than three (3) years after the construction work is completed, and continue to include Additional Insured protection for BPCA, BPCPC, Engineer and the State of New York for the prescribed timeframe. As a condition precedent to the making of Final Payment, Contractor shall furnish BPCA with a certified copy of the completed operations policy. When providing evidence of insurance, Contractor must include a completed Acord 855 NY form.

(3) Automobile Liability Insurance with a combined single limit of not less than \$1,000,000. Coverage must apply to Contractor's owned, hired, and non-owned vehicles and protect BPCA, BPCPC and the State of New York as additional insured.

(4) Builder's Risk/Installation Floater Insurance in an amount not less than 100% of the materials provided by Contractor for the Project. Coverage must be written on ISO Special Form CP 10 30 04 02 or its equivalent on a completed value non-reporting basis and provide coverage for Contractor, all Subcontractors, BPCA, BPCPC, and the State of New York. Coverage must apply to property while on site, off site, and in transit, include an agreed amount provision which eliminates any coinsurance provision, and include BPCA as loss payee. Coverage must include the insurable interests of all Subcontractors retained by Contactor.

(5) Contractor's Pollution Liability Insurance covering bodily injury, property

damage, clean-up costs/remediation expenses and legal defense costs. Such insurance shall provide coverage for sudden and non-sudden pollution conditions arising out of Contractor's Work in Battery Park City. The limit of the coverage shall not be less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence. BPCA, BPCPC, and the State of New York must be protected as additional insureds on policies held by Contractor and any of its Subcontractors.

(6) Comprehensive Marine Liability Insurance must be maintained at a limit of not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence and include the following coverage:

- Protection and Indemnity
- General Liability
- Pollution Liability

BPCA, BPCPC and the State of New York must be protected as additional insureds on policies held by Contractor and any of its Subcontractors.

(g) The insurance required in this Section 13 shall be of a type which shall protect Contractor and Subcontractors, respectively, against damage claims which may arise from operations under this Agreement, whether such operations be by the insured or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by the insured. Each of the aforesaid policies shall provide that the insurance company or an attorney approved and retained by the insurance company shall defend any suit or proceeding against BPCA or any officers, agents or employees of BPCA whether or not such suit is groundless, false or fraudulent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, BPCA shall have the right to engage its own attorneys for the purpose of defending any suit or proceeding against it or its respective officers, agents or employees, and, in such event, Contractor shall, indemnify BPCA for all attorneys' fees and disbursements and other costs incurred by it arising out of, or incurred in connection with, any such defense. The said insurance shall name BPCA, BPCPC, the State of New York, and Engineer as additional insureds as respects this location and shall, where applicable, be written on an occurrence basis and shall contain a provision that it is primary and that any similar insurance which BPCA, BPCPC, the State of New York, Construction Manager, Engineer, Contractor or Subcontractor elect to carry for their own benefit is secondary or excess and not contributing insurance.

(h) BPCA, at BPCA's cost and expense, may, at its sole option, procure and maintain such insurance as shall in the opinion of BPCA, protect BPCA from contingent liability of BPCA to others for damages arising from bodily injury, including death and property damages which may arise from operations under this Agreement. The procurement and maintenance of such insurance by BPCA shall not in any way be construed or be deemed to relieve Contractor from, or to be a limitation on the nature or extent of, such obligations and risk.

13.2 Effect of Procurement of Insurance

Neither the procurement nor the maintenance of any type of insurance by BPCA or Contractor shall in any way be construed or be deemed to limit, discharge, waive or release Contractor from any of the obligations and risks impressed upon Contractor by this Agreement or to be a limitation on the nature or extent of such obligations and risks.

13.3 Contract Security

Contractor shall, if it has not already done so, furnish to BPCA, with the execution of this Agreement, to BPCA, a bond in the form acceptable to BPCA in an amount at least equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Contract Price for performance of the Work (the "**Performance Bond**"), and a labor and material payment bond in the form acceptable to BPCA in an amount at least equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Contract Price for the payment of all persons performing labor or providing Materials in connection with the Work (the "**Payment Bond**"). The surety on said bond shall be a surety company authorized to do business in the State of New York and shall be rated at last B+ by A.M. Best and Company, or meet such other requirements as are acceptable to BPCA.

13.4 Additional or Substitute Bond

If at any time BPCA shall be or shall become dissatisfied with any surety or sureties then obligated upon the Performance Bond or the Payment Bond, or if for any other reason such bonds shall cease to be adequate security to BPCA, Contractor shall within five (5) days after notice from BPCA to do so, substitute an acceptable bond or bonds in such form and sum and signed by such other surety or sureties as may be satisfactory to BPCA, except that the penal sum of said bond shall not exceed the Contract Price as adjusted by Change Orders or Work Orders. No further payments shall be deemed due nor shall be made until the new surety or sureties shall have furnished such an acceptable bond or bonds to BPCA.

ARTICLE 14 - CLAIMS FOR EXTRA WORK

(a) If Contractor is of the opinion that (i) any work that it has been ordered to perform is Extra Work and not Work as set forth in the Contract Documents, (ii) any action or omission of BPCA, Construction Manager or Engineer is contrary to the terms and provisions of the Contract Documents and will require the performance of Extra Work or will cause additional expense to Contractor or (iii) any determination, order or directive of BPCA, Construction Manager or Engineer is contrary to the terms of the Contract Documents and will require the performance of Extra Work or will cause additional expense to Engineer is contrary to the terms of the Contract Documents and will require the performance of Extra Work or will cause additional expense to Contractor, Contractor shall:

(1) promptly comply with each determination, order or directive and proceed diligently with the performance of the Work in accordance with BPCA's instructions,

(2) notify BPCA, Construction Manager and Engineer in writing within 72 hours of such determination, order, act or omission that Contractor believes such will require it to perform Extra Work or incur additional expense and the basis for Contractor's conclusion and request a final determination thereon by BPCA; and

(3) present to the Construction Manager for signature daily time and Material tickets to confirm quantities of Material and hours of labor in cases where Contractor is performing the Work which it considers to be Extra Work.

If BPCA determines that (x) such work is Work required to be performed hereunder and not Extra Work, (y) such action or omission is proper, or (z) such determination, order or directive is proper, Contractor, in order to reserve its right to claim compensation for or damages resulting from the performance of such work or the compliance with such determination, order or directive,

must notify BPCA in writing within three (3) working days after receiving notice of BPCA's determination that it is performing such work or complying with such determination, order or directive under protest.

In addition to the foregoing, Contractor must submit to BPCA, Construction Manager and Engineer within thirty (30) days after it has performed such work or complied with such determination, order or directive, a detailed statement of the extra expense claimed to have been incurred and of any claimed damages resulting from the performance of such work or the compliance with such determination, order or directive.

(b) No claim for Extra Work shall be allowed unless the same was done pursuant to written order approved in writing by BPCA. Contractor's failure to comply with any provision of this Article:

(1) shall constitute a conclusive and binding determination on the part of Contractor that such action, omission, determination, order or directive does not involve Extra Work, has not caused extra expense or damages to Contractor, and is not contrary to the terms and provisions of the Contract Documents; and

(2) shall constitute an irrevocable waiver by Contractor of any claim for compensation for or damages resulting from the performance of such work or the compliance with such determination, order or directive.

(c) The value of claims for Extra Work, if allowed, shall be determined by the methods described in Section 9.2(a).

ARTICLE 15 - TERMINATION

15.1 Termination for Cause

(a) If any of the following events shall occur (an "**Event of Default**") then BPCA or Construction Manager may serve written notice upon Contractor and upon Contractor's surety, if any, terminating this Agreement at a specified date. The notice shall contain the reasons for termination but shall not be effective to terminate this Agreement if Contractor cures all Events of Default stated in the notice prior to the date specified in the notice of termination.

(1) Contractor shall violate any substantial provision of this Agreement, including, without limitation, by failing to maintain the Progress Schedule for the Project or Progress Schedule for the Work then in effect in accordance with, or failing to discharge any of its responsibilities under, Section 3.1(d) hereof, including abandonment of the Work by Contractor, or by failing to indemnify and hold harmless BPCA (as required by Sections 3.1(e), 3.2, 17.5, 21.1, 21.2, 22(c) or any other provision of this Agreement) from and against any and all claims, liabilities, losses, costs or damages arising out of Contractor's performance of, or failure to perform, its obligations under this Agreement in accordance with its terms, or if the Contractor fails to maintain the insurance required by the provisions of Section 13; or

(2) any material adverse change shall take place in the financial condition of the Contractor;

(3) Contractor takes any action which would result in it becoming the subject of any insolvency proceeding. The term "insolvency proceeding" as used herein shall include the filing of a petition for relief under Title 11 of the United States Code by Contractor or the consent, acquiescence or taking of any action by Contractor, or the filing by or against Contractor of petition or action, looking to or seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief under any other regulation; or the appointment, with or without the consent of Contractor, of any trustee, custodian, receiver or liquidator of Contractor or of any property or assets of Contractor; or Contractor's making of an assignment for the benefit of creditors or its inability to pay its debts as they become due;

(4) Contractor misrepresented or omitted information in its submission of the Statement of Qualifications of Contractor submitted by Contractor to BPCA in connection with this Agreement; or

(5) any partner, principal, director, officer or shareholder owning in excess of five percent (5%) of the stock of Contractor shall have been convicted of a felony.

(b) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, at BPCA's option exercised by written notice to Contractor, title to any or all of Contractor's Materials, equipment, work product, work in process and dies and tools, whether on the Site or off site, which are necessary or useful in completing the Work shall vest in BPCA and BPCA may take possession of and utilize the same for completion of the Work; provided that title to such items shall revert to Contractor upon effectuation of a cure of the Event of Default prior to the termination of this Agreement. If no cure has been effected, this Agreement has been terminated and BPCA has taken possession of the same, then after BPCA has taken possession and the Work shall have been completed by or on behalf of BPCA, BPCA shall pay to Contractor, in respect to the items for which title has vested in BPCA, an amount equal to the sum of:

(1) the direct costs of Contractor for such Materials and Work in progress, and

(2) the depreciated book value of such tools and dies less, if BPCA elects to return the tools and dies to Contractor, the salvage value thereof. BPCA shall have the right to set off against such payment due to Contractor any amounts then due and payable by Contractor to BPCA which may accrue as damages owing by Contractor to BPCA under the terms of this Agreement. Contractor shall execute any further documents (including Form UCC-1 Financing Statements to give public notice of the potential ownership interest of BPCA as set forth herein) required by BPCA to confirm the terms of this subsection 15.1(b).

(c) Upon termination of this Agreement, BPCA shall have the right, in addition to all other rights and remedies, to complete or have the Work completed by such means and in such manner, by contract or otherwise, with or without public letting as permitted by law, as BPCA deems advisable. BPCA may deduct any loss it incurs thereby from any payment then or thereafter due to Contractor without prejudice to any other remedy BPCA may have.

(d) Immediately upon termination in accordance with the provisions of this Section, each and every Subcontract and Purchase Order entered into by Contractor shall, at BPCA's option, be automatically assigned to BPCA, and Contractor shall insert a provision to this effect in

all Subcontracts and Purchase Orders.

(e) Contractor shall, upon the date when such termination shall take effect, promptly notify the union or unions, if any, having jurisdiction over the work by its employees that it releases the Project and consents that the Work be performed by others and Contractor expressly authorizes BPCA to notify the union or unions of such release in the name of Contractor. The failure, neglect or refusal of Contractor to issue such release or the disclaimer by it of the effectiveness of the release issued by BPCA shall subject Contractor to all damages sustained by BPCA.

(f) If this Agreement shall have been terminated by BPCA pursuant to this Section 15.1 and it shall be finally determined by BPCA or a court of competent jurisdiction that adequate grounds for such termination did not exist, then such termination shall be deemed a termination for convenience of BPCA under Section 15.2 hereof and the sole right, remedy and recourse of Contractor against BPCA shall be governed and determined by Section 15.2 hereof.

15.2 Termination for Convenience of BPCA

(a) BPCA, at any time, may terminate this Agreement for its own convenience. Any such termination shall be effected by delivering to Contractor a notice of termination specifying the extent to which performance of Contractor's Work under the Contract is terminated and the date upon which such termination becomes effective. Upon receipt of the notice of termination, Contractor shall:

(1) stop work under this Agreement on the date specified in the notice of termination;

facilities;

(2)

(3) unless directed otherwise by BPCA, terminate all Purchase Orders and Subcontracts;

place no further Purchase Orders or Subcontracts for Materials, services or

(4) assign to BPCA, in the manner, at the times, and to the extent directed by Construction Manager, all of the right, title and interest of Contractor under the Purchase Orders and Subcontractors so terminated, in which case BPCA shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to settle or pay any or all claims arising out of the termination of such Purchase Orders and Subcontracts;

(5) to the extent required by Construction Manager, settle all outstanding liabilities and all claims arising out of such termination of Purchase Orders and Subcontracts, with the approval or ratification of Construction Manager, which approval or ratification shall be final for all the purposes of this Section 15.2;

(6) transfer title to BPCA and deliver in the manner, at the time, and to the extent, if any, directed by the Construction Manager (i) the fabricated or unfabricated parts, Work in process, completed Work, supplies, and other Material produced as a part of, or acquired in connection with the performance of, the Work terminated by the notice of termination, and (ii) the completed or partially completed plans, drawings, work product, information and other property,

which if this Agreement had been completed, would have been required to be furnished to BPCA; and

(7) take such action as may be necessary, or as the Construction Manager may direct, for the protection and preservation of the property related to this Agreement which is in the possession of Contractor and in which BPCA has or may acquire an interest.

(b) In the event of a termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 15.2, Contractor shall be paid by BPCA only the apportioned Contract Price for Work installed, the fair and reasonable value of Materials stored on the Site and under order for which Contractor is responsible for payment, less any sums properly deductible by BPCA, except that in no event shall Contractor be entitled to compensation in excess of the total Contract Price.

15.3 Suspension of Work

(a) BPCA may at any time and for any reason direct Contractor to suspend, stop, or interrupt the Work or any part thereof for a period of time. Such direction shall be in writing and shall specify the period during which the Work is to be stopped. Upon receipt of a direction of suspension, Contractor shall, as soon as practicable, cease performance of the Work as ordered and take immediate affirmative measures to protect the Work from loss or damage. Contractor shall resume the Work upon the date specified in such direction or upon such other date as BPCA may thereafter specify in writing.

(b) The period during which the Work shall have been suspended, stopped or interrupted may, if warranted, be added to the time fixed for performance. A suspension, stoppage or interruption of the Work pursuant to this provision shall not give rise to any claim against BPCA for additional compensation except as expressly provided in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 16 - COMPOSITE DRAWINGS AND COOPERATION

Where Contractor shall perform Work in close proximity to work of other contractors or subcontractors, or where there is evidence that Contractor's Work may interfere with work of other contractors, or subcontractors, Contractor shall assist in arranging space conditions to make satisfactory adjustment for the performance of such work and the Work. Contractor shall prepare composite scale working drawings and specifications as directed by Construction Manager, clearly showing how Contractor's Work is to be performed in relation to work of other contractors or Subcontractors. Such direction may include the following: the scale of the drawings, where the drawings are to be drafted, the number of prints or reproducibles, and the requirement of attendance at meetings. The determination as to who shall provide the composite drawings and the contents of the same shall rest exclusively with Construction Manager. Upon request by Construction Manager, Contractor's acknowledgment that such drawing is acceptable as related to its Work covered or included in such drawing. If Contractor performs the Work in a manner that causes interference with the work of other contractors, or Subcontractors, Contractor shall make the changes necessary to correct the condition as directed by Construction Manager.

[NO FURTHER TEXT ON THIS PAGE]

ARTICLE 17 - PROTECTION OF RIGHTS, PERSONS AND PROPERTY

17.1 Accident Prevention

Contractor shall at all times take every precaution against injuries to persons or damage to property and for the safety of persons engaged in the performance of the Work.

17.2 Safety Programs

Contractor shall be responsible for the initiation, maintenance and supervision of safety precautions and programs as prescribed by Construction Manager in connection with the Work.

17.3 Protection of Work and Property

(a) Contractor shall at all times guard BPCA's property from injury or loss in connection with the Work. Contractor shall at all times guard and protect the Site, the Work and adjacent property. Contractor shall replace or make good any such loss or injury unless such loss or injury is caused directly by BPCA.

(b) Contractor shall have full responsibility to install, protect and maintain all Materials in proper condition and forthwith repair, replace and make good any damage thereto until Final Acceptance of the Work.

(c) No provision is included for stresses or loads imposed by construction operations. If Contractor desires to place such loads in excess of the design load (as shown on the Drawings or Specifications), Contractor shall submit to Engineer drawings and calculations prepared by, and bearing the seal of a professional engineer, showing the proposed method for supporting such loads, for Engineer's review and approval. No loading of any kind in excess of design loads shall be placed on any part of the Project prior to Engineer's approval of such submitted drawings and calculations. The costs of the Engineer's review shall be reimbursed to BPCA by Contractor.

(d) Contractor shall be responsible for all cutting, fitting or patching that may be required to complete the Work, to make its several parts fit together properly and to make the Work fit together properly with previous and surrounding work. The requirement to cut, fit or patch shall be determined by Construction Manager; provided, that structural elements of the Project shall not be cut, patched, or otherwise altered or repaired without prior authorization by BPCA. Authorization to proceed with remedial operation on any damaged or defective element or portion of the Project shall not constitute a limitation or a waiver of BPCA's, Construction Manager's or Engineer's right to require the removal and replacement of any Work which fails to fulfill the requirements of the Contract Documents.

17.4 Adjoining Property

Contractor shall protect all adjoining property and shall repair or replace any such property damaged or destroyed during the progress of the Work.

17.5 Risks Assumed by Contractor

(a) Contractor solely assumes the following risk whether such risk arises from acts or omissions (whether negligent or not and whether supervisory or otherwise) of BPCA, Construction Manager, of Engineer or Contractor, of any Subcontractor, of any Materialman, of third persons or from any other cause, including unforeseen obstacles and difficulties which may be encountered in the prosecution of the Work, whether such risk is within or beyond the control of Contractor and whether such risk involves any legal duty, primary or otherwise, imposed upon BPCA:

The risk of loss or damage, direct or indirect, of whatever nature, to the Work or to any Materials furnished, used, installed or received by BPCA, Contractor or any Subcontractor, Materialmen or workmen performing services or furnishing Materials for the Work, whether such Work or Materials are stored at the Site or at an offsite location in accordance with Section 5.4 hereof. Contractor shall bear such risk of loss or damage until Final Acceptance of the Work by BPCA or until completion of such Materials or removal of such Materials from the Site following a determination that they will no longer be needed for the Project and delivery to the location at which they are to be subsequently stored or disposed of, whichever event occurs last. A portion of the risk of such loss or damage may be insured against under the terms of a "builder's risk" insurance policy maintained in the name of Contractor, among others, as described in Section 13.1(i). Notwithstanding the status of any actual or potential recovery or claim under the said "builder's risk" insurance policy, in the event of any loss or damage, Contractor immediately shall repair, replace or make good any such loss or damage.

(b) Contractor shall not, without obtaining express advance permission of BPCA, raise any defense involving in any way the: (i) jurisdiction of any court in which BPCA brings an action arising under this Agreement, (ii) the governmental nature of BPCA, or (iii) the provisions of any statutes respecting suits against BPCA.

(c) Contractor's obligations under this Article 17 shall not be deemed waived, limited or discharged by the enumeration or procurement of any insurance for liability for damages.

(d) Neither Final Acceptance of the Work nor any payment made hereunder shall release Contractor from Contractor's obligations under this Article 17. The enumeration elsewhere in this Agreement of particular risks assumed by Contractor or of particular claims for which Contractor is responsible shall not be deemed to limit the effect of the provisions of this Article 17 or to imply that Contractor assumes or is responsible for only risks or claims of the type enumerated; and neither the enumeration in this Article 17 nor the enumeration elsewhere in this Agreement of particular risks assumed by Contractor of particular claims for which Contractor is responsible shall be deemed to limit the risks which Contractor would assume or the claims for which Contractor would be responsible in the absence of such enumerations.

(e) The Contractor is advised that the Work under this Agreement may impose certain obligations and requirements mandated by the U.S. Department of Labor Occupational Safety and Health Administration regulations, Title 29 CFR Part 1926.62 Lead Exposure in Construction, relative to the potential exposure to lead by its employees. The Contractor assumes entire responsibility and liability for complying fully in all respects with these regulations.

(f) Contractor agrees that any unsatisfied claims of the BPCA arising from Contractor's obligations under this Article 17 or Article 13 (Insurance) may be offset or deducted

by BPCA from any payments due to Contractor hereunder.

ARTICLE 18 - USE PRIOR TO ACCEPTANCE BY BPCA

(a) If before Final Acceptance of Work, BPCA desires to use the Site or any part thereof that is completed or partly completed, or to place or install therein or thereon equipment, BPCA shall have the right to do so, and Contractor shall in no way interfere with or object to such use by BPCA.

(b) Such use shall not (1) constitute acceptance of space, systems, Materials or elements of the Work, (2) affect the start of any guaranty period, nor (3) affect the obligations of Contractor to complete the Work in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement or other obligations of Contractor under the Contract Documents.

(c) Contractor shall continue the performance of the Work in a manner that shall not unreasonably interfere with such use by BPCA.

ARTICLE 19 - EXEMPTION FROM SALES AND COMPENSATING USE TAXES

19.1 BPCA Exempt

BPCA is exempt from payment of sales and compensating use taxes of the State of New York and of cities and counties thereof on all Materials that will become an integral component of the completed Project pursuant to this Agreement.

19.2 Certificates

Contractor shall obtain and cause Subcontractors and Materialmen to obtain any and all necessary certificates or other documentation from the appropriate governmental agency or agencies, and use such certificates or other documentation as required by law, rule or regulations to obtain said tax exemption.

ARTICLE 20 - WARRANTIES AND GUARANTIES

20.1 In General

(a) Contractor guarantees that all Work performed and all Materials furnished will conform to the Contract Documents as to kind, quality, functions, design and characteristics of material and workmanship. Contractor shall remove, replace and repair, at its sole cost and expense, all defects in workmanship, Materials, ratings, capacities, or design characteristics occurring in or to the Work including, without limitation, any portion of the Work furnished or performed by any Subcontractor or Materialman, within one year from the date of Final Acceptance. Contractor guarantees that all Work performed and all Materials furnished will conform to the Contract Documents as to kind, quality, functions, design and characteristics of material and workmanship. Contractor hereby acknowledges that BPCA may be required to incur substantial expense if correction of the Work is required particularly if such correction involves the uncovering, removal or replacement of concrete, wiring and piping installed at the Site. If Contractor shall fail to reimburse BPCA for any such expense which may become payable as

provided in this paragraph, BPCA shall be entitled to deduct such expense from any payments required to be made by BPCA to Contractor pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor, upon demand, shall pay for any and all damage to any Work affected by or from such defects and all expenses necessary to remove, replace and repair such Work that may be damaged in removing, replacing or repairing such defects.

(b) The benefits of this Article 20 shall inure to the benefit of BPCA and its respective successors and assigns. In addition, any bond or guaranty that may be required of Contractor or any Subcontractor or Materialman under the Contract Documents shall inure to the benefit of BPCA and its respective successors and assigns.

(c) The rights and remedies afforded BPCA under this Section are in addition to and not in lieu of and do not in any way affect, change, alter, modify, vary or prejudice any right, remedy or recourse that BPCA may have under other provisions of this Agreement or pursuant to law.

20.2 Additional Guaranties

In addition to the general guaranty set forth in Section 20.1, any other guaranties set forth in the Contract Documents shall be applicable. The Contractor shall obtain all manufacturers' warranties and guarantees of all equipment and materials required by this Contract in the name of BPCA and shall deliver same to BPCA; provided that the delivery of such manufacturers' warranties and guarantees shall in no respect relieve the Contractor of its obligations under the preceding provisions of this Article.

20.3 Repair by Another

If BPCA has requested Contractor to correct any Work and Contractor shall not have completed any correction of the Work as shall be required pursuant to this Article 20 within ten (10) working days after receipt of written notice from BPCA specifying the defect or damage required to be removed, replaced or repaired, or if such defect or damage is of such a nature that it cannot be completely removed, repaired and replaced within such ten (10) day period and Contractor shall not have diligently commenced removing, repairing and replacing such defect and damage within such ten (10) day period or shall not thereafter with reasonable diligence and in good faith proceed to do such work, BPCA may employ such other person, firm or corporation as it may choose, to perform such removal, replacement and repair, and Contractor shall, upon demand, pay to BPCA all amounts that BPCA expends for such removal, replacement and repair.

ARTICLE 21 - INDEMNITY

21.1 Delay or Failure

Contractor and its sureties shall be responsible for and pay to BPCA, all loss, damage and additional cost incurred by reasons or on account of (i) the unexcused delays of Contractor (determined as set forth in Section 3.1 hereof) or (ii) Contractor's failure to fully and completely carry out the terms of this Agreement.

21.2 Inventions

In addition to the indemnity set forth in Section 17.5(a), Contractor shall indemnify and hold BPCA harmless from all claims, demands or liabilities of any kind or nature, including costs and expenses, for or on account of any patented or unpatented plan, design, invention, article, arrangement, appliance, Material, or preparation, manufactured, used or followed in the performance of or incident to the Work hereunder, and shall defend any and all actions arising out of the same. In the event of any injunction or legal action by reason thereof, which shall operate to stop or retard the Work, BPCA shall have the right to substitute such other articles of like kind as will enable it to complete the Project, and all costs and expenses occasioned thereby shall be borne by Contractor.

21.3 Liability

To the fullest extent allowed by law, Contractor shall hold BPCA, BPCPC, the State of New York, Construction Manager and Engineer and their servants, agents and employees harmless from and shall indemnify them against any and all liability, loss, cost, damage or expense, including attorneys' fees, by reason of claims of Contractors employees or employees of its Subcontractors or Materialmen for injuries or death or by reason of claims of any other person or persons, including BPCA, BPCPC, the State of New York, Construction Manager, and Engineer and their servants, agents or employees, for injuries to person or property or for death occasioned in whole or in part by any act or omission of Contractor, its Subcontractors and Materialmen and their servants, agents and employees whether or not it is contended that BPCA contributed thereto or was responsible therefor by reason of nondelegable duty. If, however, this indemnification is limited by applicable law, then the said indemnification hereby shall be similarly limited to conform with such law, it being the intention that this indemnification shall be as permitted by applicable law. BPCA may retain any monies due or to become due hereunder sufficient to indemnify BPCA, BPCPC, the State of New York, Construction Manager, and Engineer and their servants, agents and employees against such injuries, claims, suits, actions, costs or damages should any such claim arise. Contractor shall, at the sole option of BPCA and upon written demand of BPCA, assume the defense in behalf of BPCA, BPCPC, the State of New York, Construction Manager, and Engineer or their servants, agents or employees of any action or proceeding commenced against them whether or not Contractor is named as a party therein as part of Contractor's aforementioned obligation to indemnify and hold them harmless.

ARTICLE 22 - PATENTS AND ROYALTIES

(a) In the prosecution of the Work, Contractor will not use or furnish any patented appliance, article, device or method of construction unless it has authorization for such use. Contractor shall pay all royalty and license fees.

(b) Any approval of Materials by Engineer shall be construed merely as an approval of their adequacy for the Work.

(c) Contractor will be responsible for all claims against BPCA for the infringement of any patents. Contractor shall defend all suits and claims for infringement of any patent rights and shall indemnify and hold BPCA harmless from loss on account thereof. Any expenses incurred by

Contractor in connection with suits and claims will not offset the Contract Price.

(d) Contractor hereby and presently grants to BPCA an irrevocable and non-exclusive license to utilize all of the Contractor's rights in and to all:

- (1) United States patents and patents registered in any other foreign country;
- (2) proprietary knowledge, data and trade secrets; and
- (3) Engineering data and information necessary in connection with and solely in connection with, all work performed by BPCA or other contractors hired by BPCA to complete the work after termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 15.1.

Each Purchase Order and Subcontract shall contain a similar clause with respect to the rights of Subcontractor and Materialman in and to the foregoing, in form and substance acceptable to BPCA, granting BPCA the aforesaid license. BPCA shall not be obligated to pay any royalties, license fees or any other consideration to Contractor or any Subcontractor or Materialman for this license. Contractor and each Subcontractor and Materialman shall execute a separate license agreement, in form and substance satisfactory to BPCA, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, or any Subcontract or Purchase Order, or within ten (10) days thereafter, embodying the terms of this Section. On request, Contractor and each Subcontractor and Materialman shall furnish BPCA with copies of all related Engineering and technical data required to complete the work.

ARTICLE 23 - AS-BUILT DRAWINGS

(a) Contractor shall be furnished by BPCA, at BPCA's expense, with one physical set and two electronic copies (on disk) of 48" x 36" Drawings, on which Contractor, where applicable, shall record the installation of underground utilities, concealed piping, concealed valves and control equipment and record changes in the Work. Such recording shall be kept current and include final and actual sizes as well as the location and elevation of the above figures and offset distances in feet and inches to permanent surface improvements such as buildings, retaining walls or curbs. During the progress of the Work, at the request of Construction Manager and prior to the approval of any Requisition of Contractor, Contractor shall provide a 48" x 36" PDF to BPCA of the up to-date Drawings showing the Work as installed. At completion of the Work, Contractor shall complete, sign and date the 48" x 36" physical set of Drawings and deliver it to Engineer. The delivery to, and approval of, the as-built drawings to the Engineer shall be a condition precedent to Contractor's receipt of final payment as set forth in Section 5.8.

(b) After review by Engineer and return to Contractor for any required changes, Contractor shall furnish to BPCA, at Contractor's expense, at least one physical set and two electronic copies (on disk) of 48" x 36" final Drawings.

[NO FURTHER TEXT ON THIS PAGE]

ARTICLE 24 - SHOP DRAWINGS AND SAMPLES

24.1 Contractor Submittal

Contractor shall submit to Construction Manager the shop drawings, Product Data and Samples required by the Contract Documents and shall adhere to all submittal and scheduling requirements with respect thereto. After review of such shop drawings, Product Data and Samples by Construction Manager and their approval by Engineer, each of such items shall be returned in accordance with the procedures established therefor.

24.2 Contractor's Responsibility

Engineer's approval of shop drawings, Product Data and Samples shall not relieve Contractor of responsibility for and deviation from the requirements of the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be responsible for the accuracy of the shop drawings, Product Data and Samples and for the conformity of Documents unless Contractor has notified Engineer of the deviation in writing at the time of submission and has received from Engineer written approval by separate letter of the specified deviations. Engineer's approval shall not relieve Contractor of responsibility for errors or omissions in the shop drawings, Product Data or Samples.

ARTICLE 25 – NOTICES

Whenever it is provided herein that notice, demand, request, consent, approval or other communication shall or may be given to, or served upon, either of the parties by the other, or whenever either of the parties desires to give or serve upon the other any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or other communication with respect hereto, each such notice, demand, request, consent, approval or other communication shall be in writing and shall be effective for any purpose only if given or served by hand with proof of delivery, by delivery by an overnight courier service which obtains receipts, or by mailing the same by express or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed to:

(a) if to BPCA:

Battery Park City Authority Attn: Vice President Real Property 200 Liberty Street, 24th Fl. New York, NY 10281

with a copy to: General Counsel, at the same address

or to such other address as BPCA may from time to time designate in the manner set forth above.

(b) if to Contractor:

[INSERT ADDRESS]

or to such other addresses as Contractor may from time to time designate in the manner set forth above.

(c) if to Construction Manager:

LiRo Attn: Laura Gray, Chief Engineer 3 Aerial Way Syosset, New York 11791.

or to such other addresses as Construction Manager may from time to time designate in the manner set forth above.

(d) if to Engineer:

AECOM USA, Inc. Attn: Antoine AbiDargham, Senior Vice President 605 Third Avenue New York, New York 10158

or to such other addresses as Engineer may from time to time designate in the manner set forth above.

Every notice, demand, request, consent, approval or other communication hereunder shall be deemed to have been given or served (i) in the case of express or certified mail, on the date the receipt is dated by the Post Office or express mail carrier, as the case may be, and (ii) in the case of notice by hand or by overnight courier service, upon delivery, as evidenced by a signed receipt.

ARTICLE 26 – EMPLOYMENT AND DIVERSITY

- 26.1 Participation by Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises
- (a) General Provisions

(1) Owner is required to implement the provisions of New York State Executive Law Article 15-A and Parts 140-145 of Title 5 of the New York Codes, Rules and Regulations ("NYCRR") for all contracts, as defined therein, with a value (1) in excess of \$25,000 for labor, services, equipment, materials, or any combination of the foregoing or (2) in excess of \$100,000 for real property renovations and construction.

(2) Contractor agrees, in addition to any other nondiscrimination provision herein and at no additional cost to Owner, to fully comply and cooperate with Owner in the implementation of New York State Executive Law Article 15-A and the regulations promulgated thereunder. These requirements include equal employment opportunities for minority group members and women ("EEO") and contracting opportunities for New York State-certified minority and women-owned business enterprises ("MWBEs"). Contractor's demonstration of "good faith efforts" pursuant to 5 NYCRR § 142.8 shall be a part of these requirements. These provisions shall be deemed supplementary to, and not in lieu of, the nondiscrimination provisions required by New York State Executive Law Article 15 (the "Human Rights Law") and other applicable federal, state, and local laws.

(3) Failure to comply with all of the requirements herein may result in a finding of non-responsiveness, non-responsibility and/or a breach of contract, leading to the assessment of liquidated damages pursuant to Section 26.1(g) and such other remedies as are available to Owner.

(b) Contract Goals

(1) For purposes of this Contract, Owner hereby establishes an overall goal of <u>30%</u> for MWBE participation, <u>15%</u> for New York State-certified minority-owned business enterprise ("MBE") participation and <u>15%</u> for New York State-certified women-owned business enterprise ("WBE") participation (collectively, "MWBE Contract Goals") based on the current availability of MBEs and WBEs.

(2) For purposes of providing meaningful participation by MWBEs on the Agreement, Contractor should reference the directory of MWBEs at the following internet address: <u>https://ny.newnycontracts.com</u>.

(3) Additionally, Contractor is encouraged to contact the Division of Minority and Women's Business Development at (212) 803-2414 to discuss additional methods of maximizing participation by MWBEs on this Agreement.

(4) Contractor understands that only sums paid to MWBEs for the performance of a commercially useful function, as that term is defined in 5 NYCRR § 140.1, may be applied towards the achievement of the applicable MWBE participation goal. The portion of a contract with an MWBE serving as a supplier that shall be deemed to represent the commercially useful function performed by the MWBE shall be 60% of the total value of the contract. The portion of a contract with an MWBE serving as a broker that shall be deemed to represent the commercially useful function performed by the MWBE shall be the monetary value for fees, or the markup percentage, charged by the MWBE.

(5) Contractor must document "good faith efforts," pursuant to 5 NYCRR § 142.8, to provide meaningful participation by MWBEs as Subcontractors and suppliers in the performance of this Agreement. Such documentation shall include, but not necessarily be limited to:

- (A) Evidence of outreach to MWBEs;
- (B) Any responses by MWBEs to Contractor's outreach;
- (C) Copies of advertisements for participation by MWBEs in appropriate general circulation, trade, and minority or womenoriented publications;
- (D) The dates of attendance at any pre-bid, pre-award, or other meetings, if any, scheduled by Owner with MWBEs; and,
- (E) Information describing specific steps undertaken by Contractor to reasonably structure the Work to maximize opportunities for MWBE participation.
- (c) Equal Employment Opportunity ("EEO")

(1) The provisions of Article 15-A of the Executive Law and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder pertaining to equal employment opportunities for minority group members and women shall apply to this Agreement.

(2) In performing the Agreement, Contractor shall:

(A) Ensure that each Contractor and Subcontractor performing work on the Agreement shall undertake or continue existing EEO programs to ensure that minority group members and women are afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability or marital status. For these purposes, EEO shall apply in the areas of recruitment, employment, job assignment, promotion, upgrading, demotion, transfer, layoff, or termination and rates of pay or other forms of compensation.

(B) Contractor shall submit an EEO policy statement to Owner within seventy-two (72) hours after the date of the notice by Owner to award the Agreement to Contractor.

(C) If Contractor, or any of its Subcontractors, does not have an existing EEO policy statement, Owner may require Contractor or Subcontractor to adopt a model statement (see Exhibit D – Equal Employment Opportunity Policy Statement).

language:

(D) Contractor's EEO policy statement shall include the following

(i) Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, or marital status, will undertake or continue existing EEO programs to ensure that minority group members and women are afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination, and shall make and document its conscientious and active efforts to employ and utilize minority group members and women in its work force.

(ii) Contractor shall state in all solicitations or advertisements for employees that, in the performance of the contract, all qualified applicants will be afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability or marital status.

(iii) Contractor shall request each employment agency, labor union, or authorized representative of workers with which it has a collective bargaining or other agreement or understanding, to furnish a written statement that such employment agency, labor union, or representative will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, sex age, disability or marital status and that such union or representative will affirmatively cooperate in the implementation of Contractor's obligations herein.

(iv) Contractor will include the provisions of Sections 26.1(c)(2)(D)(i) through (iii), which provides for relevant provisions of the Human Rights Law, in every subcontract in such a manner that the requirements of the subdivisions will be binding upon each Subcontractor as to the Work.

(3) Staffing Plan. To ensure compliance with this Section, Contractor shall submit a staffing plan to document the composition of the proposed workforce to be utilized in the performance of the Agreement by the specified categories listed, including ethnic background, gender, and Federal occupational categories. Contractor shall complete the staffing plan form (https://www.ogs.ny.gov/MWBE/Docs/EEO100.docx) and submit it as part of their bid or proposal or within a reasonable time, as directed by Owner.

(4) Workforce Utilization Report

(A) Contractor shall submit a Workforce Utilization Report (<u>https://its.ny.gov/sites/default/files/documents/eeo_workforce_utilization_report.xlsx</u>) and shall require each of its Subcontractors to submit a Workforce Utilization Report, in such form as shall be required by Owner on a monthly basis during the term of this Agreement.

(B) Separate forms shall be completed by Contractor and any Subcontractors.

(C) Pursuant to Executive Order #162, Contractors and Subcontractors are also required to report the gross wages paid to each of their employees for the work performed by such employees on the contract on a monthly basis.

(5) Contractor shall comply with the provisions of the Human Rights Law, and all other State and Federal statutory and constitutional non-discrimination provisions. Contractor and its Subcontractors shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed (religion), color, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, military status, age, disability, predisposing genetic characteristic, marital status or domestic violence victim status, and shall also follow the requirements of the Human Rights Law with regard to non-discrimination on the basis of prior criminal conviction and prior arrest.

(d) MWBE Utilization Plan

(i) Contractor represents and warrants that Contractor has submitted an MWBE Utilization Plan, or shall submit an MWBE Utilization Plan at such time as shall be required by Owner, through the New York State Contract System ("NYSCS"), which can be viewed at https://ny.newnycontracts.com, provided, however, that Contractor may arrange to provide such evidence via a non-electronic method to Owner, either prior to, or at the time of, the execution of the contract.

(ii) Contractor agrees to adhere to such MWBE Utilization Plan in the performance of the Work.

(iii) Contractor further agrees that failure to submit and/or adhere to such MWBE Utilization Plan shall constitute a material breach of the terms of the Agreement. Upon the occurrence of such a material breach, Owner shall be entitled to any remedy provided herein, including but not limited to, a finding that Contractor is non-responsive.

(e) Waivers

(i) If Contractor, after making good faith efforts, is unable to achieve the MWBE Contract Goals stated herein, Contractor may submit a request for a waiver through the NYSCS, or a non-electronic method provided by Owner. Such waiver request must be supported by evidence of Contractor's good faith efforts to achieve the maximum feasible MWBE participation towards the applicable MWBE Contract Goals. If the documentation included with the waiver request is complete, Owner shall evaluate the request and issue a written notice of approval or denial within twenty (20) business days of receipt.

(ii) If Owner, upon review of the MWBE Utilization Plan, quarterly MWBE Contractor Compliance Reports described in Section 26.1(c)(iv)(C), or any other relevant information, determines that Contractor is failing or refusing to comply with the MWBE Contract Goals, and no waiver has been issued in regards to such non-compliance, Owner may issue a notice of deficiency to Contractor. Contractor must respond to the notice of deficiency within seven (7) business days of receipt. Such response may include a request for partial or total waiver of MWBE Contract Goals.

(f) Contractor is required to submit a quarterly MWBE Contractor Compliance Report through the NYSCS, provided, however, that Contractor may arrange to provide such report via a non-electronic method to Owner by the 10th day following the end of each quarter during the term of the Agreement.

(g) Liquidated Damages - MWBE Participation

(1) Where Owner determines that Contractor is not in compliance with the requirements of this Section 26.1 and Contractor refuses to comply with such requirements, or if Contractor is found to have willfully and intentionally failed to comply with the MWBE participation goals, Contractor shall be obligated to pay to Owner liquidated damages.

(2) Such liquidated damages shall be calculated as an amount equaling the difference between:

(A) All sums identified for payment to MWBEs had Contractor achieved the contractual MWBE goals; and

(B) All sums actually paid to MWBEs for work performed or materials supplied under the Agreement.

(3) In the event a determination has been made which requires the payment of liquidated damages and such identified sums have not been withheld by Owner, Contractor shall pay such liquidated damages to Owner within sixty (60) days after they are assessed. Provided, however, that if Contractor has filed a complaint with the Director of the Division of Minority and Women's Business Development pursuant to 5 NYCRR § 142.12, liquidated damages shall be payable only in the event of a determination adverse to Contractor following the complaint process.

26.2 Participation by Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Businesses

(a) General Provisions

Article 17-B of the New York State Executive Law provides for more meaningful participation in public procurement by New York State-certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Businesses ("SDVOB"), thereby further integrating such businesses into New York State's economy. Owner recognizes the need to promote the employment of service-disabled veterans and to ensure that certified service-disabled veteran-owned businesses have opportunities for maximum feasible participation in the performance of Owner contracts.

In recognition of the service and sacrifices made by service-disabled veterans and in recognition of their economic activity in doing business in New York State, Contractors are expected to consider SDVOBs in the fulfillment of the requirements of the Agreement. Such participation may be as Subcontractors or suppliers, as protégés, or in other partnering or supporting roles.

(b) Contract Goals

(i) Owner hereby establishes an overall goal of <u>6%</u> for SDVOB participation, based on the current availability of qualified SDVOBs. For purposes of providing meaningful participation by SDVOBs, the Contractor should reference the directory of New York State Certified SDVOBs found at: <u>http://ogs.ny.gov/Core/docs/CertifiedNYS_SDVOB.pdf</u>. Questions regarding compliance with SDVOB participation goals should be directed to Justin McLaughlin-Williams at <u>justin.mclaughlin-williams@bpca.ny.gov</u> or (212) 417-2337. Additionally, following execution of this Agreement, Contractor is encouraged to contact the Office of General Services' Division of Service-Disabled Veterans' Business Development at 518-474-2015 or VeteransDevelopment@ogs.ny.gov to discuss additional methods of maximizing participation by SDVOBs on the Agreement.

(ii) Contractor must document "good faith efforts" to provide meaningful participation by SDVOBs as subcontractors or suppliers in the performance of the Contract (see Section 26.2(d) below).

(c) SDVOB Utilization Plan

(i) In accordance with 9 NYCRR § 252.2(i), Contractors are required to submit a completed SDVOB Utilization Plan on Form SDVOB 100 (https://ogs.ny.gov/Veterans/Docs/2016/SDVOB 100_Utilization Plan.docx) with their bid.

(ii) The Utilization Plan shall list the SDVOBs that Contractor intends to use to perform the Work, a description of the Work that Contractor intends the SDVOB to perform to meet the goals on the Agreement, the estimated dollar amounts to be paid to an SDVOB, or, if not known, an estimate of the percentage of Work the SDVOB will perform. By signing the Utilization Plan, Contractor acknowledges that making false representations or providing information that shows a lack of good faith as part of, or in conjunction with, the submission of a Utilization Plan is prohibited by law and may result in penalties including, but not limited to, termination of a contract for cause, loss of eligibility to submit future bids, and/or withholding of payments. Any modifications or changes to the agreed participation by SDVOBs after the contract award and during the term of the Agreement must be reported on a revised SDVOB Utilization Plan and submitted to Owner.

(iii) Owner will review the submitted SDVOB Utilization Plan and advise the Contractor of Owner acceptance or issue a notice of deficiency within 20 days of receipt.

If a notice of deficiency is issued, Contractor agrees that it shall respond to (iv) the notice of deficiency, within seven business days of receipt, by submitting to Owner a written remedy in response to the notice of deficiency. If the written remedy that is submitted is not timely or is found by Owner to be inadequate, Owner shall notify Contractor and direct the Contractor to submit, within five business days of notification by Owner, a request for a partial or total waiver participation Form of **SDVOB** goals on SDVOB 200 (https://ogs.ny.gov/Veterans/Docs/2016/SDVOB 200 Waiver Form.docx). Failure to file the waiver form in a timely manner may be grounds for disqualification of the bid or proposal.

(v) Owner may disqualify a Contractor's bid or proposal as being non-responsive under the following circumstances:

- (A) If Contractor fails to submit an SDVOB Utilization Plan;
- (B) If Contractor fails to submit a written remedy to a notice of deficiency;
- (C) If Contractor fails to submit a request for waiver; or
- (D) If Owner determines that Contractor has failed to document good faith efforts.

(vi) Contractor certifies that it will follow the submitted SDVOB Utilization Plan for the performance of SDVOBs on the Agreement pursuant to the prescribed SDVOB contract goals set forth above.

(vii) Contractor further agrees that a failure to use SDVOBs as agreed in the Utilization Plan shall constitute a material breach of the terms of the Contract. Upon the occurrence of such a material breach, Owner shall be entitled to any remedy provided herein, including but not limited to, a finding of Contractor non-responsibility.

(d) Waivers

(i) Prior to submission of a request for a partial or total waiver, Contractor shall speak to Justin McLaughlin-Williams at Justin.McLaughlin-Williams@bpca.ny.gov or (212) 417-2337 for guidance.

(ii) In accordance with 9 NYCRR § 252.2(m), a Contractor that is able to document good faith efforts to meet the goal requirements, as set forth in Section 26.2(e) below, may submit a request for a partial or total waiver on Form SDVOB 200 (https://ogs.ny.gov/Veterans/Docs/2016/SDVOB 200 Waiver_Form.docx), accompanied by supporting documentation. Contractor may submit the request for waiver at the same time it submits its SDVOB Utilization Plan. If a request for waiver is submitted with the SDVOB Utilization Plan and is not accepted by Owner at that time, the provisions of Section 26.2(c)(iii),

(iv) and (v) will apply. If the documentation included with the Contractor's waiver request is complete, Owner shall evaluate the request and issue a written notice of acceptance or denial within 20 days of receipt.

(iii) Contractor shall attempt to utilize, in good faith, the SDVOBs identified within its SDVOB Utilization Plan, during the performance of the Work. Requests for a partial or total waiver of established goal requirements made subsequent to award of the Agreement may be made at any time during the term of the Agreement to Owner, but must be made no later than prior to the submission of a request for final payment.

(iv) If Owner, upon review of the SDVOB Utilization Plan and Monthly SDVOB Compliance Report determines that Contractor is failing or refusing to comply with the contract goals and no waiver has been issued in regards to such non-compliance, Owner may issue a notice of deficiency to the Contractor. The Contractor must respond to the notice of deficiency within seven business days of receipt. Such response may include a request for partial or total waiver of SDVOB contract goals. Waiver requests should be sent to Owner.

(e) Required Good Faith Efforts. In accordance with 9 NYCRR § 252.2(n), Contractors must document their good faith efforts toward utilizing SDVOBs on the Agreement. Evidence of required good faith efforts shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

(i) Copies of solicitations to SDVOBs and any responses thereto.

(ii) Explanation of the specific reasons each SDVOB that responded to Contractors' solicitation was not selected.

(iii) Dates of any pre-bid, pre-award or other meetings attended by Contractor, if any, scheduled by Owner with certified SDVOBs whom Owner determined were capable of fulfilling the SDVOB goals set in the Agreement.

(iv) Information describing the specific steps undertaken to reasonably structure the Work for the purpose of subcontracting with, or obtaining supplies from, certified SDVOBs.

(v) Other information deemed relevant to the waiver request.

(f) Monthly SDVOB Contractor Compliance Report

In accordance with 9 NYCRR § 252.2(q), Contractor is required to report Monthly SDVOB Contractor Compliance to Owner during the term of the Agreement for the preceding month's activity, documenting progress made towards achieving the SDVOB goals. This submitted **SDVOB** 101 information must be using form available at https://ogs.ny.gov/Veterans/Docs/2016/SDVOB_101_Monthly_Compliance%20_Report.docx and should be completed by the Contractor and submitted to Owner, by the 10th day of each month during the term of the Contract, for the preceding month's activity to: Justin McLaughlin-Williams at justin.mclaughlin-williams@bpca.ny.gov.

(g) Breach of Contract and Damages

In accordance with 9 NYCRR § 252.2(s), any Contractor found to have willfully and intentionally failed to comply with the SDVOB participation goals set forth in this Agreement, shall be found to have breached the Agreement and Contractor shall pay damages as set forth therein.

ARTICLE 27 - STANDARD PROVISIONS

27.1 Provision Required by Law Deemed Inserted

Each and every provision of law and governmental regulation required by law to be inserted in the Contract Documents shall be deemed to be inserted therein and this Agreement shall read and shall be enforced as though so included therein, and if through mistake or otherwise any such provision is not inserted, or is not correctly inserted, then upon the application of either party, this Agreement shall be deemed to be amended to make such insertion or correction. If this Agreement contains any unlawful provision, the same shall be deemed of no effect and shall, upon the application of either party, be deemed stricken from this Agreement without affecting the binding force of the remainder.

27.2 Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations

Contractor and each Subcontractor and Materialman shall comply fully with all applicable laws, rules and regulations pertaining to the Project and the Work.

27.3 Applicable Law, Forum and Jurisdiction

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York. All actions or proceedings relating, directly or indirectly, to this Agreement shall be litigated only in courts located within the County of New York. Contractor, any guarantor of the performance of its obligations hereunder (including sureties for Payment and Performance Bonds) ("**Guarantor**") and their successors and assigns hereby subject themselves to the jurisdiction of any state or federal court located within such county, waive the personal service of any process upon them in any action or proceeding therein and consent that such process be served by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, directed to the Contractor and any successor at Contractor's address hereinabove set forth, to Guarantor and any successor at the address set forth in the instrument of guaranty and to any assignee at the address set forth in the instrument of assignment. Such service shall be deemed made as of the date of the return receipt.

27.4 No Third Party Rights

Nothing in this Agreement shall create or shall give to third parties any claim or right of action against BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer beyond such as may legally exist irrespective of this Agreement.

27.5 Exculpation; Limitation of Liability

In no event shall any claim be asserted under this Agreement by Contractor or any

Subcontractor or Materialman against any member, officer, employee, lessee, Contractor or agent of BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer. By execution of this Agreement, Contractor agrees to look solely to BPCA with respect to any claim which may arise. It is hereby understood by and between the parties hereto that BPCA shall only be liable to the extent of monies available to BPCA.

27.6 Protection of Lives and Health

(a) Contractor's, Subcontractor's and Materialman's attention is specifically called to the rules and regulations, codes and bulletins of the New York State Department of Labor. Attention is also directed to the standards imposed under the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended.

(b) Contractor shall maintain an accurate record of all cases of death, occupational disease, and injury requiring medical attention or causing loss of time from work, arising out of and in the course of employment on work under this Agreement, and shall immediately notify BPCA in writing of any injury which results in hospitalization or death. Contractor shall also complete and submit to BPCA the "Incident Report Form" attached hereto and made a part hereof as <u>Exhibit E</u> within 48 hours of the occurrence of any such injury.

(c) Contractor alone shall be responsible for the safety, efficiency and adequacy of contractor's work, plant, appliances and methods, and for any damage that may result from the failure, or the improper construction, maintenance, or operation of such work, plant, appliances and methods.

27.7 Waiver of Immunity Clause

Contractor hereby agrees to the provisions of New York Public Authorities Law Section 2875, which require that a person, when called before a grand jury, head of a State department, temporary State commission, or other State agency, the Organized Crime Task Force in the State Department of Law, head of a department or other City agency, which is empowered to compel the attendance of witnesses and examine them under oath, to testify in an investigation concerning any transaction or contract had with the State, any political subdivision thereof, or with any public department, agency or official of the State or of any political subdivision thereof or of a public authority, that person must sign a waiver of immunity against subsequent criminal prosecution or to answer any relevant questions concerning such transaction or contract. Upon the refusal of any person to comply with such provisions:

(a) such person, and any firm, partnership or corporation of which such person is a member, partner, director or officer shall be disqualified from thereafter selling to or submitting bids to or receiving awards from or entering into any contracts with any public authority or official thereof, for goods, work or services, for a period of five (5) years after such refusal; and

(b) any and all contracts made with any public authority or official thereof, by such person, and by any firm, partnership or corporation of which such person is a member, partner, director or officer may be canceled or terminated by the public authority without incurring any penalty or damages on account of such cancellation or termination, but any monies owing by the

public authority for goods delivered or work done prior to the cancellation or termination shall be paid.

27.8 Prohibited Interests

No official of BPCA who is authorized in such capacity and on behalf of BPCA to negotiate, make, accept, or approve, or take part in negotiating, making, accepting, or approving any Architectural, Engineering, inspection, Purchase Order or any Subcontract in connection with the Work, shall become directly or indirectly interested personally in the Agreement. Contractor is advised that no official or employee of BPCA is permitted to indirectly solicit, accept, or receive gifts whether in the form of money, service, loan, travel, entertainment, hospitality, thing or promise, or in any other form. No officer, employee, architect, attorney, engineer, inspector or Contractor of or for BPCA who is authorized in such capacity and on behalf of BPCA to exercise any legislative, executive, supervisory or other similar functions in connection with the Work, shall become directly or indirectly interested personally in the Agreement, any Purchase Order, Subcontract, insurance contract, or any other contract pertaining to the Work.

27.9 Labor Provisions

(a) It is hereby agreed that all applicable provision of the Labor Law of the State of New York shall be carried out in the performance of the Work.

(b) Contractor specifically agrees, as required by New York Labor Law Sections 220 and 220-d as amended, that:

(1) no laborer, workman or mechanic, in the employ of Contractor, Subcontractor, Materialman or other person doing or contracting to do the whole or any part of the Work contemplated by the Contract Documents shall be permitted or required to work more than eight (8) hours in any one calendar day or more than five (5) days in any one week, except in the emergencies set forth in the Labor Law.

(2) the wages paid for a legal day's work shall be not less than the prevailing rate of wages as defined by law;

(3) the minimum hourly rate of wage to be paid shall be not less than that stated in the Contract Documents and as shall be designated by the Industrial Commissioner of the State of New York; and

(4) Contractor shall post at appropriate conspicuous points at the Site, a schedule showing all determined minimum wage rates for the various classes of laborers and mechanics to be engaged in the Work and all deductions, if any, required by law to be made from unpaid wages actually earned by the laborers and mechanics so engaged.

(c) The minimum wage rates, if any, herein specified for apprentices shall apply only to persons working with the tools of the trade which such persons are learning under the direct supervision of journeymen mechanics. Except as otherwise required by law, the number of apprentices in each trade or occupation employed by Contractor or any Subcontractor or Materialman shall not exceed the number permitted by the applicable standards of the New York

State Department of Labor, or, in the absence of such standards, the number permitted under the usual practice prevailing between the unions and the employers' association of the respective trades or occupations.

(d) All employees of Contractor and each Subcontractor and Materialman shall be paid in accordance with the provisions of the Labor Law.

(e) Contractor agrees that, in case of underpayment of wages to any worker engaged in the Work by Contractor or any Subcontractor or Materialman, BPCA shall withhold from Contractor out of payments due an amount sufficient to pay such worker the difference between the wages actually paid such worker for the total number of hours worked, and that BPCA may disburse such amount so withheld by BPCA for and on account of Contractor to the employee to whom such amount is due. Contractor further agrees that the amount to be withheld pursuant to this paragraph may be in addition to the percentages to be retained by BPCA pursuant to other provisions of the Contract Documents.

(f) The Labor Law provides that this Agreement may be terminated for cause and no sum paid for any Work done thereunder upon a second conviction for willfully paying less than:

- (1) the stipulated wage scale as set forth in New York Labor Law Section 220, subdivision 3, as amended, or
- (2) less than the stipulated minimum hourly wage scale as specified in Labor Law, Section 220-d, as amended.

(g) Contractor specifically agrees, as required by the New York Labor Law Section 220-e, as amended, that:

(1) in the hiring of employees for the performance of Work under this Agreement or any Subcontract or Purchase Order hereunder, or for the manufacture, sale or distribution of Materials, equipment or supplies hereunder, but limited to operations performed within the territorial limits of the State of New York, no Contractor, Subcontractor, Materialman or any person acting on behalf of such Contractor or Subcontractor, or Materialman, shall by reason of race, creed, color, sex or national origin discriminate against any citizen of the State of New York who is qualified and available to perform the work to which the employment relates;

(2) no Contractor, Subcontractor, Materialman, or any person on behalf of such Contractor, Subcontractor or Materialman shall, in any manner, discriminate against or intimidate any employee hired for the performance of work under this Agreement on account of race, creed, color, sex or national origin;

(3) there may be deducted from the amount payable to Contractor, by BPCA under this Agreement, a penalty of \$50.00 for each person for each calendar day during which such person was discriminated against or intimidated in violation of the terms of this Agreement; and

(4) this Agreement may be canceled or terminated for cause by BPCA and all monies due or to become due hereunder may be forfeited for a second or any subsequent violation

of the terms or conditions of this Section of this Agreement.

(h) Where applicable, Contractor agrees to settle labor disputes in accordance with the provisions of The New York Plan For The Settlement of Jurisdictional Disputes Between The Building And Construction Trades Council Of Greater New York And The Building Trades Employers' Association Of The City of New York.

(i) Contractor shall abide by, and execute the Project in accordance with, all terms of the Project Labor Agreement, incorporated into this Agreement as <u>Exhibit F</u>.

27.10 Disputes Resolution Procedure

(a) The provisions of this Article shall constitute Contractor's sole means for challenging any determination, order or other act or omission of BPCA or otherwise asserting against BPCA any claim of whatever nature arising under, or in any way relating to, this Agreement (any such challenge or assertion by Contractor being herein referred to as a **"Dispute(s)**"). Exhaustion of these dispute resolution procedures, including the judicial review set forth below, shall be the parties' sole remedy in connection with any Dispute.

(b) The parties to this Agreement hereby authorize and agree to the resolution of all Disputes arising out of, under or in connection with, this Agreement in accordance with the following and pursuant to the procedures set forth in paragraph (c) of this Section 27.10. With respect to any Dispute which relates in whole or primary part to technical issue(s) under this Agreement including, without limitation, determinations as to the acceptability or fitness of any Work, the meaning or interpretation of the Contract Documents, the question of whether any Work falls within the scope of the Specifications set forth in the Contract Documents, the acceptability of any proposed substitutions, modifications or other submissions under this Agreement, the disapproval of proposed Subcontractors or Materialmen (to the extent such disapproval is related to technical issues), the extension of time to the extent related to a technical matter, the question of whether substantial completion or final completion has been achieved, the parties hereby authorize the General Counsel of BPCA, or his/her designee, (hereinafter referred to as the "**Arbiter**"), acting personally, to render a final and binding decision.

(c) All Disputes shall be initiated through a written submission by either party (such submission to be hereinafter referred to as the "**Dispute Notice**") to the Arbiter within ten (10) days of the determination, order or other act or omission which is the subject of the Dispute. Within ten (10) days after the submission of such Dispute Notice, the party initiating the Dispute shall provide the Arbiter with all evidence and other pertinent information in support of the party's position and/or claim. Within thirty (30) days from the date of the Dispute Notice, the party against whom the Dispute Notice was filed shall submit any and all materials which it deems pertinent to the Arbiter. Upon submission of a Dispute Notice to the Arbiter, the Arbiter shall render its decision in writing and deliver a copy of same to the parties within a reasonable time not to exceed sixty (60) days after the receipt of all materials. In rendering such decision, the Arbiter may seek such technical or other expertise as it shall deem necessary or appropriate (notifying both parties to the Dispute when he/she so seeks such other information or expertise) and seek any such additional oral and/or written argument or materials from either or both parties to the Dispute as he/she deems fit. The Arbiter shall have the discretion to extend the time for submittals required

hereunder. The Arbiter's ability to render and the effect of a decision hereunder shall not be impaired or waived by any negotiations or settlement offers in connection with the matter presented, whether or not the Arbiter participated therein, or by any prior decision of others, or by any termination or cancellation of this Agreement. The decision of the Arbiter shall be final and binding on both parties to this Agreement.

(d) It is expressly understood and agreed that the pendency of a Dispute hereunder shall at no time and in no respect constitute a basis for any modification, limitation or suspension of Contractor's obligation to fully perform in accordance with this Agreement and that Contractor shall remain fully obligated to perform the Work notwithstanding the existence of any such Dispute.

27.11 Additional Provisions Relating to the Prosecution of Claims for Money Damages

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, if Contractor claims or intends to claim compensation or money damages for any damage or loss sustained by reason of any determination, order or other act or omission of BPCA, Contractor shall furnish a written notice to the Arbiter setting forth the nature of the claim and the extent of the damage sustained within ten (10) days of the occurrence of such loss or damages. This written notice shall constitute Contractor's submission to the Arbiter for the purposes of requesting the Arbiter's determination in accordance with Section 27.10 above. Any such claim shall state as fully as then possible all information relating thereto and shall be supported by any then available documentation, including daily records showing all costs incurred. Such information shall be supplemented with any and all further information, including information relating to the quantum of losses or damages sustained, as soon as practicable after the information becomes or reasonably should become known to the Contractor.

(b) Any claim for compensation or monetary damages, the successful prosecution of which necessarily depends upon a technical determination favorable to Contractor, may not proceed unless and until Contractor first obtains such a favorable determination with respect to the technical issue and must be made within ten (10) days of such determination; moreover, Contractor must submit to the Arbiter any documentation or proof in support of the monetary claim within fifteen (15) days of such determination in order to proceed with such a claim. This written notice shall constitute Contractor's submission to the Arbiter for the purposes of requesting the Arbiter's determination in accordance with Section 27.10 above.

(c) Compliance with the provisions hereof shall constitute a condition precedent to the Contractor's submission of a Dispute pursuant to Section 27.10 with respect to any claim for compensation or monetary damages and the Contractor shall be deemed to have waived any claim not submitted in accordance herewith.

(d) Any final determination of the Arbiter with respect to a Dispute initiated pursuant to this Article 27 shall be subject to review solely in the form of a challenge following the decision by the Arbiter in a Court of competent jurisdiction of the State of New York, County of New York, under Article 78 of the New York Civil Practice Law and Rules or a United States Court located in New York City under the procedures and laws applicable in that court, it being understood the review of such Court shall be limited to the question of whether or not the Arbiter's determination

is arbitrary, capricious or lacks a rational basis. No evidence or information shall be introduced or relied upon in such proceeding which has not been duly presented to the Arbiter in accordance with this Article 27.

27.12 Limitation on Actions

(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 27.11, no action or proceeding shall lie or shall be maintained by Contractor against BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer unless (i) such action or proceeding shall be commenced within six (6) months of the date of the issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion to Contractor; or (ii) in the case of an action or proceeding for monies due pursuant to Section 5.7 hereof, or arising exclusively from or pertaining exclusively to work performed after the date of issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion, unless such action or proceeding is commenced no later than six (6) months after the issuance of the certificate of final completion to Contractor; or (iii) if this Agreement is terminated by BPCA prior to the issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion, unless such action or proceeding is commenced of Substantial Completion, unless such action or proceeding is commenced no later than six (6) months after the issuance of the certificate of final completion to Contractor; or (iii) if this Agreement is terminated by BPCA prior to the issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion, unless such action or proceeding is commenced within six (6) months after the date of such termination.

(b) Nothing in this Section 27.12 shall be construed to modify or lengthen a shorter limitations period provided by applicable law.

(c) No action or proceeding shall be commenced by Contractor against BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer except in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York.

(d) Nothing in this Section 27.12 shall be construed to suggest that Contractor, under any circumstances, may bring an action or proceeding against Construction Manager, or Engineer.

27.13 Waiver of Remedies

Contractor acknowledges that it can be compensated adequately by money damages for any breach of this Agreement which may be committed by BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer. Contractor agrees that no default, act or omission of BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer shall constitute a material breach of contract entitling Contractor to cancel or rescind this Agreement or to suspend or abandon performance thereof, other than the failure of BPCA to make a payment of the Contract Price in accordance with the terms hereof solely because sufficient funds to pay the Contract Price have not been appropriated or will otherwise not be made available to BPCA. Contractor hereby waives any and all rights and remedies to which Contractor might otherwise be or become entitled to because of any wrongful act or omission of BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer except as provided in this Section 27.13 and Contractor's right to money damages.

27.14 Modification of Agreement

No change in or modification, termination or discharge of this Agreement in any form whatsoever shall be valid or enforceable unless it is in writing and signed by the party to be charged therewith or its duly authorized representative, provided, however, that any change in or modification, termination or discharge of this Agreement expressly provided for in this Agreement shall be effective as so provided.

27.15 Signs and Parking

Contractor agrees that it shall not display on or about the Site any sign, trademark or other advertisement without the approval of BPCA and Construction Manager. Contractor shall not and shall not permit any of its Subcontractors or Materialmen to park any vehicles on the Site.

27.16 Entire Agreement

The Contract Documents constitute the entire Agreement between the parties and incorporate all prior understandings in connection with the subject matter hereof.

27.17 Rights and Remedies

The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and the rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of any duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. No action or failure to act by BPCA, Construction Manager, or Engineer or Contractor including, but not limited to, the making of any payment or permitting Contractor to continue with the performance of the Work shall constitute a waiver of any right or duty afforded any of them under this Agreement, nor shall any such action or failure to act constitute an approval of or acquiescence in any breach thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in writing.

27.18 Participation in International Boycott Prohibited

Contractor agrees, as a material condition of this Agreement, that neither Contractor nor any substantially owned or affiliated person, firm, partnership or corporation has participated or is participating or shall participate in an international boycott in violation of the provisions of the United States Export Administration Act of 1969, as amended, or the United States Export Administration Act of 1979, as amended, or the Regulations of the United States Department of Commerce promulgated thereunder. This Agreement shall be rendered forfeit and void by the Comptroller of the State of New York if, subsequent to execution, such person, firm, partnership or corporation has been convicted of a violation of the provisions of either of such federal acts or such Regulations or has been found upon the final determination of the United States Commerce Department or any other appropriate agency of the United States to have violated the provisions of either of such federal acts or such Regulations.

27.19 Compliance with "Buy-American" Statutes

Contractor and any substantially owned or affiliated person, firm, partnership or corporation agrees to comply with the New York Public Authorities Law, Section 2603-A as amended (affects steel or steel products).

27.20 Permitted Successors

References to parties and entities herein shall be deemed to include their permitted successors.

27.21 MacBride Fair Employment Principles

If the amount payable to Contractor under this Agreement is greater than \$15,000, Contractor hereby certifies that it and/or any individual or legal entity in which it holds a 10% or greater ownership interest, and any individual or legal entity that holds a 10% or greater ownership in it, either have no business operations in Northern Ireland; or shall take lawful steps in good faith to conduct any business operations they have in Northern Ireland in accordance with the MacBride Fair Employment Principles relating to nondiscrimination in employment and freedom of workplace opportunity regarding such operations in Northern Ireland, as set forth in New York State Finance Law Article XI Section 165(5), and shall permit independent monitoring of their compliance with such Principles.

27.22 Iran Divestment Act

By signing this Agreement, each person and each person signing on behalf of any other party certifies, and in the case of a joint bid or partnership each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each person is not on the list created pursuant to paragraph (b) of subdivision 3 of Section 165-a of the State Finance Law.

27.23 Termination for Failure to Disclose Under State Finance Law §139k

BPCA reserves the right to terminate this Agreement in the event it is found that the certification filed by Contractor pursuant to New York State Finance Law §139-k was intentionally false or intentionally incomplete. Upon such finding, BPCA may exercise its termination right by providing written notification to the Contractor in accordance with the written notification terms of this contract. If a contract is terminated in accordance with State Finance Law §139k(5), BPCA, its subsidiaries and affiliates, will include a statement in BPCA's procurement record describing the basis for any action taken under the termination provision.

27.24 Labor Peace

The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Materialmen shall not employ on the Work any labor, materials or means whose employment, or utilization during the course of this Agreement, may tend to or in any way cause or result in strikes, Work stoppages, delays, suspension of Work or similar troubles by workers employed by the Contractor or its Subcontractors, Materialmen, or by any of the trades working in or about the buildings and premises where Work is being performed under this Agreement, or by other contractors or their subcontractors pursuant to other agreements, or on any other building or premises owned or operated by BPCA, its contractors or affiliates. Any violation by the Contractor to be in default, and for BPCA to take action against Contractor as set for this Agreement, or such other Section of this Agreement as BPCA may deem proper.

27.25 Comptroller's Approval

If this Agreement is considered an "eligible contract," as defined by New York Code, Rules and Regulations Title 2 Part 206.2, it is subject to the New York State Comptroller's approval, and therefore shall not be valid and enforceable until that approval has been obtained. A contract is considered an "eligible contract," as defined by Title 2 of NYCRR Part 206.2, if it is not a specifically exempt contract, is executed by a state authority on or after March 1, 2010, the aggregate consideration under the contract may reasonably be valued in excess of one million dollars (including all reasonably anticipated renewals and amendments), AND the contract (A) was or shall be awarded on a single-source basis, sole-source basis or pursuant to any other method of procurement that is not a competitive procurement OR (B) shall be paid in whole or in part with monies appropriated by the State, either directly to a state authority or to a state agency that pays the money to a state authority.

27.26 Key Person/Personnel

The parties understand that in entering into this Agreement, BPCA has relied upon Contractor's representation that [name(s) and title(s)] (hereinafter the "**Key Personnel**") will be directly and consistently involved in supervising the Work and actively engaged in the day-to-day management of the Work, which shall include attending mandatory Project meetings. If the Key Personnel is/are not available as described herein, or if the Key Personnel depart from the firm or severs his/her/their relationship with the Contractor, or for whatever other reason is/are not available to work on the Project, then BPCA shall have the right to terminate this Agreement. The parties also agree that at any time during the course of the Work, BPCA may designate additional or substitute key personnel to perform the Work. Contractor agrees to make the additional or substituted key personnel available under the same conditions set forth herein.

27.27 Form of Agreement Not an Offer

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the submission of this form of Agreement by BPCA to Contractor shall not constitute an offer, and execution hereof by Contractor shall not be considered acceptance of an offer. A binding contract between the parties shall exist only if and at such time as both parties have executed this Agreement.

27.28 General Responsibility

(a) The Contractor shall at all times during the Agreement term remain responsible. The Contractor agrees, if requested by BPCA or its designee, to present evidence of Contractor's continuing legal authority to do business in New York State, integrity, experience, ability, prior performance, and organizational and financial capacity.

(b) BPCA or its designee, in its sole discretion, reserves the right to suspend any or all activities under this Agreement, at any time, when BPCA discovers information that calls into question the responsibility of Contractor. In the event of such suspension, Contractor will be given written notice outlining the particulars of such suspension. Upon issuance of such notice, Contractor must comply with the terms of the suspension order. Activity under the Agreement may resume at such time as BPCA or its designee issues a written notice authorizing a resumption of performance under the Agreement.

(c) Upon written notice to the Contractor, and a reasonable opportunity to be heard with appropriate BPCA officials or staff, the Agreement may be terminated by BPCA or its designee at Contractor's expense where Contractor is determined by BPCA or its designee to be nonresponsible. In such event, BPCA or its designee may complete the contractual requirements

in any manner BPCA may deem advisable and pursue available legal or equitable remedies for breach.

27.29. Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one instrument, but the Agreement shall not be deemed effective unless signed by all parties.

27.30. <u>Section Headings</u>

Section headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be considered for any purpose in governing, limiting, modifying, construing or affecting the provisions of this Agreement and shall not otherwise be given legal effect.

27.31. <u>Subordination of Terms in the Exhibits</u>

In the event of a conflict of terms, the terms stated in Sections 1-27 herein, shall take precedence over and shall prevail over any printed, typed, or handwritten terms located in the Exhibits.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, as of the date first above written.

BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY, d/b/a

HUGH L. CAREY BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY

Name:	
-	

Title:

SPECIALTY CONSTRUCTION SYSTEM, INC.

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

FEIN # 04-3676459

EXHIBIT A

SCOPE OF WORK

[TO BE INSERTED UPON FINALIZATION]

EXHIBIT B-1

SCHEDULE OF VALUES

[TO BE INSERTED]

EXHIBIT B-2

LABOR RATES

[TO BE INSERTED]

EXHIBIT C

DRAWINGS & SPECIFICATIONS

[TO BE ATTACHED UPON FINALIZATION]

EXHIBIT D

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY POLICY STATEMENT

Contractor agrees to adopt the following policies with respect to the Work:

- (a) This organization will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed (religion), color, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, military status, age, disability, predisposing genetic characteristic, marital status or domestic violence status, will undertake or continue existing programs of affirmative action to ensure that minority group members are afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination, and shall make and document its conscientious and active efforts to employ and utilize minority group members and women in its work force on BPCA contracts.
- (b) Contractor shall state in all solicitation or advertisements for employees that in the performance of the BPCA contract all qualified applicants will be afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed (religion), color, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, military status, age, disability, predisposing genetic characteristic, marital status or domestic violence status.
- (c) At the request of BPCA, Contractor shall request each employment agency, labor union, or authorized representative will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed (religion), color, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, military status, age, disability, predisposing genetic characteristic, marital status or domestic violence status and that such union or representative will affirmatively cooperate in the implementation of Contractor's obligations herein.
- (d) Contractor shall comply with the provisions of the Human Rights Law, all other State and Federal statutory and constitutional non-discrimination provisions. Contractor and Subcontractors shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed (religion), color, sex, national origin, sexual orientation, military status, age, disability, predisposing genetic characteristic, marital status or domestic violence status, and shall also follow the requirements of the Human Rights Law with regard to non-discrimination on the basis of prior criminal conviction and prior arrest.
- (e) Contractor will include the provisions of sections (a) through (d) above in every subcontract in such a manner that the requirements of the subdivisions will be binding upon each Subcontractor as to work in connection with BPCA's contract.

Agreed to this	day of	,
By:		

Print: ______ Title: ______

EXHIBIT E

INCIDENT REPORT FORM

Please complete all sections of this form:

Injured party's First and Last Names:	
First and Last Names and telephone number of person completing this form:	P#:() -
When and to whom did you report this incident?	
Identify the injured party's employer and state his/her occupation/reason for being at the Site:	
Description of location, project and/or complete address of incident:	
Date and time incident occurred:	
Date and time project manager/field representative was notified, who notified and method of notification:	

EXHIBIT F

PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT

[TO BE ATTACHED UPON FINALIZATION]

[END OF ATTACHMENT #1]

<u>ATTACHMENT #2</u> EXHIBIT I – PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT

(ATTACHED)

BPCA Resiliency Project PLA

PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT

SOUTH BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY RESILIENCY PROJECT

NEW YORK CITY

between

BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL OF GREATER NEW YORK AND VICINITY

and

BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY

Table of Contents

		Page
PREAMBLE.		1
	RTIES TO THE AGREEMENT	
	ENERAL CONDITIONS	
Section 1	DEFINITIONS	
Section 2	CONDITIONS FOR AGREEMENT TO BECOME EFFECTIVE	
Section 3	ENTITIES BOUND AND ADMINISTRATION OF AGREEMEN	
Section 4	SUPREMACY CLAUSE	
Section 5	LIABILITY	
Section 6	BID SPECIFICATIONS	
Section 7	AVAILABILITY AND APPLICABILITY	
Section 8	WORK PRESERVATION - SUBCONTRACTING	
	'HE WORK	
Section 1	NON-APPLICATION TO CERTAIN ENTITIES	
Section 2	EXCLUDED EMPLOYEES	
	JNION RECOGNITION AND EMPLOYMENT	
Section 1	PRE-HIRE RECOGNITION	
Section 2	UNION REFERRAL NON-DISCRIMINATION	
Section 3	NON-DISCRIMINATION	
Section 4	CROSS AND QUALIFIED REFERRALS Error! Bookma	
defined.		
Section 5	UNION DUES	13
Section 6	CRAFT FOREPERSONS APPRENTICES	
Section 7	APPRENTICES	
	NION REPRESENTATION	
Section 1		
Section 2	STEWARDS	
Section 3		
	IANAGEMENT'S RIGHTS	
	WORK STOPPAGES AND LOCKOUTS	
	NO STRIKES-NO LOCKOUTS	
Section 2	DISCHARGE FOR VIOLATION	10
Section 3	NOTIFICATION	
Section 4	EXPEDITED ARBITRATION	
Section 5	ARBITRATION OF DISCHARGES FOR VIOLATION	
	LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE AND WORK ASSIGNM	
Articic VIII -	LADOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE AND WORK ASSIGNM	
Section 1	SUBJECTS	
Section 2	COMPOSITION	
Section 3	PRE-JOB CONFERENCES/JOB ASSIGNMENTS	
	GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	
Section 1	PROCEDURE FOR RESOLUTION OF GRIEVANCES	
Section 2	PARTICIPATION BY CONSTRUCTION MANAGER	
SCCHOIL Z		

Section 3 LIMITATION ON RETROACTIVITY	. 24
Article X - JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES	. 24
Section 1 NO DISRUPTIONS	. 24
Article XI - WAGES AND BENEFITS	.25
Section 1 CLASSIFICATION AND BASE HOURLY RATE	.25
Section 2 TRUST FUNDS	.25
Article XII - HOURS OF WORK	.26
Section 1 WORK WEEK AND WORK DAY	. 26
Section 2 OVERTIME	. 27
Section 3 SHIFTS	. 27
Section 4 HOLIDAYS	. 28
Section 5 SATURDAY WORK	. 28
Article XIII – TEMPORARY SERVICES	. 28
Article XIV - SAFETY, PROTECTION OF PERSON AND PROPERTY	. 28
Section 1 SAFETY REQUIREMENTS	. 28
Section 2 CONTRACTOR RULES	. 29
Article XV - NO DISCRIMINATION	. 29
Section 1 COOPERATIVE EFFORTS	. 29
Section 2 LANGUAGE OF AGREEMENT	. 30
Article XVI - SAVINGS AND SEPARABILITY	. 30
Section 1 THIS AGREEMENT	. 30
Section 2 NON-LIABILITY	. 30
Section 3 NON-WAIVER	. 31
Article XVII - DURATION	. 31
Section 1 DURATION	. 31
Section 2 EXTENSION OF AREA CONTRACTS	. 31
Article XVIII - HELMETS TO HARDHATS	. 32
Section 1	. 32
Section 2	. 32
SCHEDULE "B": TRADE SPECIFIC ADDENDA	
SCHEDULE "C": LETTER OF ASSENT	
SCHEDULE "D": STANDARDS OF EXCELLENCE	

PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT

PREAMBLE

WHEREAS, the Battery Park City Authority ("Authority") is the developer of a construction project known as the South Battery Park City Resiliency Project ("Project"); and

WHEREAS, the Authority will engage a Construction Manager and general contractors to manage and accomplish the successful and timely completion of the Project; and

WHEREAS, the Authority, its Construction Manager and general contractors, intend that all subcontractors who will be engaged in the construction of the Project will employ only employees who are represented by the unions affiliated with the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council ("Council"); and

WHEREAS, the Authority is committed to accomplishing the completion of the Project in the most professional, safe, cost effective, timely and efficient manner through the standardization of the terms and conditions under which labor will be employed on the Project, promotion of labor harmony, prohibition of all disruptions to work on the Project, promotion of safe work practices, modification of work rules and practices, promotion of expeditious and fair resolution of any disputes that might arise; and

WHEREAS, the Council and its members have the capacity and motivation to ensure a reliable source of skilled and experienced labor necessary for the

successful and timely completion of the Project; and

WHEREAS, this Project Labor Agreement will foster the achievement of these goals, *inter alia*, by:

(1) expediting the construction process and otherwise minimizing disruption to the Project;

(2) avoiding the costly delays of labor unrest and promoting labor harmony for the duration of the Project;

(3) standardizing certain terms and conditions governing the employment of labor on the Project;

(4) providing comprehensive and standardized mechanisms for the settlement of work disputes, including those relating to jurisdiction;

(5) ensuring a reliable source of skilled and experienced labor;

(6) maximizing project safety conditions for both workers and others;

(7) reducing labor costs by giving contractors flexibility to manage and perform work operations in the most efficient and productive manner; and

WHEREAS, the Authority is committed to promoting employment and business opportunities for minorities and women in accordance with Executive Law Article 15-a, including through participation in apprenticeship training programs for the trades engaged on the project; and

WHEREAS, the Council and its affiliated Unions, together with the Authority and its Construction Manager, general contractors, and their subcontractors desire to provide for stability, security and work opportunities that are afforded by this Project Labor Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed in consideration for the mutual promises and covenants made herein as follows:

ARTICLE I - PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT

The parties each warrant and represent that they have been duly authorized to enter into this Agreement on behalf of, and to bind, their respective organizations.

It is understood and agreed that the Authority has sole and unreviewable discretion at any time to terminate, delay, or suspend the Project Work, in whole or in part, provided that the terms of this Agreement shall apply in the event the work is resumed.

ARTICLE II - GENERAL CONDITIONS

SECTION 1 DEFINITIONS

Throughout this Agreement, the various union parties, including the Council and its Affiliated Unions, are referred to singularly and collectively as "Affiliated Unions"; where specific reference is made to "Affiliated Unions" that phrase is sometimes used to denote a particular union affiliated with the Council; the term "Construction Manager" shall refer to the person or entity which is responsible for coordinating and overseeing work at the Project and the term "Contractor(s)" shall include any and all general contractors and subcontractors of all tiers, engaged in work within the scope of this Agreement as defined in Article III. The work covered by this Agreement is referred to herein as "Project Work".

SECTION 2 CONDITIONS FOR AGREEMENT TO BECOME EFFECTIVE

This Agreement shall not become effective unless each of the following conditions is met: (1) the Agreement and the Trade Addendums, referred to below, are approved and signed by the Council, and the Agreement and/or Trade Addendums are approved and signed by those of its affiliates participating herein, (2) copies of all current collective bargaining agreements listed in Schedule A are provided to the Construction Manager, and (3) the Agreement is approved and signed by the Authority. This Agreement may be signed by all Parties, including the Affiliated Unions, in counterparts, all of which shall be merged and shall constitute one agreement.

SECTION 3 ENTITIES BOUND AND ADMINISTRATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be binding on the Council, the Affiliated Unions, the Authority, and all Contractors performing Project Work, as defined in Article III.

SECTION 4 SUPREMACY CLAUSE

This Agreement, together with the Collective Bargaining Agreements of the Affiliated Unions, collectively referred to as Schedule "A" agreements, and the Trade Addendums annexed hereto as Schedule "B" agreements, represent the complete understanding of all signatories and supersedes any national agreement, local agreement or other CBA of any type that would otherwise apply to the Project Work, in whole or in part, except work performed under the NTL Articles of Agreement, the National Stack/Chimney Agreement, the National Cooling Tower Agreement, all instrument calibration work and loop checking which shall be performed under the UA/IBEW Joint National Agreement for Instrument and Control Systems Technicians, and the National Agreement of the International Union of Elevator Constructors, with the exception of the dispute resolution mechanisms and no-strike provisions contained herein: and provided further, for Project Work that falls within the jurisdiction of the Operating Engineers Locals 14 and 15, if such is accepted by and performed by said locals, only then will such work be performed under the terms and conditions set out in the Schedule "A" agreements. Where this Agreement and/or the Schedule "B" agreements are silent on a subject, the applicable collective bargaining agreement(s) (Schedule A agreement(s)) shall govern. Where association and independent CBAs for a particular type of construction work are both set forth in Schedule "A", association members shall treat the applicable association agreement as the Schedule "A" CBA and independent contractors shall treat the applicable independent agreement as the Schedule "A" CBA. Subject to the foregoing, where a subject covered by the provisions of this Agreement is also covered by a Schedule "A" CBA, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail. It is further understood that no Contractor shall be required to sign any other agreement as a condition of performing Project Work. No practice, understanding or agreement between a Contractor and an Affiliated Union which is not set forth in this Agreement shall be binding with respect to Project Work unless endorsed in writing by the Authority or its designee. Nothing in this Agreement requires employees to join a union or pay dues or fees to a union as a condition of working on Project Work. This Agreement is not intended, however to supersede independent requirements in applicable Affiliated Union (Schedule "A") agreements as to Contractors that are otherwise signatory to those agreements and as to employees of such Contractors performing Project Work.

SECTION 5 LIABILITY

The liability of any Contractor and the liability of any Union under this Agreement shall be several and not joint. The Authority, its Construction Manager, general contractors, and any Contractors shall not be liable for any violations of this Agreement by any other Contractor; and the Council and Affiliated Unions shall not be liable for any violations of this Agreement by any other Union.

SECTION 6 BID SPECIFICATIONS

The Authority shall require in its bid specifications for all Project Work within the scope of Article III that all successful bidders, and their subcontractors of whatever tier, and any and all Contractors of any tier awarded or performing work within the scope of this PLA shall become bound by this Agreement, or shall sign a "Letter of Assent" in the form annexed hereto as Schedule "C", agreeing to be bound to and incorporating the terms of this Agreement by reference.

SECTION 7 AVAILABILITY AND APPLICABILITY TO ALL SUCCESSFUL BIDDERS

The Council and Affiliated Unions agree that this Agreement will be made available to, and will fully apply to, any successful bidder for (or subcontractor of) Project Work who becomes signatory hereto, without regard to whether that successful bidder (or subcontractor) performs work at other sites on either a union or non-union basis and without regard to whether employees of such successful bidder (or subcontractor) are, or are not, members of any unions. This Agreement shall not apply to the work of any Contractor that is performed at any location other than the site of this Project.

SECTION 8 WORK PRESERVATION - SUBCONTRACTING

The Authority agrees that neither it nor any of its Contractors or subcontractors will subcontract any work to be done on the Project except to a person, firm or corporation who is or agrees to become party to this Agreement.

ARTICLE III - THE WORK

This PLA shall apply to all construction work, including site work, demolition, excavation, core and shell construction, interior and tenant build

outs, as well as green building technologies used in new construction and/or renovation or retrofit work, related to the Project to the extent this work is included in the Authority's scope of work. It is understood that this project will be accomplished through the bidding of several contract packages, all of which together constitute the Project Work covered by this PLA.

SECTION 1 NON-APPLICATION TO CERTAIN ENTITIES

This Agreement shall not apply to the parents, affiliates, subsidiaries, or other joint or sole ventures of any Contractor, which do not perform work at this Project. It is agreed, for the purposes of this Agreement only, that this Agreement does not have the effect of creating any joint employer, single employer or alterego status between or among the Authority, Construction Manager, and/or any Contractors.

SECTION 2 EXCLUDED EMPLOYEES

The following persons are not subject to the provisions of this Agreement, even though performing work ancillary to Project Work:

- (a) Superintendents, supervisors, professional engineers and/or licensed engaged inspection and architects in testing. quality control/assurance personnel, timekeepers, mail carriers, clerks, office workers, messengers, guards, technicians, non-manual employees, and all professional, engineering, administrative and management persons, unless such persons are specifically and explicitly covered by a craft's Schedule "A"; for example, where general forepersons. forepersons and field surveyors are included in the bargaining unit under a particular collective bargaining agreement, they are covered by this PLA.
- (b) Employees and entities engaged in off-site manufacture, modifications,

repair, maintenance, assembly, painting, handling or fabrication of project components, materials, equipment or machinery or involved in deliveries to and from the Project site, except as may be provided for in Schedule "A" agreements.

- (c) Employees of the Authority, its Construction Manager and general contractors, except those performing manual, on-site construction labor within the jurisdiction of Affiliated Unions who will be covered by this Agreement.
- (d) Employees engaged in on-site equipment warranty work, unless a current employee of a Contractor is on site and certified by the relevant manufacturer to make warranty repairs on the Contractor's equipment.
- (e) Employees engaged in geophysical testing other than boring for core samples.
- (f) Employees engaged in work, which is ancillary to Project Work and performed by third parties such as electric and gas utilities, telephone companies, and railroads, except that it is understood and agreed that these entities may only install their work to a demarcation point, *e.g.*, a telephone closet or utility vault, the location of which is determined prior to construction and employees of such entities shall not be used to replace employees performing Project Work pursuant to this Agreement.

ARTICLE IV - UNION RECOGNITION AND EMPLOYMENT SECTION 1 PRE-HIRE RECOGNITION

The Authority, its Construction Manager, general contractors and all Contractors performing Project Work recognize the Affiliated Unions as the sole and exclusive bargaining representatives of all craft employees who are performing Project Work within their recognized jurisdiction and within the scope of this Agreement as defined in Article III, with respect to that work.

SECTION 2 UNION REFERRAL

A. All Contractors agree to employ and hire craft employees for Project Work covered by this Agreement through the job referral systems and hiring halls established in the Affiliated Unions' area collective bargaining agreements and in accordance with the procedures set forth in those agreements. In the event that an Affiliated Union does not have a referral system or hiring hall, the current practice with respect to contractor hiring for that Affiliated Union shall be observed. Notwithstanding this, Contractors shall have the sole right to reject any applicant referred by an Affiliated Union and to determine the number of employees required and the duration of their employment.

B. In the event that an Affiliated Union with a job referral system or hiring hall in its Collective Bargaining Agreement is unable to fill any request for qualified employees within a 48-hour period after such request by a Contractor (Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays excepted), a Contractor may employ qualified applicants from any other available source, upon notification to the affected Affiliated Union. In the event that the Affiliated Union does not have a job referral

system, the Contractor shall follow the current practice and give the Affiliated Union first preference to refer applicants if any such practice exists.

C. A Contractor may request by name, and the Affiliated Union will honor, referral of persons who have applied to the Affiliated Union for Project Work and who meet the following qualifications: (1) possess any license required by New York State law for the Project Work to be performed; (2) have worked a total of at least 1,000 hours in the construction industry during the prior three years; and (3) were on the Contractor's active payroll for at least 60 out of the 180 calendar days prior to the contract award. No more than twelve (12%) per cent of the employees covered by this Agreement, per Contractor by craft, shall be hired through this procedure. Under this provision, name referrals begin with the eighth employee needed and continue on that same basis.

D. Notwithstanding Sections 2.A., B., and C. of this Article, certified MWBE contractors for which participation goals are set forth in New York Executive Law Article 15-a, that are not signatory to any Schedule A Agreements, with contracts valued at or under five hundred thousand (\$500,000), may request by name, and the affiliated Union will honor, referral of the second (2nd), fourth (4th), sixth (6th), and eighth (8th) employee, who have applied to the Affiliated Union for Project Work and who meet the following qualifications: (1) possess any license required by New York State law for the Work to be performed; (2) have worked a total of at least 1000 hours in the Construction field during the prior 3 years; and (3) were on the Contractor's active payroll for at least 60 out of the 180 work days prior to the contract award. For such contracts valued

at above \$500,000 but less than \$1 million, the Affiliated Union will honor referrals by name of the second (2nd), fifth (5th), and eighth (8th) employee subject to the foregoing requirements. In both cases, name referrals will thereafter be in accordance with Section 2.C., above.

E. Where a certified MWBE Contractor voluntarily enters into a collective bargaining agreement with an Affiliated Union, the employees of such Contractor at the time the collective bargaining agreement is executed shall be allowed to join the Affiliated Union for the applicable trade subject to satisfying the Affiliated Union's standard requirements for membership.

SECTION 3 NON-DISCRIMINATION

The Affiliated Unions represent that their respective Affiliated Union hiring halls and referral systems are and will continue to be operated in a nondiscriminatory manner and in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations which require equal employment opportunities. In the event an Affiliated Union fails to refer qualified minority or female employees sufficient to meet the Authority's workforce participation goals set forth in the Authority's bid specifications within 48 hours of a request for same, the affected Contractors may employ qualified minority or female employees from any other source. For any work that may become subject to requirements under Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended by the Housing and Community Development Act of 1992, and any rules, including new or revised rules, that may be published thereunder, the Local Unions will acknowledge the Section 3 obligations of the Contractor, as applicable, and agree to negotiate a method to implement this Article in a manner that would allow the Contractor to meet its Section 3 obligations to the greatest extent feasible, and to post any required notices in the manner required by Section 3. The parties also acknowledge that the Contractor may also fulfill its Section 3 requirements by promoting opportunities for excluded employees, as defined by Article IV, Section 2 of this Agreement to the extent permitted by Section 3, by promoting opportunities for craft and other employees on non-project work.

SECTION 4 CROSS AND QUALIFIED REFERRALS

The Affiliated Unions shall not knowingly refer to a Contractor an employee then employed by another Contractor working under this Agreement. The Affiliated Unions will exert their utmost efforts to recruit sufficient numbers of skilled and qualified craft employees to fulfill the Project Work requirements of their respective Contractors.

SECTION 5 CRAFT FOREPERSONS AND GENERAL FOREPERSONS

The selection of craft forepersons and/or general forepersons and the number of forepersons required shall be solely the responsibility of the Contractors. Craft forepersons shall work pursuant to the terms and conditions established under the relevant local collective bargaining agreement.

SECTION 6 APPRENTICES

Apprentices may be employed at the maximum ratios approved by the New York State Department of Labor for the relevant trade.

ARTICLE V - UNION REPRESENTATION SECTION 1 AFFILIATED UNION REPRESENTATIVE

Each Affiliated Union representing Project employees shall be entitled to designate a representative(s), and/or the Business Manager, who shall be afforded access to the Project with an escort provided by the Construction Manager or Contractor employing the employees represented by the Affiliated Union but who shall not disrupt or interrupt the work of employees. Such designations shall be communicated in writing to the Construction Manager and relevant Contractor.

SECTION 2 STEWARDS

A. Each Affiliated Union shall have the right to designate a journey person as a Steward and an alternate, and shall notify the Authority and Construction Manager in writing of the identity of the designated Steward and alternate prior to the assumption of such duties. All Stewards shall be working Stewards.

B. In addition to their work as an employee, the Steward shall have the right to receive complaints or grievances from the employees working in their respective trade and to discuss and assist in the adjustment of said complaints or grievances with the Contractor's appropriate supervisor, provided there shall be no unreasonable interruption of the Project Work. The Contractor will not

discriminate against the Stewards in the proper performance of Union duties.

SECTION 3 LAYOFF OF A STEWARD

Contractors agree to notify the appropriate Affiliated Union 24 hours prior to the layoff of a Steward, except in cases of discipline or discharge for just cause. In any case in which a Steward is discharged or disciplined for just cause, the Affiliated Union involved shall be notified immediately by the Contractor.

ARTICLE VI - MANAGEMENT'S RIGHTS

A. Except as expressly limited by a specific provision of this Agreement and the applicable Schedule "A"s, Contractors retain full and exclusive authority for the management of their operations including, but not limited to: the right to direct the work force, including determination as to the number of employees to be hired and the qualifications therefor; the promotion, transfer, layoff of its employees or the discipline or discharge for just cause of its employees; the assignment (subject to New York Plan provisions) and schedule of work; the promulgation of reasonable Project Work rules that are not inconsistent with this Agreement; and the requirement, timing, and number of employees to be utilized for overtime work. No rules, customs, or practices that limit or restrict productivity or efficiency of the individual shall be permitted or observed.

B. The Parties hereby adopt and incorporate the Council's Standard of Excellence annexed hereto as Schedule "D", and the mutual obligations set forth therein for the safe, efficient and productive completion of the Project.

C. There shall be no limitation or restriction upon a Contractor's choice of materials, techniques, methods, technology or design, or, regardless of source or location, upon the use and installation of equipment, machinery, package units, pre-cast, pre-fabricated, pre-finished, or pre-assembled materials or products, tools or other labor-saving devices. Contractors may, without restriction, install or use materials, supplies or equipment regardless of their source; provided, however, that where there is a Schedule "A" Agreement that includes a lawful union standards and practices clause, then such clause as set forth in Schedule "A" Agreements will be complied with, unless there is a lawful Authority specification that would specifically limit or restrict the Contractor's choice. The on-site installation or application of such items shall be performed by the craft having jurisdiction over such work; provided, however, it is recognized that other personnel having special qualifications may participate, in a supervisory capacity, in the installation, check-off or testing of specialized or unusual equipment or facilities as designated by the Contractor. There shall be no restrictions as to work which is performed off-site for Project Work, provided that Schedule "A" Agreements that address off-site work shall be complied with, including Schedule "A" provisions applicable to rebar and millwork.

ARTICLE VII - WORK STOPPAGES AND LOCKOUTS SECTION 1 NO STRIKES-NO LOCKOUTS

There shall be no strikes, sympathy strikes, picketing, work stoppages, slowdowns, unlawful demonstrations or other unlawful disruptive activity.

There shall be no lockouts at the Project by any signatory Contractor, Construction Manager or the Authority. Contractors and Affiliated Unions shall use their best efforts to ensure compliance with this Section and to ensure uninterrupted construction and the free flow of traffic in the Project area for the duration of this Agreement.

SECTION 2 DISCHARGE FOR VIOLATION

A Contractor may discharge any employee violating Section 1, above, and any such employee will not be eligible thereafter for referral for work on the Project. Such discharge shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration clause set forth in Section 5 of this Article.

SECTION 3 NOTIFICATION

If the Authority, Construction Manager, general contractors or any Contractors contend that any Affiliated Union has violated this Article, it will notify the Affiliated Union involved advising of such fact, with copies of the notification to the Council. The Affiliated Union shall instruct its members and shall otherwise use its best efforts to cause the employees to immediately cease and desist from any violation. The Council shall request and otherwise use its best efforts to cause the Affiliated Union to immediately cease and desist from any violation of this Article. The Council shall not be liable for the unauthorized acts of an Affiliated Union or its members. Similarly, an Affiliated Union and its members will not be liable for any unauthorized acts of other Affiliated Unions.

SECTION 4 EXPEDITED ARBITRATION

Any Contractor or Affiliated Union alleging a violation of Section 1 of this Article may utilize the expedited procedure set forth below (in lieu of, or in addition to, any actions at law or equity that may be brought):

- (a) A party invoking this procedure shall notify Martin Scheinman or Richard Adelman, who shall alternate (beginning with Arbitrator Scheinman) as Arbitrator under this expedited arbitration procedure. If the Arbitrator next on the list is not available to hear the matter within 24 hours of notice, the next Arbitrator on the list shall be called. Copies of such notification will be simultaneously sent to the alleged violator and the Council.
- (b) The Arbitrator shall thereupon, after notice as to the time and place to the Contractor, the Affiliated Union involved, the Council, the Authority and the Construction Manager, hold a hearing within 48 hours of receipt of the notice invoking the procedure if it is contended that the violation still exists. The hearing will not, however, be scheduled for less than 24 hours after the notice.
- (c) All notices pursuant to this Article may be provided by telephone, telegraph, hand delivery, e-mail, or fax, confirmed by overnight delivery, to the Arbitrator, Contractor, Construction Manager. Authority and Affiliated Union involved. The hearing may be held on any day including Saturdays or Sundays. The hearing shall be completed in one session, which shall not exceed 8 hours duration (not more than 4 hours being allowed to either side to present their case, and conduct their cross examination) unless otherwise agreed. A failure of any Affiliated Union or Contractor to attend the hearing shall not delay the hearing of evidence by those present or the issuance of an award by the Arbitrator.
- (d) The sole issue at the hearing shall be whether a violation of Section 1 above occurred. If a violation is found to have occurred, the Arbitrator shall issue a Cease and Desist Award restraining such violation and serve copies on the Contractor and Affiliated Union involved. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to consider any matter in justification, explanation or mitigation of such violation or to award damages or modify the disciplinary action taken (any damages issue is reserved solely for court proceedings, if any.) The Award shall be issued in writing within 3 hours after the close of the hearing, and may be issued without an Opinion. If any involved party desires an Opinion, one shall be issued within 15 calendar days, but its issuance shall not delay compliance with, or enforcement of, the Award.

- (e) An Award issued under this procedure may be enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction upon the filing of this Agreement together with the Award and a Petition to Confirm. Notice of the filing of such enforcement proceedings shall be given to the Affiliated Union or Contractor involved, and the Construction Manager and Authority.
- (f) Any rights created by statute or law governing arbitration proceedings which are inconsistent with the procedure set forth in this Article, or which interfere with compliance thereto, are hereby waived by the Contractors and Affiliated Unions to whom they accrue.
- (g) The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be equally divided between the involved Contractor and Affiliated Union.

SECTION 5 ARBITRATION OF DISCHARGES FOR VIOLATION

Procedures contained in Article IX shall not be applicable to any alleged violation of this Article, with the single exception that an employee discharged for violation of Section 1, above, may have recourse to the procedures of Article IX to determine only if the employee did, in fact, violate the provisions of Section 1 of this Article, but not for the purpose of modifying the discipline imposed where a violation is found to have occurred.

ARTICLE VIII - LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE AND WORK ASSIGNMENTS

SECTION 1 SUBJECTS

The Labor Management Committee ("Committee") will meet on a regular basis to: (1) promote harmonious relations among the Contractors and Affiliated Unions; (2) enhance safety awareness, cost effectiveness and productivity of construction operations; (3) discuss matters relating to staffing, scheduling, safety and productivity; (4) review results of efforts to meet applicable participation goals for MWBEs and workforce participation goals for minority and female employees; and (5) encourage the engagement in discussions regarding the creation of an ADR program for Workers Compensation Benefits consistent with Section 25(2-C) of the New York State Workers Compensation Law between the Council and BTEA affiliates.

SECTION 2 COMPOSITION

The Labor Management Committee shall be jointly chaired by one designee each of the Construction Manager and the Council. It may include representatives of the Affiliated Unions and Contractors involved in the issues being discussed. The Labor Management Committee may conduct business through mutually agreed upon subcommittees.

SECTION 3 PRE-JOB CONFERENCES/JOB ASSIGNMENTS

All Project Work assignments shall be made by the general contractors and their subcontractors to Affiliated Unions or to unions affiliated with the Building and Construction Trades Department ("Building Trade Unions"), pursuant to the Green Book decisions of the New York Plan. The Labor Management Committee shall be formulated upon execution of this Agreement and shall convene a pre-job conference at least 45 days (or such lesser period as may be practical) prior to the Authority's mobilization on the job, which shall include all affected Contractors and trades, to resolve any issues with respect to scheduling and work assignments that have been made. No later than 10 days prior to beginning its work on the project site, each Contractor shall inform the Construction Manager of the identity of the Affiliated Union or Building Trades Union to which it intends to assign the work within the scope of its contract. The Construction Manager shall immediately forward that tentative assignment in writing to the Labor Management Committee, which may, prior to the Contractor (or general contractors) beginning its work, schedule a conference with the Contractor, general contractors, the Construction Manager and interested Affiliated Unions or Building Trades Unions to discuss the tentative assignment. The Authority shall make good faith efforts to ensure that the contracts the Authority lets to Contractors shall result in the assignment of the work involved to the Union(s) entitled to perform the work under prior New York Plan decisions. If, however, no Green Book decisions address the assignment of the particular work involved or the respective trades are not in agreement, the Contractor shall assign it in conformance with New York City Council area practice.

If the Labor Management Committee is unable to resolve any jurisdictional issue referred to it, the affected Affiliated Union must submit the matter to the New York Plan for immediate resolution.

ARTICLE IX - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE SECTION 1 PROCEDURE FOR RESOLUTION OF GRIEVANCES

Any question, dispute or claim arising out of, or involving the interpretation or application of this Agreement (other than jurisdictional

disputes or alleged violations of Article VII, Section 1), including Schedule B Agreements, shall be considered a grievance and shall be resolved pursuant to the exclusive procedure of the steps described below, provided in all cases that the question, dispute or claim arose during the term of this Agreement.

Step 1:

(a) When any employee covered by this Agreement feels aggrieved by a claimed violation of this Agreement, the employee shall, through the Affiliated Union business representative or job steward, give notice of the claimed violation to the work site representative of the involved Contractor and the Construction Manager. To be timely, such notice of the grievance must be given within 7 calendar days after the act, occurrence or event giving rise to the grievance. The business representative of the Affiliated Union or the job steward and the work site representative of the involved Contractor shall meet and endeavor to adjust the matter within 7 calendar days after timely notice has been given. If they fail to resolve the matter within the prescribed period, the grieving party, may, within 7 calendar days thereafter, pursue Step 2 of the grievance procedure by serving the involved Contractor with a written copy of the grievance setting forth a description of the claimed violation, the date on which the grievance occurred, and the provisions of the Agreement alleged to have been violated. Grievances and disputes settled at Step 1 are non-precedential except as to the specific Affiliated Union, employee and Contractor directly involved unless the settlement is accepted in writing by the Construction Manager (or designee) as creating a precedent.

(b) Should any party to this Agreement have a dispute (excepting jurisdictional disputes or alleged violations of Article VII, Section 1) with any other party to this Agreement and, if after conferring, a settlement is not reached within 7 calendar days, the dispute shall be reduced to writing and proceed to Step 2 in the same manner as outlined in subparagraph (a) for the adjustment of employee grievances.

Step 2:

The Business Manager or designee of the involved Affiliated Union, together with representatives of the involved Contractor, Council and the Construction Manager (or designee), shall meet in Step 2 within 7 calendar days of service of the written grievance to arrive at a satisfactory settlement.

Step 3:

In the event Step 2 does not result in a settlement or resolution of the grievance, the matter may be submitted for mediation to a designee of the Council and Construction Manager.

Step 4:

(a) If the grievance shall have been submitted but not resolved in Step 3, any of the participating Step 3 entities may, within 21 calendar days after the initial Step 3 meeting, submit the grievance in writing (copies to other participants, including the Construction Manager or designee) to Martin Scheinman or Richard Adelman, who shall act, alternately (beginning with Arbitrator Adelman) as the Arbitrator under this procedure. The Labor Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association shall govern the conduct of the arbitration hearing, at which all Step 2 participants shall be parties. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on the involved Contractor, Affiliated Union and employees, and the fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be borne equally by the involved Contractor and Affiliated Union.

(b) Failure of the grieving party to adhere to the time limits set forth in this Article shall render the grievance null and void. These time limits may be extended only by written consent of the Construction Manager (or designee), involved Contractor and involved Affiliated Union at the particular step where the extension is agreed upon. The Arbitrator shall have authority to make decisions only on the issues presented to him and shall not have the authority to change, add to, delete from or modify any provision of this Agreement.

(c) No arbitration decision or award may provide retroactivity of any kind exceeding 60 calendar days prior to the date of service of the written grievance on the Construction Manager and the involved Contractor or Affiliated Union.

SECTION 2 PARTICIPATION BY CONSTRUCTION MANAGER

The Construction Manager shall be notified by the involved Contractor of all actions at Steps 2 and 3. The Authority and the Construction Manager may, at their election, participate in full in all proceedings at these Steps, including Step 4 arbitration.

SECTION 3 LIMITATION ON RETROACTIVITY

No arbitration decision or award shall provide retroactivity of any kind exceeding sixty (60) calendar days prior to the notice of the grievance to the Construction Manager, and the involved Contractor or Affiliated Union, provided this limitation shall not apply to obligations to employee benefit plans for which there is a fiduciary obligation to collect all fund assets and to the extent the funds are due and payable to a Contractor.

ARTICLE X - JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES

The New York Plan for the Settlement of Jurisdictional Disputes ("New York Plan") shall apply to the settlement of all jurisdictional disputes involving all Project Work. The New York Plan shall apply to any and all Contractors, subcontractors, Affiliated Unions performing work on the Project, and any and all jurisdictional disputes that may arise on the Project. In the event that a Building Trades Union whose members are employed on the Project is not a party to the New York Plan, for the limited purpose of this Project and without implications as to any other Project, the New York Plan shall apply to the settlement of jurisdictional disputes in which it is involved.

SECTION 1 NO DISRUPTIONS

There will be no strikes, sympathy strikes, work stoppages, slowdowns, picketing or other disruptive activity of any kind arising out of any jurisdictional dispute. Pending the resolution of the dispute, the work shall continue uninterrupted and as assigned by the Contractor.

ARTICLE XI - WAGES AND BENEFITS

SECTION 1 CLASSIFICATION AND BASE HOURLY RATE

All employees covered by this Agreement shall be classified in accordance with the work performed and paid the base hourly wage rates for those classifications as specified in the Schedules "A", as amended during the term of this Agreement or as set forth in the attached Schedule "B".

SECTION 2 TRUST FUNDS

A. The Contractors agree to promptly pay contributions to the established Trust Funds in the amounts designated in the appropriate Schedule "A" agreements. Jointly-trusteed fringe benefit plans established or negotiated through collective bargaining during the life of this Agreement may be added, and the Contractors agree to promptly pay contributions to such funds.

B. The Contractors agree to be bound by the written terms of the legally-established Trust Agreements specifying the detailed basis on which payments are to be paid into, and benefits paid out of, such Trust Funds with regard to work done on this Project for those employees to whom this Agreement requires such benefit payments.

C. In consideration of the Affiliated Unions not striking over wage and Trust Fund delinquencies, the Affiliated Unions agree to give written notice to the Authority, Construction Manager, and any delinquent Contractor within ninety (90) days of knowledge of a Contractor's delinquency with respect to Project Work, and the Authority agrees to immediately withhold from outstanding monies due and unpaid to an alleged delinquent Contractor or any

tier subcontractor at the time of receipt of the notice, the amount the Affiliated Union or Trust Fund Administrator claims a Contractor owes for hours worked (or paid) by its employees on the Project. Within seven (7) days after receipt of said notification from the Trust Funds or Affiliated Union, if not already paid prior to said date by the delinquent Contractor, the Authority shall place the amount claimed to be owed into an escrow account established by the Building Trades Employers Association until the resolution of the claim. If the Authority fails to comply with this provision, the involved Affiliated Union may withhold labor until such time as this provision is complied with.

ARTICLE XII - HOURS OF WORK

SECTION 1 WORK WEEK AND WORK DAY

A. The standard workweek shall consist of 40 hours of work at straight time rates, Monday through Friday, 5 days; 8 hours per day, plus ¹/₂ hour unpaid lunch each day.

B. In accordance with Project Work needs, the Contractor, with the consent of the Construction Manager, will have discretion in setting the start of the work day at the commencement of the job. The starting times may range from 6:00 a.m. to 8:00 a.m. Where a Local Union has already agreed to staggered starting times in Schedule "A" or Schedule "B", deference shall be afforded to that Local Union.

C. Starting times per trade may only be changed pursuant to the terms of the Schedule "A" collective bargaining agreements or, in the event the collective bargaining agreement contains no applicable provision, upon no less than 10 days' notice to the affected trade.

D. To the extent that starting times are staggered between the trades, lunch periods may be staggered accordingly between trades but not per trade.

E. There shall be one ten-minute morning and one ten-minute afternoon coffee break at the work stations per trade.

SECTION 2 OVERTIME

Overtime shall be paid for hours outside the standard work week and work day described above in Section 1.A., only in accordance with the applicable Schedule "A" collective bargaining agreements or pursuant to the applicable Schedule "B" Agreement. There shall be no pyramiding of overtime.

SECTION 3 SHIFTS

Shifts, including Saturday and Sunday work, shall be within the discretion of the Contractor in order to meet Project Work schedules and existing Project Work conditions. It is not necessary to have a day shift in order to schedule a second shift, or to have a first or second shift in order to schedule a third shift. It is also not necessary to schedule all of the crafts or trades when only certain employees are needed. Shift Pay shall be in accordance with the Schedule "A" Agreements, unless adjusted in a Trade Addendum annexed as Schedule "B". Shifts must be approved in advance by the Construction Manager, and notice to the affected Affiliated Unions must not be less than five work days or such lesser notice as might be mutually agreed upon. Any shift changes must

remain in effect for not less than five consecutive work days.

SECTION 4 HOLIDAYS

There shall be nine standard holidays as follows ("Holidays"):

New Year's Day	Independence Day
Martin Luther King Jr. Day	Labor Day
Presidents Day	Thanksgiving Day
Memorial Day	Christmas Day
Veterans' Day	-

Work performed on the above referenced PLA holidays shall be paid in accordance with the holiday pay provisions of the Schedule "A" Agreements, even if the PLA holidays differ from the CBA holidays. No other holidays shall be recognized or observed under this Agreement.

SECTION 5 SATURDAY WORK

The Contractor may schedule Saturday work, and such work shall be paid for at time and one-half the base rate unless the applicable Schedule A agreement permits a straight time rate.

ARTICLE XIII – TEMPORARY SERVICES

Temporary services shall only be required upon the specific request of the Construction Manager in accordance with the applicable Schedule "B" Agreements. When requested they shall be provided by the employees represented by the appropriate Affiliated Union subject to the New York Plan.

ARTICLE XIV - SAFETY, PROTECTION OF PERSON AND PROPERTY SECTION 1 SAFETY REQUIREMENTS

Each Contractor will ensure that applicable OSHA and other safety requirements are at all times observed and maintained on the Project Work site, and the employees and Affiliated Unions agree to cooperate fully with these efforts consistent with their rights and obligations under the law. The parties will advocate for strict compliance with applicable safety standards, including but not limited to "Build Safe New York", a negotiated safety program between the BTEA and the Council and its affiliates.

SECTION 2 CONTRACTOR RULES

Employees covered by this Agreement shall at all times be bound by the reasonable safety and visitor rules as established by the Contractors and the Construction Manager for this Project Work. Such rules will be posted in conspicuous places throughout the Project Work site.

Any and all security measures, background checks or work clearance card programs must be negotiated with and approved by the Council and its Affiliated Unions.

ARTICLE XV - NO DISCRIMINATION SECTION 1 COOPERATIVE EFFORTS

The Contractors and Affiliated Unions agree that they will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, marital status, age or any other status protected by applicable law, in any manner prohibited by applicable law or regulations.

SECTION 2 LANGUAGE OF AGREEMENT

The use of the masculine or feminine gender in this Agreement shall be construed as including both genders.

ARTICLE XVI - SAVINGS AND SEPARABILITY SECTION 1 THIS AGREEMENT

In the event that the application of any provision of this Agreement is enjoined, on either an interlocutory or permanent basis, or is otherwise determined to be in violation of law, the provision involved (and/or its application to a particular part of the Project, as necessary) shall be rendered, temporarily or permanently, null and void, but where practicable the remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect to the extent allowed by law. In the event that a court of competent jurisdiction finds any portion of the Agreement to be invalid, the parties will immediately enter into negotiations concerning the substance affected by such decision for the purpose of achieving conformity with the court determination and the intent of the parties hereto for contracts to be let in the future.

SECTION 2 NON-LIABILITY

In the event of an occurrence referenced in Section 1 of this Article, neither the Authority, the Construction Manager, general contractors, any subcontractor, the Council nor any signatory Affiliated Union shall be liable, directly or indirectly, for any action taken, or not taken, to comply with any court order or injunction or other court determination.

SECTION 3 NON-WAIVER

A. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to be or shall be construed as a waiver by any Affiliated Union(s) of any prevailing wage determination or schedule that is applicable to their trade for any public work that has been or may be performed in the future on any work outside the scope of this Agreement.

B. Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to be or shall be construed as a waiver by any signatory Affiliated Union(s) of any more favorable term or condition of employment that may be contained in any collective bargaining agreement applicable to work outside the scope of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XVII - DURATION

SECTION 1 DURATION

This PLA shall apply to Project Work in the event the Project mobilizes prior to _____00, 2022 and shall thereafter remain in effect for the duration of the covered work performed on the Project.

SECTION 2 EXTENSION OF AREA CONTRACTS

A. If there are any changes in the rate or other terms and conditions of employment that are negotiated in any area collective bargaining agreement after the start of the construction Project, such change shall be applicable to work on this Project effective the date such change becomes effective in the area collective bargaining agreement.

B. There shall be no strikes or lockouts on this Project by reason of

disputes during negotiations for area collective bargaining agreements.

ARTICLE XVIII - HELMETS TO HARDHATS

SECTION 1

The Contractors and the Unions recognize a desire to facilitate the entry into the building and construction trades of veterans who are interested in careers in the building and construction industry. The Contractors and Unions agree to utilize the services of the NY "Helmets to Hardhats" program to serve as a resource for preliminary orientation, assessment of construction aptitude, referral to apprenticeship programs or hiring halls, counseling and mentoring, support network, employment opportunities and other needs as identified by the parties.

SECTION 2

The Affiliated Unions and Contractors agree to coordinate with the NY Helmets to Hardhats to create and maintain an integrated database of veterans interested in working on this Project and of apprenticeship and employment opportunities for this Project. To the extent permitted by law, the Unions will give credit to such veterans for bona fide, provable past experience.

FOR BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL OF GREATER NEW YORK AND VICINITY

BY:

Date:_____

Gary La Barbera, Executive Assistant

FOR BATTERY PARK CITY AUTHORITY

BY: _____

AFFILIATES: See attached addendum for signatory affiliates

AFFILIATES:

Boiler Makers Local No. 5

By:_____

Date:_____

Cement and Concrete Workers No. 6-A

By:_____ Date:

Cement and Concrete Workers No. 20

By:_____

Date:_____

Concrete Workers District Council No. 16

By:_____ Date:

Drywall Tapers 1974

By:_____ Date:

Elevator Constructors No. 1

By:_____ Date:_____

Engineers No. 15, 15A, 15B

By:_____ Date:_____

Glaziers Local Union No. 1281

By:			
Date:			

By:_____ Date:

Cement and Concrete Workers No. 18-A

By:_____ Date:

Cement Masons No. 780

By:_____ Date:

Derrickmen and Riggers Local Union No. 197

By:_____ Date:

Electrical Local No. 3

By:_____ Date:

Engineers Local Union No. 14

By:_____ Date:_____

Engineers No. 94

By:_____ Date:_____

Heat & Frost Insulators Local Union No. 12

By:_____ Date:_____

Heat & Frost Insulators

Iron Workers District

BPCA Resiliency Project PLA

Local Union No. 12A

By:_____ Date:

Iron Workers No. 40

By:_____
Date:_____

Laborers Construction and General Building No. 79

By:_____ Date:_____

Lathers Metallic Local No. 46

By:_____
Date: _____

Metal Trades Division

By: _____

Date: _____

Painters District Council # 9

By:_____ Date:

Pavers & Road Builders District Council No. 1

By:_____ Date:_____

Plumbers No. 1

By:_____ Date:_____

Roofers & Waterproofers

Council

By:_____ Date:

Iron Workers No. 361

By:_____ Date:_____

Laborers Local No. 78 Asbestos & Lead Abatement

By:_____ Date:_____

Mason Tenders District Council

By:_____ Date:_____

Ornamental Iron Workers No. 580

By:_____

Date:_____

Painters Structural Steel No. 806

By:_____ Date:

Plasters Local Union No. 262

By:_____ Date:_____

Private Sanitation Local No. 813

By:_____ Date:_____

Sheet Metal Workers Local

BPCA Resiliency Project PLA

No. 8	No. 137
By:	By:
Date:	Date:
Sheet Metal Workers Local No. 28	Steamfitters Local Union No. 638
By:	By:
Date:	Date:
Teamsters Local Union 282	Teamsters Local Union 813
By:	By:
Date:	Date:
Teamsters Local Union 814	Tile, Marble & Terrazzo B.A.C. Local Union No. 7
By:	By:
Date:	Date:
Window Cleaners No. 2 S.E.I.U. 32B-32J	Timbermen Local Union No. 1536
By:	By:
Date:	Date:

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule B shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Construction Manager, general contractors, and/or any of their subcontractors for this project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble herein above and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

FOR BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL OF GREATER NEW YORK AND VICINITY

By: ____

Date:_____

Gary La Barbera, President

FOR BATTETRY PARK CITY AUTHORITY

By:

Date:_____

Name (Managing Member)

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general any of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

CARPENTERS DISTRICT COUNCIL:

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between ________and the New York City Building and Construction Trades

Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to the Carpenters District Council's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

*The New York City District Council of Carpenters shall have the right to accept or reject the Project Labor Agreement Rates on a case by case basis while agreeing to the terms and conditions of "The Core Economic Recovery Project Labor Agreement".

CARPENTERS DISTRICT COUNCIL

By: ______

BPCA Resiliency Project PLA

Name and Title: _____

Dated:

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, general contractors, and/or any of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

CEMENT MASONS LOCAL 780 ("Local 780"):

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between ______ and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Local 780's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

CEMENT MASONS LOCAL 780

By: _____

Name and Title: _____

Dated:

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general anv of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

CEMENT & CONCRETE WORKERS DISTRICT COUNCIL as follows:

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between _______ and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to the Cement & Concrete Workers' work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

CEMENT & CONCRETE WORKERS DISTRICT COUNCIL

By: _____

Name and Title: _____

CORE PLA SCHEDULE "B"

TRADE SPECIFIC ADDENDA – Term Sheet

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project. and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors, and/or general any of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

STONE DERRICKMEN & RIGGERS ("Local 197"):

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between

______ and the New York City Building and Construction Trades

Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Derrickmen Local 197's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

DERRICKMEN LOCAL 197

|--|

Name and Title:	
-----------------	--

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general any of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

IBEW LOCAL 3 ("Local 3"):

Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Local 3's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

IBEW LOCAL 3

B	7:				

Name and Title: _____

Dated:_____

CORE PLA SCHEDULE "B"

TRADE SPECIFIC ADDENDA – Term Sheet

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project. and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors, and/or general any of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

ELEVATOR CONSTRUCTORS ("Local 1"):

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between ______ and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Elevator Local 1's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

ELEVATOR CONSTRUCTORS LOCAL 1

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general anv of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

GLAZIERS, ARCHITECTURAL METAL GLASSWORKERS & ALLIED TRADES

LOCAL UNION 1281 ("Local 1281"):

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between _______and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Local 1281's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

GLAZIERS ARCHITECTURAL METAL GLASS WORKERS & ALLIED TRADES LOCAL UNION 1281

By: _____

Name and Title: _____

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general anv of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

HEAT AND FROST INSULATORS LOCAL 12 ("Local 12"):

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between _____

and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New

York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Local 12's work

on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

HEAT & FROST INSULATORS LOCAL 12

By: _____

Name and Title: _____

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general anv of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

IRON WORKERS LOCAL UNIONS 40 ("Locals 40 "):

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between

_______ and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Local 40's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

IRON WORKERS LOCAL UNION 40

By: _____

Name and Title: _____

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general any of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

LOCAL 580 OF THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF BRIDGE, STRUCTURAL, ORNAMENTAL AND REINFORCING IRON WORKERS ("LOCAL 580"):

1. The Project Labor Agreement ("PLA") between ______

and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Local 580's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

LOCAL 580 OF THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF BRIDGE, STRUCTURAL, ORNAMENTAL AND REINFORCING IRON WORKERS

By: _____

Name and Title: _____

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general anv of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

LOCAL 46 METALLIC LATHERS UNION AND REINFORCING IRONWORKERS

("Local 46") as follows:

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between ______ and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Local 46's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

LOCAL 46 METALLIC LATHERS UNION AND REINFORCING IRON WORKERS

By: _____

Name and Title: _____

BPCA Resiliency Project PLA

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general any of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO. 1 ("Local 1"):

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between _____

and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New

York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to the Local 1's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

PLUMBERS UNION LOCAL 1

Bv:			
Dy:			

Name and Title: _____

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general anv of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

SHEET METAL LOCAL 28 ("Local 28"):

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between ______ and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Local 28's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

SHEET METAL LOCAL 28

By:		

Name and Title: _____

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general any of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

ENTERPRISE ASSOCIATION, STEAMFITTERS LOCAL 638 ("Local 638") as follows:

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between _____

and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council ("Council") on this project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

ENTERPRISE ASSOCIATION, STEAMFITTERS LOCAL 638

By: _____

Name and Title: _____

SCHEDULE "B"

The parties to this Project Labor Agreement agree that this Schedule "B" shall apply to this Project, and shall modify relevant provisions of the PLA and relevant provisions in the current collective bargaining agreements between the Affiliated Unions and the Authority, Construction Manager, contractors. and/or general anv of their subcontractors for this Project only due the special considerations set forth in the Preamble to the PLA and shall not constitute a reopener or waiver of the terms and conditions set forth in the collective bargaining agreements for any other purpose.

LOCAL 7 TILE MARBLE AND TERRAZZO ("Local 7"):

1. The Project Labor Agreement (the "PLA") between _______ and the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council of Greater New York and Vicinity ("Council") is modified and supplemented as to Local 7's work on this Project to facilitate the building of the Project in this time of economic distress.

LOCAL 7 TILE MARBLE AND TERRAZZO

By: _____

Name and Title: _____

SCHEDULE "C"

Project Labor Agreement - - Letter of Assent

Dear _____ Construction Manager

The undersigned party confirms that it agrees to be a party to and be bound by the South Battery Park City Resiliency Project Project Labor Agreement as such Agreement may, from time to time, be amended by the parties or interpreted pursuant to its terms. The terms of the Project Labor Agreement, its Schedules, Addenda and Exhibits are hereby incorporated by reference herein.

The undersigned, as a Contractor or Subcontractor (hereinafter Contractor) on the Project known as the South Battery Park City Resiliency Project and located at Battery Park, New York City, New York (hereinafter PROJECT), for and in consideration of the award to it of a contract to perform work on said PROJECT, and in further consideration of the mutual promises made in the Project Labor Agreement, a copy of which was received and is acknowledged, hereby:

- (1) Accepts and agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Agreement, together with any and all schedules; amendments and supplements now existing or which are later made thereto:
- (2) Agrees to be bound by the legally established collective bargaining agreements and local trust agreements as set forth in the Project Labor Agreement and this Agreement.
- (3) Authorizes the parties to such local trust agreements to appoint trustees and successor trustees to administer the trust funds and hereby ratifies and accepts the trustees so appointed as if made by the Contractor;
- (4) Certifies that it has no commitments or agreements that would preclude its full and complete compliance with the terms and conditions of said Agreement. The Contractor agrees to employ labor that can work in harmony with all other labor on the Project and shall require labor harmony from every lower tier subcontractor it engaged to work on the Project. Labor harmony disputes/issues shall be subject to the Labor Management Committee's Pre-Job conference provisions.
- (5) Agrees to secure from any Contractor(s) (as defined in said Agreement) which is or becomes a Subcontractor (of any tier), to it, a duly executed Agreement to be Bound in from identical to this document.
- (6) Agrees that it will not invoke the Most Favored Nations Clause that may be contained in any of its Collective Bargaining Agreements with affiliated unions as a result of the application of this Economic Recovery PLA to a project.

Dated: _____

(Name of Contractor or subcontractor)

(Name of CM; GC; Contractor or Higher Level Subcontractor) (Authorized Officer & Title)

(Address)

(Phone) (Fax)

Contractor's State License #_____

Sworn to before me this _____ day of _____, 2009

Notary Public

SCHEDULE "D"

NEW YORK CITY BUIDLING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

STANDARDS OF EXCELLENCE

The purpose of this Standard of Excellence is to reinforce the pride of every construction worker and the commitment to be the most skilled, most productive and safest workforce available to construction employers and users in the City of New York. It is the commitment of every affiliated local union to use our training and skills to produce the highest quality work and to exercise safe and productive work practices.

The rank and file members represented by the affiliated local unions acknowledge and adopt the following standards:

- Provide a full days work for a full days pay;
- Safely work towards the timely completion of the job;
- > Arrive to work on time and work until the contractual quitting time;
- > Adhere to contractual lunch and break times;
- Promote a drug and alcohol free work site;
- > Work in accordance with all applicable safety rules and procedures;
- Allow union representatives to handle job site disputes and grievances without resort to slowdowns, or unlawful job disruptions;
- > Respect management directives that are safe, reasonable and legitimate;
- Respect the rights of co-workers;
- Respect the property rights of the owner, management and contractors.

The Unions affiliated with the New York City Building and Construction Trades Council will expect the signatory contractors to safely and efficiently manage their jobs and the unions see this as a corresponding obligation of the contractors under this Standard of Excellence. The affiliated unions will expect the following from its signatory contractors:

- Management adherence to the collective bargaining agreements;
- > Communication and cooperation with the trade foremen and stewards;
- > Efficient, safe and sanitary management of the job site;
- > Efficient job scheduling to mitigate and minimize unproductive time;
- > Efficient and adequate staffing by properly trained employees by trade;
- Efficient delivery schedules and availability of equipment and tools to ensure efficient job progress;
- Ensure proper blueprints, specifications and layout instructions and material are available in a timely manner
- > Promote job site dispute resolution and leadership skills to mitigate such disputes;
- Treatment of all employees in a respectful and dignified manner acknowledging their contributions to a successful project.

The affiliated unions and their signatory contractors shall ensure that both the rank and file members and the management staff shall be properly trained in the obligations undertaken in the Standard of Excellence.